

Advances in Respiratory Medicine

Formerly Pneumonologia i Alergologia Polska Edited since 1926

ORIGINAL PAPERS

• Fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio predicts mortality in COVID-19 patients admitted to the intensive care unit

BRIEF COMMUNICATION

• Organizing pneumonia-like pattern in COVID-19

GUIDELINES

• Nebulisation therapy in patients with cystic fibrosis — consensus of the Polish Cystic Fibrosis Society

CASE REPORTS

- · Rasmussen's aneurysm: a rare and potentially fatal cause of hemoptysis
- Clinical improvement in Job syndrome following administration of co-trimoxazole, omalizumab and inhaled tobramycin
- Early experience of Nintedanib in COVID-19 ARDS related pulmonary fibrosis: a case series
- · Sarcoidosis in coexistence with chronic granulomatous disease

CLINICAL VIGNETTES

- Hiding in plain sight relapsing polychondritis disguised as uncontrolled asthma
- · A challenging case of tuberculous peritonitis
- Massive pleural effusion: an uncommon but important cause to consider
- COPD patient with a classical radiological sign
- A rare cause of ST segment elevation: avoiding critical errors in an emergency
- A rare case of tuberculous pyopneumothorax

The Journal is indexed in the following databases: Index Medicus/Medline, EMBASE, EBSCO, Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), Scopus, Index Copernicus 121,38 (2019), MNISW 2019 (40 points)





Od ponad 25 lat aktywnie uczestniczymy w rozwoju nauki i edukacji medycznej



wydajemy ponad 1200 publikacji oraz broszur



wydajemy ponad 40 czasopism



organizujemy ponad 180 konferencji rocznie



udostępniamy ponad 8000 godzin filmów edukacyjnych



prowadzimy ponad 40 serwisów internetowych

Zapraszamy do zapoznania się z różnorodną ofertą produktów proponowanych przez Via Medica już teraz!

www.viamedica.pl





Advances in Respiratory Medicine

Formerly Pneumonologia i Alergologia Polska

www.journals.viamedica.pl

www.ptchp.org

This issue was prepared entirely by prof. Wojciech Piotrowski and his team. By the decision of the Main Board of the Polish Respiratory Society, prof. Adam Barczyk is the Editor-in-Chief as of 1 October.

Editor-in-Chief:

Wojciech J. Piotrowski — Łódź wojciech.piotrowski@pneumonologia.viamedica.pl

Vice Editor-In-Chief:

Claudio Pedone — Rome claudio.pedone@gmail.com

Contributing Editors:

Katarzyna Górska — Warsaw drkgorska@gmail.com Maciej Kupczyk — Łódź maciej.kupczyk@umed.lodz.pl Sebastian Majewski — Łódź sebastian.majewski@pneumonologia.viamedica.pl Sonu Sahni — New York sahni.sonu@gmail.com

Statistical Editor:

Agnieszka Skoczylas — Warsaw Michał Poznański — Łódź Łukasz Mokros — Łódź

Managing Editor: Anna Torhan

Editorial Advisory Board:

Nicolino Ambrosino — Pavia, Italy Adam Antczak — Łódź, Poland Ewa Augustynowicz-Kopeć — Warsaw, Poland Halina Batura-Gabryel — Poznań, Poland Andrey Belevskiy — Moscow, Russia Wojciech Biernacki — London, Great Britain Anna Bręborowicz — Poznań, Poland Otto Burghuber — Vienna, Austria Ryszarda Chazan — Warsaw, Poland Ivane Chkhaidze — Tbilisi, Georgia Joanna Chorostowska-Wynimko — Warsaw, Poland Elżbieta Chyczewska — Białystok, Poland Enrico Maria Clini — Modena, Italy Brendan Cooper — Birmingham, Great Britain Sven-Erik Dahlén — Solna, Sweden Wilfried De Backer — Antwerp, Belgium

Anna Doboszyńska — Olsztyn, Poland Antonio M. Esquinas — Murcia, Spain Dorota Górecka — Warsaw, Poland Paweł Górski — Łódź, Poland Sylwia Hartl — Vienna, Austria Raffaele Antonelli Incalzi — Rome. Italv Renata Jankowska — Wrocław, Poland Sabina Janciauskiene — Hannover, Germany Christer Janson - Uppsala, Sweden Ewa Jassem — Gdańsk, Poland Kozui Kida — Tokyo, Japan Jerzy Kozielski — Zabrze, Poland Piotr Kuna — Łódź, Poland Jan Kuś — Warsaw, Poland . Henryk Mazurek — Rabka, Poland Florin Mihaltan — Bucharest, Romania Janusz Milanowski — Lublin, Poland Tadeusz Orłowski — Warsaw, Poland Bernard Panaszek — Wrocław, Poland Władysław Pierzchała — Katowice, Poland Tadeusz Płusa — Warsaw, Poland Venerino Poletti — Forli, İtaly Michał Poznański — Lodz, Poland Stephen Rennard — Omaha, United States Kazimierz Roszkowski — Warsaw, Poland Monika Szturmowicz — Warsaw, Poland Paweł Śliwiński — Warsaw, Poland Branislava Savic — Belgrade, Serbia Nikos Siafakas — Heraclion, Greece Dragan Subotic — Belgrad, Serbia Adam Torbicki — Otwock, Poland Michał Unger — Philadelphia, United States Arunas Valiulis — Vilnius, Lithuania Martina Vašáková — Praque, Czech Republic Jadwiga Wędzicha — London, Great Britain Elżbieta Wiatr — Warsaw, Poland Dariusz Ziora — Zabrze, Poland Zofia Zwolska — Warsaw, Poland Past Editors-in-Chief (most recent first)

Monika Szturmowicz — Warsaw Dorota Górecka — Warsaw Elżbieta Wiatr — Warsaw Tadeusz Płusa — Warsaw

Opinions presented in the articles not necessarily represent the opinions of the Editors

Advances in Respiratory Medicine (ISSN 2451–4934) is published by VM Media sp. z o.o. VM Group sp.k., ul. Świętokrzyska 73, 80–180 Gdańsk, phone: +48 58 320 94 94, fax +48 58 320 94 60, e-mail: redakcja@viamedica.pl http://www.viamedica.pl

Editorial Address: Biuro ZG PTChP, ul. Wronia 45, lok. 132, Warszawa, Poland

Advertising: For details on media opportunities within this journal please contact the advertising sales department, ul. Świętokrzyska 73, 80–180 Gdańsk, Poland, phone: +48 58 320 94 94; e-mail: dsk@viamedica.pl

The Editors accept no responsibility for the advertisement contents.

All rights reserved, including translation into foreign languages. No part of this periodical, either text or illustration, may be used in any form whatsoever. It is particularly forbidden for any part of this material to be copied or translated into a mechanical or electronic language and also to be recorded in whatever form, stored in any kind of retrieval system or transmitted, whether in an electronic or mechanical form or with the aid of photocopying, microfilm, recording, scanning or in any other form, without the prior written permission of the publisher. The rights of the publisher are protected by national copyright laws and by international conventions, and their violation will be punishable by penal sanctions.

Editorial policy and information for authors available on https://journals.viamedica.pl/public/journals/30/0B_ARM_2017_1_zasady1.pdf. Polish Ministry of Education and Science score: 40 pts.





MULTIMEDIALNA PLATFORMA WIEDZY MEDYCZNEJ



- Ponad 5000 wyemitowanych nagrań
- Ponad 300 transmitowanych konferencji
- Ponad 2000 współpracujących z nami specjalistów
- Ponad 1600 godzin materiałów wideo

Dostęp do najlepszej wiedzy medycznej w ramach jednej prostej opłaty. Warto skorzystać już dziś!

www.tvmed.pl



Formerly Pneumonologia i Alergologia Polska

www.journals.viamedica.pl

www.ptchp.org

Contents

ORIGINAL PAPERS
Fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio predicts mortality in COVID-19 patients admitted to the intensive care unit
Abdulmecit Afşin, Hakan Tibilli, Yusuf Hoşoğlu, Ramazan Asoğlu, Ahmet Süsenbük, Sezer Markit, Verda Dinar Tuna557
BRIEF COMMUNICATIONS
Organizing pneumonia-like pattern in COVID-19
Masoomeh Raoufi, Shahram Kahkooei, Sara Haseli, Farzaneh Robatjazi, Jamileh Bahri, Nastaran Khalili
GUIDELINES
Nebulisation therapy in patients with cystic fibrosis — consensus of the Polish Cystic Fibrosis Society
Katarzyna Walicka-Serzysko, Teresa Orlik, Dorota Sands, Natalia Jeneralska, Anna Popiel, Wojciech Skorupa, Andrzej Pogorzelski, Szczepan Cofta
CASE REPORTS
Rasmussen's aneurysm: a rare and potentially fatal cause of hemoptysis
Johnny F Jaber, Ayoub Innabi , Divya C Patel
Clinical improvement in Job syndrome following administration of co-trimoxazole, omalizumab and inhaled tobramycin
Ourania Papaioannou, Theodoros Karampitsakos, Matthaios Katsaras, Fotios Sampsonas, Argyrios Tzouvelekis585
Early experience of nintedanib in COVID-19 ARDS related pulmonary fibrosis: a case series
Vikas Marwah, Robin Choudhary, Virender Malik, Arpita Pemmaraju, Deepu Peter
Sarcoidosis in coexistence with chronic granulomatous disease
Anna Śniady, Piotr Boros, Barbara Burakowska, Magdalena Martusewicz-Boros
CLINICAL VIGNETTES
Hiding in plain sight — relapsing polychondritis disguised as uncontrolled asthma
Nico De Crem, Sofie Happaerts, Lieven J Dupont600
A challenging case of tuberculous peritonitis
Petru Emil Muntean, Andrada Mateutiu602
Massive pleural effusion: an uncommon but important cause to consider
Avneet Garg, Khushdeep Singla, Mansimranjit Kaur, Vinita Jindal, Manjot Kaur

COPD patient with a classical radiological sign
Avneet Garg, Manjot Kaur, Vinita Jindal
A rare cause of ST segment elevation: avoiding critical errors in an emergency
Avneet Garg, Rakendra Singh, Mansimranjit Kaur, Vinita Jindal
A rare case of tuberculous pyopneumothorax
Petru Emil Muntean, Ioana Pascu610
LETTERS
COVID-19 — deliberating beyond steroids in 2021
Arul J Mahendran, Neeraj Kumar Gupta, Nitesh Gupta, Rohit Kumar, Pranav Ish612
ROX index in COVID-19 patients — is it the answer?
Sangam Yadav, Abhishek Singh, Puneet khanna615
ROX index in COVID-19 patients — is it the answer?
Vikas Marwah, Robin Choudhary, Tentu Ajai Kumar, Deepu Peter
Interventional closure of an unusual broncho-pleural fistula with superglue
Vikas Marwah, Robin Choudhary, Tentu Ajai Kumar, Deepu Peter, Akhil K Ravi
Early corticosteroid initiation delays viral RNA clearance in respiratory secretions of COVID-19 patients
Ioannis Pantazopoulos, Georgios Mavrovounis, Athanasios Kyritsis, Garifallia Perlepe, Angeliki Miziou, Konstantinos Gourgoulianis

Abdulmecit Afşin¹, Hakan Tibilli², Yusuf Hoşoğlu¹, Ramazan Asoğlu¹, Ahmet Süsenbük², Sezer Markit², Verda Dinar Tuna³

¹Department of Cardiology, Adiyaman Training and Research Hospital, Adiyaman, Turkey ²Department of Cardiology, Adiyaman University Faculty of Medicine, Adiyaman, Turkey ³Department of Intensive Care Unit, Adiyaman Training and Research Hospital, Adiyaman, Turkey

Fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio predicts mortality in COVID-19 patients admitted to the intensive care unit

Abstract

Introduction: Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an inflammatory disease, and serum albumin and fibrinogen are two important factors in systemic inflammation. We aimed to investigate the relationship between the fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio (FAR) and in-hospital mortality in COVID-19 patients admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU).

Material and methods: Patients diagnosed with COVID-19 admitted to the Adiyaman Training and Research Hospital from August to November 2020 were enrolled in this retrospective cohort study. They were divided into 2 groups based on in-hospital mortality: a survivor group (n = 188) and a non-survivor group (n = 198). FAR was calculated by dividing the fibrinogen value by the albumin value. Mortality outcomes were followed up until December 15, 2020.

Results: The average age of the patients was 71.2 \pm 12.9 years, and 54% were male. On multivariate logistic analysis, diabetes mellitus (OR: 1.806; 95% CI: 1.142–2.856; p = 0.011), troponin I levels (OR: 1.776; 95% CI: 1.031–3.061; p = 0.038), and FAR (OR: 1.004; 95% CI: 1.004–1.007; p = 0.010) at ICU admission were independent predictors of in-hospital mortality in patients with COVID-19.

Conclusions: The FAR at admission was associated with mortality in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in the ICU.

Key words: coronavirus disease 2019, intensive care unit, fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio, mortality

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 557-564

Introduction

Severe respiratory distress syndrome caused by coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) has affected the whole world in terms of health, social, educational, and economic aspects. The main cause of morbidity and mortality in patients with COVID-19 is viral pneumonia leading to acute respiratory distress syndrome [1]. In COVID-19 patients, D-dimer, troponin, procalcitonin, ferritin, and fibrinogen levels progressively increase in parallel with disease severity, while lymphocyte counts and albumin levels gradually decrease. A thromboembolic state, thrombo-inflammation, and coagulopathy have been suggested to play pivotal roles in the severity of clinical deterioriation in COVID-19 patients [2]. Fibrinogen is a positive acute phase reactant secreted from the liver, and it plays an active role in both the coagulation cascade and inflammation. Its synthesis increases in both acute and chronic inflammation as well as cardiovascular diseases and malignancy. Fibrinogen stimulates the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukins-1 β , IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha [3]. In clot formation, fibrinogen is converted to fibrin by the enzyme thrombin; it also increases blood viscosity and stimulates thrombocyte aggregation.

Albumin, a major plasma protein, is a negative acute phase reactant, and its plasma level decreases in inflammatory diseases. Low albumin levels in hospitalized patients at the time of admission are associated with increased short- and

Address for correspondence: Abdulmecit Afşin, Yunus Emre Mahallesi, Adıyaman Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Kardiyoloji Bölümü, Adıyaman 02000-Türkiye, e-mail: abdulmecitafsin@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0098 | Received: 30.03.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

long-term mortality rates [4]. Previous studies have shown significant associations of hypoalbuminemia with increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality [5, 6].

Recent studies have also shown that the fibringen-to-albumin ratio (FAR) is associated with poor clinical outcomes in patients with cardiovascular diseases characterized by inflammation and thrombosis, and in those with malignancies [7, 8]. In addition, the FAR is an independent risk factor predicting disease severity in COVID-19 [9]. A meta-analysis investigating the mortality of patients with COVID-19 admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU) has been published. It included 52 studies published up to 30 September 2020; mortality rates varied from 10.6% to 61.9% depending on the geographical region [10]. It is important to predict the mortality of patients with COVID-19 requiring ICU treatment. Therefore, this study investigated the potential association between the FAR and in-hospital mortality in patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia requiring intensive care.

Material and methods

Study population

We retrospectively analyzed the data of patients with COVID-19 treated in the Adiyaman University Education and Research Hospital ICU between 1 August and 30 November, 2020. Patients attending the hospital who presented with cough, dyspnea, myalgia, malaise, weight loss, sore throat, headache, fever, loss of appetite, diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, rhinitis, and/or loss of smell received the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) test for SARS-CoV-2 using nasopharyngeal swab specimens. Those with positive PCR results and with severe SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia were included in the study. Patients with a negative PCR result, lack of appropriate laboratory test parameters, terminal malignancy, or who were < 18 years of age were excluded.

The diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia was made according to the World Health Organization interim guidelines. Patients with COVID-19 who had dyspnea, respiratory rate > 30/min, tachycardia > 100/min, blood oxygen saturation level < 90% despite 5 L/min oxygen treatment, ratio of the partial pressure of arterial oxygen to the fraction of inspired oxygen of < 300 mm Hg, infiltrates in > 50% of the lung fields on X-rays, need for mechanical ventilation, development of acute organ dysfunction, sepsis, septic shock, immunosuppression, acute bleeding diathesis, arrhythmia, or increased troponin level were admitted to the ICU [11, 12].

Demographic characteristics, laboratory parameters, comorbidities (cardiovascular diseases, cerebrovascular diseases, hypertension, diabetes mellitus [DM], chronic obstructive lung disease, chronic kidney disease, or prior malignancy), epidemiologic features, and treatment protocols of patients were collected from the electronic medical records of our hospital. The endpoints of the study were discharge from the ICU and/or in-hospital mortality. Patients were divided into two groups according to in-hospital mortality: survivors and non-survivors. The patients discharged from the hospital were followed-up with until 15 December 2020 to determine mortality.

Collection of blood samples and biochemical analysis

Blood samples were collected for hematological and biochemical testing within 24 h after admission to the ICU. Complete white blood cell counts, including neutrophil and lymphocyte counts, were measured using an automated hematologic analyzer (CELL-DYN Ruby, Abbott Diagnostics, Abbott Park, IL, USA) and are expressed as \times 1,000 cells/mm³. The hemoglobin level and platelet count were also measured. Glucose, creatinine, aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, lactate dehydrogenase, albumin, sodium, potassium, calcium, ferritin, and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels were analyzed by the Architect c8000 Chemistry System (Abbott Diagnostics) using commercial kits (Abbott Diagnostics).

Troponin I and D-dimer levels were analyzed using an immunoassay analyzer (Radiometer AQT90 FLEX, Radiometer Medical ApS, Brønshøj, Denmark). The activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), prothrombin time, international standardized ratio, and plasma fibrinogen concentration were measured using an automatic coagulation analyzer (STA Compact, Diagnostica Stago, Parsippany, NJ, USA). FAR was calculated using the SPSS statistical program by dividing the fibrinogen concentration by the albumin concentration. Myocardial injury was diagnosed if the serum concentration of troponin I was > 99th percentile of the upper reference limit (> 0.023 ng/mL), as measured by our hospital laboratory.

The study procedures complied with the Declaration of Helsinki. The Ministry of Health and Adiyaman University Ethics Committee on Human Research approved the study protocol.

	Survivors (n = 188)	Non-survivors (n = 198)	P-value	
Male, n (%)	94 (50)	115 (58)	0.111°	
Age [years]	70.7 ± 13.8	71.7 ± 13.8	0.439 ^b	
Smoking, n (%)	72 (38)	85 (42)	0.355°	
Heart failure, n (%)	21 (11)	30 (15)	0.240ª	
Hypertension, n (%)	101 (53)	122 (62)	0.117ª	
Coronary artery disease, n (%)	84 (44)	85 (43)	0.546°	
Cerebrovascular disease, n (%)	20 (11)	19 (8)	0.388ª	
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	58 (31)	75 (46)	0.003ª	
Chronic lung disease, n (%)*	61 (32)	59 (30)	0.574°	
Malignancy, n (%)	12 (6)	10 (5)	0.572°	
Chronic kidney disease, n (%)	14 (7)	31 (16)	0.012ª	
Length of intensive care unit stay [days]	4 (2.3–7.7)	8 (3–14)	< 0.001°	

	Table 1.	Demographic	features and	comorbidities	of the study	pop	ulation (n=386)
--	----------	-------------	--------------	---------------	--------------	-----	-----------	-------	---

*Depending on the Expected count, Pearson Chi-Square or Fisher Exact test was used. Descriptive statistics were presented as a number (%).

 $^{\text{b}}$ Student's unpaired t-test was used. Descriptive statistics were presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

^cMann–Whitney U test was used. Descriptive statistics were presented as median [IQR].

IQR — Interquartile range.

*Chronic lung disease was defined as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma, or chronic bronchitis

Statistical analysis

Data were examined using SPSS software 17.0 for Windows (Armonk, NY, USA). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine the presence of a normal distribution of continuous variables. Variables with a normal distribution are expressed as means \pm standard deviation, whereas those with a non-normal distribution are expressed as medians with interquartile ranges. Categorical variables are expressed as percentages. Group differences were assessed using the Student's unpaired *t*-test or the Mann–Whitnev U test. Differences in categorical variables were assessed using the Pearson chi-square and Fisher exact tests, depending on the sample size. Pearson's and Spearman's tests were used for correlation analyses. Forward variable selection was applied to the binary logistic regression analysis to eliminate statistically non-significant predictors. The Hosmer-Lemeshow test was used to evaluate model fit. The odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated for each independent variable. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

The data of 838 COVID-19 patients treated in the ICU were analyzed retrospectively. Those with a negative PCR test (n = 320), a lack of appropriate laboratory parameters (n = 122), or terminal malignancy (n = 10) were excluded from the study. After exclusion, 386 patients (209 [54%] males, aged 71.2 \pm 12.9 years) were included in this retrospective cohort study. The in-hospital mortality rate was 51.3%.

The demographic characteristics and comorbid conditions are shown in Table 1. The study groups included surviving (n = 188) and non-surviving (n = 198) COVID-19 patients. There were no significant differences between the groups in terms of age or sex. The rate of DM (p = 0.003), chronic kidney disease (p = 0.012), and duration of hospital stay (p < 0.001) were higher in the non-survivor group compared with the survivors.

The laboratory parameters and treatments are shown in Table 2 according to the study groups. White blood cell and neutrophil counts were higher, while the lymphocyte count was lower in the non-survivor group when compared with the survivors; however, these differences were not statistically significant. The FAR, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, prothrombin time, international standardized ratio, levels of CRP, glucose, creatine, urea, aspartate aminotransferase, lactate dehydrogenase, fibrinogen, procalcitonin, ferritin, D-dimer, and troponin I were higher in the non-surviving group when compared with surviving COVID-19 patients (all, p < 0.05). In contrast, the platelet count (p = 0.047) and albumin level (p = 0.004) were higher in the survivor

Table 2.	Laboratory findings and trea	itments of patients with	SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia	on admission to the	intensive care
	unit (n = 386)				

	Survivors (n = 188)	Non-survivors (n = 198)	P-value
Haemoglobin, [g/dL]	12.1 ± 2.1	12.1 ± 2.3	0.569 ^b
Platelet count (× $10_{3}/\mu$ L)	233 (172–303)	207 (158–273)	0.047°
White blood cell count (\times 10 ₃ / μ L)	9.5 (6.3–14)	10 (7.1–14)	0.089°
Neutrophil count (× 10 $_3/\mu$ L)	7.5 (4.7–11.6)	8.3 (5.6–11.7)	0.072°
Lymphocyte count (\times 10 ₃ / μ L)	1.0 (0.6–1.4)	0.9 (0.7–1.4)	0.725°
NLR	7.1 (4.5–12)	8.6 (6.1–12.4)	0.014 ^c
Glucose [mg/dL]	141 (106–195)	166 (117–234)	0.009°
Serum creatinine [mg/dL]	0.8 (1.1–0.7)	1.1 (0.8–1.8)	< 0.001°
Urea [mg/dL]	46 (36–70)	63 (43–106)	< 0.001°
Alanine aminotransferase [U/L]	24 (16–37)	24 (17–42)	0.498°
Aspartate aminotransferase [U/L]	35 (23–54)	43 (27–65)	0.005°
Lactate dehydrogenase [U/L]	408 (324–483)	532 (418–678)	< 0.001°
Albumin [g/dL]	2.8 ± 0.5	2.6 ± 0.5	0.004 ^b
Fibrinogen [g/L]	543.3 ± 164.8	595.6 ± 164.6	0.002 ^b
FAR	206.8 ± 83.4	244.2 ± 98.1	$< 0.001^{b}$
Serum potassium [mmol/L]	4.5 ± 0.7	4.6 ± 0.9	0.059 ^b
Serum sodium [mmol/L]	136.1 ± 10.1	136.9 ± 7.7	0.446 ^b
CRP [mg/dL]	9 (5–15)	14 (8–20)	< 0.001°
Ferritin [ng/mL]	389 (234–604)	456 (286–729)	0.021°
Procalcitonin [ug/L]	0.21 (0.12-0.69)	0.64 (0.21–1.62)	< 0.001°
D-dimer [µg/L]	1340 (784–2100)	1485 (911–3027)	0.017°
Troponin I [µg/L]	0.01(0.01-0.03)	0.01(0.01-0.22)	< 0.001°
Activated partial thromboplastin time [s]	32 (28–36)	33 (28–38)	0.543°
Prothrombin time [s]	16 (14–18)	17 (15–19)	0.008°
International standardized ratio	1.2 (1.1–1.3)	1.2 (1.1–1.4)	0.036°
Mechanical ventilation, n (%)	15 (8)	165 (83)	< 0.001°
Treatments, n (%)			
Antiviral agents	178 (95)	184 (93)	0.476ª
Antibacterial agents	187 (99)	195 (98)	0.328ª
Glucocorticoids	182 (97)	190 (96)	0.656ª
Anticoagulants	180 (96)	188 (95)	0.711°
Antiplatelets	105 (56)	130 (66)	0.048ª
Convalescent plasma	85 (45)	95 (52)	0.586ª

*Depending on the Expected count, Pearson Chi-Square or Fisher Exact test was used. Descriptive statistics were presented as a number (%).

^bStudent's unpaired t-test was used. Descriptive statistics were presented as mean ± standard deviation.

^cMann–Whitney U test was used. Descriptive statistics were presented as median [IQR].

CRP — C-reactive protein; FAR — fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio; IOR — interquartile range; NLR — neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio

group. The use of antiplatelet medications was greater in the non-survivor group.

The correlation analyses between the FAR and laboratory parameters is shown in Table 3. The FAR was positively correlated with the levels of CRP (r = 0.447; p < 0.001), procalcitonin

(r = 0.195; p < 0.001) and troponin I (r = 0.204; p < 0.001) (Figure 1). Logistic regression analysis was performed to determine the independent predictors of in-hospital mortality. The analysis demonstrated that DM (OR: 1.806; 95% CI: 1.142–2.856; p = 0.011), troponin I level (OR:

1.776; 95% CI: 1.031–3.061; p = 0.038), and FAR (OR: 1.004; 95% CI: 1.004–1.007; p = 0.010) at ICU admission were independent predictors of in-hospital mortality in patients with severe COVID-19 (Table 4).

Discussion

We evaluated the association between in-hospital mortality and the FAR, calculated based on the laboratory parameters obtained from blood

Table 3.	Correlation	between	the	FAR	and	laboratory
	parameters					

R	P-value
0.447	< 0.001
0.052	0.277
0.195	< 0.001
0.204	< 0.001
0.098	0.054
	R 0.447 0.052 0.195 0.204 0.098

CRP — C-reactive protein; FAR — fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio; NLR — neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio samples collected within 24 h of ICU admission. The FAR was higher in the non-survivor group and was an independent predictor of in-hospital mortality. Similar to other studies investigating the prognostic risk factors for COVID-19, our results showed that DM and an increased troponin I level were also independent predictors of in-hospital mortality.

Fibrinogen, also known as Factor I, is a glycopeptide composed of three pairs of polypeptides covalently linked by disulfide bonds. Fibrinogen plays a major role in platelet aggregation via enzymatic conversion to fibrin and is also the main determinant of plasma viscosity and erythrocyte aggregation [13]. Several studies and meta-analyses have investigated the association between the fibrinogen level and cardiovascular diseases [14, 15]. Fibrinogen was found to be an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease in these studies.

COVID-19 is characterized by respiratory failure, endothelial dysfunction, and activation of the coagulation pathway [16]. Patients with severe COVID-19 are susceptible to coagulation as a result of increased levels of coagulation factors



Figure 1. Scatter plot image of the correlation between fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio and C-reactive protein in patients with COVID-19 (n = 386)

0 0	, ,	•	
	Odds ratio	95% CI	P-value
NLR	0.986	0.960-1.012	0.293
FAR	1.004	1.001-1.007	0.010
Age [years]	0.999	0.982-1.017	0.943
Sex, male	1.311	0.799-1.000	0.285
Diabetes mellitus	1.806	1.142-2.856	0.011
Hypertension	1.282	0.808–2.035	0.292
Procalcitonin [µg/L]	1.087	0.982-1.202	0.740
Smoking	1.017	0.623-1.660	0.946
D-dimer [µg/L]	1.000	1.000-1.000	0.968
Chronic kidney disease	1.364	0.644-2.889	0.448
Troponin I [µg/L]	1.776	1.031-3.061	0.038
Platelet counts (\times 103/ μ L)	0.998	0.996-1.000	0.093

Table 4. Multivariate logistic regression analyses of in-hospital mortality

CI — confidence interval; CRP — C-reactive protein; FAR — fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio; NLR — neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio

including fibrinogen, tissue factor, and Factor 7, a decrease in tissue plasminogen activator activity, and inhibition of the fibrinolytic pathway due to hypoxia, endothelial dysfunction, and hyperinflammation [17]. This leads to major venous thromboembolic events and arterial thrombosis [18] and is associated with a poor prognosis [19]. Thromboembolic events and in-situ thrombosis seem to contribute to multisystem injury, multiorgan failure, and mortality in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection [20]. Increased D-dimer and fibrinogen levels together with prolongation of the aPTT promote coagulopathy in COVID-19 patients [21]. Increased levels of D-dimer, aPTT, and fibrinogen were associated with a poor prognosis in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 [22]. In our study, we observed that fibrinogen and D-dimer levels were higher in the non-survivor group when compared with the survivor group.

Albumin has anticoagulant and antiplatelet activities, probably due to its antioxidant effect [23]. Albumin increases fibrinolysis and inhibites erythrocyte aggregation. In addition, albumin neutralizes fibrinogen binding to endothelial cells, thus antagonizing several prothrombotic effects of fibrinogen [24]. Also, endothelial dysfunction and blood viscosity are increased in hypoalbuminemia [25]. During inflammatory states, the coagulation cascade favors thrombus formation due to decreased synthesis and increased catabolism of albumin. Lower albumin levels were observed in patients with severe COVID-19 compared with non-severe COVID-19 in a meta-analysis [26]. A serum albumin level < 3.5 g/dL is associated with a higher mortality rate in COVID-19 patients [27]. In our study, the serum albumin level was < 3.5 g/dL in both groups but was significantly lower in the non-survivor group. In a study of 299 COVID-19 patients, Huang et al. [28] showed a lower albumin level in the non-survivor group compared with the survivors, and hypoalbuminemia was a predictor of mortality regardless of age and comorbidities. Violi et al. [29] suggested that hypoalbuminemia may be related to hypercoagulability in patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 infection and found lower serum albumin levels in patients with ischemic events compared with thrombotic event-free patients with COVID-19.

The FAR has been introduced as a new prognostic marker based on inflammation. The association between FAR and mortality has been investigated because inflammation has an important role in the pathogenesis of both malignancy and cardiovascular disease. FAR was shown to be associated with a poor prognosis in these diseases [7, 8]. There are limited data in the literature on the associations among the FAR, disease progression, and mortality in COVID-19 patients. Bi et al. [30] investigated the associations among the FAR, platelet count, and disease severity in 91 patients with non-severe COVID-19 and 21 patients with severe COVID-19. They suggested that the FAR and platelet count were independent predictors of the development of severe illness in SARS-CoV-2 infection. To date, no studies have investigated the association between the FAR and mortality in COVID-19 patients. In our study, we have proven that the FAR is an independent predictor of mortality in patients with severe COVID-19 in the ICU. The significant association between elevated fibrinogen/low albumin levels and mortality in COVID-19 patients found in our study supports the role of the FAR in the pathophysiology of the disease and the intensity of the thromboembolic and thrombotic state. FAR may be a useful and cost-effective parameter to predict in-hospital mortality in patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Study limitations

As this was a retrospective, observational, and single-center study, our findings may not be generalizable. There were no ischemic/embolic events recorded in our study population. Fibrinogen and albumin levels were measured within 24 h of hospitalization, and serial measurements were not performed. All patients were administered low-molecular-weight heparin as an anticoagulant. Unfortunately, we were not able to measure plasma antifactor Xa activity, which is deemed to be the most accurate marker for monitoring therapeutic dosing of low-molecular-weight heparin.

Conclusions

We showed that the FAR, a novel inflammation-based prognostic parameter, was higher in non-surviving patients when compared with surviving COVID-19 patients. In addition, the FAR was associated with mortality in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in the ICU. An increased FAR (as an indicator of the inflammatory and thrombotic burden) might allow for early identification of COVID-19 patients at severe risk, which could assist in immediate optimization of the medical management of this highly susceptible group.

Acknowledgements

This study received no grant funding from any agency in the public, commercial or not-forprofit sectors.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare no potential conflict of interest.

References:

 Du RH, Liang LR, Yang CQ, et al. Predictors of mortality for patients with COVID-19 pneumonia caused by SARS-CoV-2: a prospective cohort study. Eur Respir J. 2020; 55(5): 2000524, doi: 10.1183/13993003.00524-2020, indexed in Pubmed: 32269088.

- Spiezia L, Boscolo A, Poletto F, et al. COVID-19-related severe hypercoagulability in patients admitted to intensive care unit for acute respiratory failure. Thromb Haemost. 2020; 120(6): 998–1000, doi: <u>10.1055/s-0040-1710018</u>, indexed in Pubmed: 32316063.
- 3. Lu P, Liu J, Liu N, et al. Pro-inflammatory effect of fibrinogen and FDP on vascular smooth muscle cells by IL-6, TNF- α and iNOS. Life Sci. 2011; 88(19–20): 839–845, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> lfs.2011.03.003, indexed in Pubmed: <u>21439977</u>.
- Akirov A, Masri-Iraqi H, Atamna A, et al. Low albumin levels are associated with mortality risk in hospitalized patients. Am J Med. 2017; 130(12): 1465.e11–1465.e19, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>amjmed.2017.07.020</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28803138</u>.
- Chien SC, Chen CY, Leu HB, et al. Association of low serum albumin concentration and adverse cardiovascular events in stable coronary heart disease. Int J Cardiol. 2017; 241: 1–5, doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.04.003, indexed in Pubmed: 28413113.
- Yi S, Chen M. Decreased albumin is associated with elevated N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and poor long-term prognosis in patients with chronic heart failure. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020; 99(51): e23872, doi: 10.1097/ MD.000000000023872, indexed in Pubmed: 33371174.
- Li M, Tang C, Luo E, et al. Relation of fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio to severity of coronary artery disease and longterm prognosis in patients with non-ST elevation acute coronary syndrome. Biomed Res Int. 2020; 2020: 1860268, doi: 10.1155/2020/1860268, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32879878</u>.
- Zhang Yi, Xiao G. Prognostic significance of the ratio of fibrinogen and albumin in human malignancies: a meta-analysis. Cancer Manag Res. 2019; 11: 3381–3393, doi: <u>10.2147/CMAR.</u> <u>S198419</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31114374</u>.
- Bi X, Su Z, Yan H, et al. Prediction of severe illness due to COVID-19 based on an analysis of initial fibrinogen to albumin ratio and platelet count. Platelets. 2020; 31(5): 674–679, doi: <u>10.1080/09537104.2020.1760230</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32367765</u>.
- 10. Armstrong RA, Kane AD, Kursumovic E, et al. Mortality in patients admitted to intensive care with COVID-19: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Anaesthesia. 2021; 76(4): 537–548, doi: <u>10.1111/anae.15425</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33525063</u>.
- 11. Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72 314 cases from the Chinese center for disease control and prevention. JAMA. 2020; 323(13): 1239–1242, doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.2648, indexed in Pubmed: 32091533.
- 12. T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Bilimsel Danışma Kurulu Çalışması COVID-19 (SARS-CoV-2 ENFEKSİYONU) AĞIR PNÖMO-Nİ, ARDS, SEPSİS VE SEPTİK ŞOK YÖNETİMİ 1 Haziran 2020, Ankara. <u>https:// covid19bilgi.saglik.gov.tr/depo/rehberler/covid19rehberi/COVID19_REHBERI_AGIR_PNOMONI_ ARDS_SEPSIS_VE_SEPTIK_SOK_YONTEMI.pdf</u> (29.03.2021).
- Tousoulis D. Papageorgiou N, Androulakis E, et al. Fibrinogen and cardiovascular disease: genetics and biomarkers. Blood Rev. 2011; 25(6): 239–245, doi: <u>10.1016/j.blre.2011.05.001</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>21652129</u>.
- Canseco-Avila LM, Lopez-Roblero A, Serrano-Guzman E, et al. Polymorphisms -455G/A and -148C/T and fibrinogen plasmatic level as risk markers of coronary disease and major adverse cardiovascular events. Dis Markers. 2019; 2019: 5769514, doi: <u>10.1155/2019/5769514</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31354890</u>.
- Kunutsor SK, Kurl S, Zaccardi F, et al. Baseline and long-term fibrinogen levels and risk of sudden cardiac death: A new prospective study and meta-analysis. Atherosclerosis. 2016; 245: 171–180, doi: <u>10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.12.020</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26724527</u>.
- Perico L, Benigni A, Casiraghi F, et al. Immunity, endothelial injury and complement-induced coagulopathy in COVID-19. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2021; 17(1): 46–64, doi: <u>10.1038/s41581-020-</u> <u>00357-4</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33077917</u>.
- Tang N, Li D, Wang X, et al. Abnormal coagulation parameters are associated with poor prognosis in patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(4): 844–847,

doi: <u>10.1111/jth.14768</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32073213</u>.

- Tang N, Bai H, Chen X, et al. Anticoagulant treatment is associated with decreased mortality in severe coronavirus disease 2019 patients with coagulopathy. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(5): 1094–1099, doi: <u>10.1111/jth.14817</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32220112</u>.
- Lodigiani C, Iapichino G, Carenzo L, et al. Humanitas COVID-19 task force. Venous and arterial thromboembolic complications in COVID-19 patients admitted to an academic hospital in Milan, Italy. Thromb Res. 2020; 191: 9–14, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>thromres.2020.04.024</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32353746</u>.
- Spiezia L, Boscolo A, Poletto F, et al. COVID-19-Related severe hypercoagulability in patients admitted to intensive care unit for acute respiratory failure. Thromb Haemost. 2020; 120(6): 998–1000, doi: <u>10.1055/s-0040-1710018</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32316063</u>.
- Godoy L, Goligher E, Lawler P, et al. Anticipating and managing coagulopathy and thrombotic manifestations of severe COVID-19. CMAJ. 2020; 192(40): E1156–E1161, doi: <u>10.1503/</u> <u>cmaj.201240</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32816822</u>.
- 22. Di Micco P, Russo V, Carannante N, et al. Clotting factors in COVID-19: epidemiological association and prognostic values in different clinical presentations in an Italian cohort. J Clin Med. 2020; 9(5): 1371, doi: <u>10.3390/jcm9051371</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32392741</u>.
- Basili S, Carnevale R, Nocella C, et al. PRO-LIVER Collaborators. Serum albumin is inversely associated with portal vein thrombosis in cirrhosis. Hepatol Commun. 2019; 3(4): 504– 512, doi: <u>10.1002/hep4.1317</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30976741</u>.

- Galanakis DK. Anticoagulant albumin fragments that bind to fibrinogen/fibrin: possible implications. Semin Thromb Hemost. 1992; 18(1): 44–52, doi: <u>10.1055/s-2007-1002409</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>1574716</u>.
- Joles JA, Willekes-Koolschijn N, Koomans HA. Hypoalbuminemia causes high blood viscosity by increasing red cell lysophosphatidylcholine. Kidney Int. 1997; 52(3): 761–770, doi: 10.1038/ki.1997.393, indexed in Pubmed: <u>9291198</u>.
- Aziz M, Fatima R, Lee-Smith W, et al. The association of low serum albumin level with severe COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care. 2020; 24(1): 255, doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-02995-3, indexed in Pubmed: 32456658.
- Violi F, Cangemi R, Romiti GF, et al. Is albumin predictor of mortality in COVID-19? Antioxid Redox Signal. 2021; 35(2): 139–142, doi: <u>10.1089/ars.2020.8142</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32524832</u>.
- Huang J, Cheng A, Kumar R, et al. Hypoalbuminemia predicts the outcome of COVID-19 independent of age and co-morbidity. J Med Virol. 2020; 92(10): 2152–2158, doi: <u>10.1002/</u> <u>jmv.26003</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32406952</u>.
- Violi F, Ceccarelli G, Cangemi R, et al. Hypoalbuminemia, coagulopathy, and vascular disease in COVID-19. Circ Res. 2020; 127(3): 400–401, doi: <u>10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317173</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32508261</u>.
- 30. Bi X, Su Z, Yan H, et al. Prediction of severe illness due to COVID-19 based on an analysis of initial fibrinogen to albumin ratio and platelet count. Platelets. 2020; 31(5): 674–679, doi: <u>10.1080/09537104.2020.1760230</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32367765</u>.

Masoomeh Raoufi¹, Shahram Kahkooei², Sara Haseli², Farzaneh Robatjazi¹, Jamileh Bahri¹, Nastaran Khalili³

¹Department of Radiology, School of Medicine, Imam Hossein Hospital, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran ²Department of Radiology, National Research Institute of Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

³School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Organizing pneumonia-like pattern in COVID-19

Abstract

Introduction: Organizing pneumonia (OP) is a radio-histologic pattern that forms in response to lung damage in patients with focal or diffuse lung injury. OP is frequently observed subsequent to viral-induced lung damage and is associated with a diverse range of clinical outcomes.

Material and methods: We included 210 patients (mean age: 55.8 ± 16.5 years old; 61% male) with mild Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) who underwent chest computed tomography (CT) from 25 February to 22 April, 2020. The patients were divided into two groups based on the presence (n = 103) or absence of typical OP-like pattern (n = 107) on initial chest CT. The extent of lung involvement and final outcome was compared across the two groups. Serial changes in imaging were also evaluated in 36 patients in the OP-group with a second CT scan.

Results: Duration from symptom onset to presentation was significantly higher in the OP group $(7.07 \pm 3.71 \text{ versus } 6.13 \pm 4.96 \text{ days}, p = 0.008)$. A higher COVID-19-related mortality rate was observed among patients with OP-like pattern (17.5% vs 3.7%, p = 0.001). There was no significant difference in the overall involvement of the lungs (p = 0.358), but lower lobes were significantly more affected in the OP group (p < 0.001). Of the 36 patients with follow-up imaging (mean duration of follow-up = 8.3 \pm 2.1 days), progression of infiltration was seen in more than 61% of patients while lesions had resolved in only 22.2% of cases. **Conclusions:** Our observation indicates that physicians should carefully monitor for the presence of OP-like pattern on initial CT as it is associated with a poor outcome. Furthermore, we recommend interval CT to evaluate the progression of infiltrations in these patients.

Key words: COVID-19, computed tomography, organizing pneumonia, respiratory, lung

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 565-569

Introduction

Organizing pneumonia (OP) is a radio-histologic pattern which forms in response to lung damage in patients with focal or diffuse lung injury [1]. As it has previously been documented in H1N1 influenza, SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV, viral pneumonia is one of the many etiologies of secondary OP [2–4]. A diverse entity of clinical outcomes is seen in patients with OP-like pattern, ranging from complete clearance of lesions without any sequela to severe and progressive conditions such as pulmonary fibrosis [5]. Here, we briefly report the imaging findings and prognosis of Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in patients with and without OP-like pattern on initial computed tomography (CT). Also, the serial changes of imaging findings are reported in a subset of patients with OP-like pattern.

Materials and methods

We retrospectively enrolled 210 adult patients (> 18 years old) with PCR-confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19 who underwent CT in a single institution from 25 February to 22 April,

Address for correspondence: Nastaran Khalili, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, e-mail: nkhalili71@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0081 | Received: 20.01.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

2020. All subjects had mild disease at presentation and did not require ventilation support. Demographic and clinical data and final outcome was collected. All patients had undergone at least one non-contrast CT with reconstructions of the volume at 3 mm to 5 mm slice thickness. OP pattern was defined as: 1) peripheral, bilateral, lower lung predominant multifocal consolidation or even a frequent appearance in all lungs zones and/or 2) peribronchovascular consolidation, which could extend to the subpleural regions in the lower lobes associated with patchy groundglass opacities (GGO) [6]. Based on the presence or absence of typical OP-like pattern on the initial CT, the patients were divided into two groups: OP group (n = 103) and non-OP group (n = 107). CT images were reviewed by two radiologists blinded to the patients' final outcome. Imaging findings were first interpreted independently based on the Fleischner society nomenclature [7]. Final decision was reached by consensus. To assess the extent of lobar involvement, a score was given based on the percentage of infiltration: 0 (none), 1 (1-5%), 2 (6-25%), 3 (26-49%), 4 (50-75%), and 5 (> 75%). Total lung score was obtained by summing the individual scores of each specific lobe. Temporal changes of imaging on follow-up CT were defined as follows: 1) disease resolution: complete or near-complete resolution of radiologic opacities; 2) disease progression: increased extent of lung infiltration; 3) no change.

Normality tests were used to assess distribution. Categorical variables are reported as frequency (percentages) and continuous variables are expressed as mean (standard deviation (SD)). Continuous data were compared between the groups by using t-test and categorical variables were compared using Chi-square or Fisher's exact test. Statistical tests were performed by SPSS v.23 (IBM Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). P-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

The ethical review board of our institution approved the study (ethics code:IR.SBMU.MSP. REC.1399.083).

Results

The mean age of patients was 55.85 ± 16.52 years old (range: 26–97); 61% were male. Death had occurred in 22/210 patients (10.5%) and the rest were discharged; the COVID-19-related mortality rate was significantly higher in the OP group compared with the non-OP group (17.5% vs 3.7%, p = 0.001). The mean presentation time for the entire cohort was 6.6

 \pm 4.3 days after symptom onset. This duration was significantly higher in the OP group (p=0.008). Non-adjusted mortality rate was approximately 5.5 times higher in the OP group compared with the non-OP group (Table 1). Peripheral and bilateral lesion distribution was the predominant finding in both groups. The extent of right middle lobe (RML), right lower lobe (RLL) and left lower lobe involvement was significantly different between the two groups (p = 0.001, p < 0.001, p < 0.001, respectively); however, total lung involvement did not differ across the two groups. In both groups, the least amount of involvement was seen in the RML while the RLL and the right upper lobe had the most involvement in the OP and non-OP groups, respectively (Table 1).

Table 2 shows in detail the imaging findings of patients with OP. Sixty-nine percent of patients demonstrated involvement of more than three lobes; higher number of involved lobes was not related to worse prognosis (p = 0.394). Subpleural band-like consolidation (72.8%), GGO (62.3%) and peripheral consolidation (39.8%) were the predominant patterns. Bronchial dilatation (29.1%), peribronchovascular opacities (25.2%) and air space nodules (23.3%) were also common; however, halo sign, bronchiectasis, crazy paving and honeycomb sign were infrequent. In a subset of 36 patients in the OP group who had follow-up CT (mean duration of 8.3 ± 2.1 days; range: 4-50), progression of infiltrations, mostly seen as lower-lobe GGO, was found in more than 61% of patients (Figure 1) and in 22.2% of patients, lesions had obviously resolved (Figure 2).

Discussion

We observed that the mean interval from symptom onset to admission in patients presenting with radiologic OP-like pattern was approximately a week (7.1 \pm 3.7 days), and this duration was significantly higher compared with the non-OP group. More importantly, we found that in patients who manifest OP-like pattern at initial imaging, the mortality rate was significantly higher than others, suggesting a possible worse prognosis for these cases. Identifying imaging patterns that reflect more advanced stage of COVID-19 is helpful for selecting the most appropriate therapy and avoiding acute-phase treatments that most probably do not bring benefit to patients [8]. Our study showed that subpleural band-like consolidation, GGO and peripheral consolidation were the most common imaging findings of patients with OP-like pattern. GGO was mostly seen in

	OP group (n = 103)	Non-OP group (n = 107)	P-value
Age, years	61.94 ± 15.98 (29–97)	49.98 ± 15.17 (26-92)	< 0.001
Sex Male Female	63 (61.2) 40 (38.8)	65 (60.7) 42 (39.3)	0.532
Symptom onset to presentation, days	7.07 ± 3.71 (1–20)	6.13 ± 4.96 (1–30)	0.008
Disease outcome Discharged Death	85 (82.5) 18 (17.5)	103 (96.3) 4 (3.7)	0.001
Positive smoking history*	3 (2.9)	5 (4.7)	0.382
Comorbidities Cardiovascular disease Hypertension Diabetes Respiratory disease Renal disease Liver disease Malignancy Obesity Other Any comorbidity	14 (13.6) 19 (18.4) 25 (24.3) 3 (2.9) 2 (1.9) 2 (1.9) 3 (2.9) 5 (4.8) 2 (1.9) 47 (45.6)	16 (15) 13 (12.1) 20 (18.7) 7 (6.5) 2 (1.9) 2 (1.9) 6 (5.6) 13 (12.1) 7 (6.5) 48 (44.8)	0.845 0.250 0.327 0.333 0.969 0.969 0.268 0.058 0.058 0.054 0.911
Lobar score Right upper lobe Right middle lobe Right lower lobe Left upper lobe Left lower lobe Total score	$\begin{array}{l} 2.17 \pm 0.99 \; (0-5) \\ 1.77 \pm 0.98 \; (0-4) \\ 2.89 \pm 1.02 \; (0-5) \\ 2.17 \pm 1.03 \; (0-5) \\ 2.67 \pm 1.05 \; (0-5) \\ 11.72 \pm 3.67 \; (4-22) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 2.06 \pm 1.03 \; (0-4) \\ 1.31 \pm 1.02 \; (0-4) \\ 1.48 \pm 1.05 \; (0-4) \\ 1.90 \pm 1.03 \; (0-4) \\ 1.76 \pm 1.07 \; (0-4) \\ 10.17 \pm 3.16 \; (3-20) \end{array}$	0.524 0.001 < 0.001 0.54 < 0.001 0.358
Predominant ground-glass opacification Predominant consolidation Mixed pattern	44 (42.7) 33 (32.1) 26 (25.2)	64 (59.8) 34 (31.7) 9 (8.4)	0.003
Lesion distribution Axial Central Peripheral Diffuse	5 (4.9) 94 (91.3) 4 (3.9)	7 (6.5) 53 (49.5) 47 (43.9)	< 0.001
Bilateral	100 (97.1%)	97 (90.6%)	0.872

Table 1. Comparison of demographic, clinical and radiologic findings across organizing pneumonia (OP) and non-OP groups

Continuous data is represented as mean \pm SD (range) and categorical data is reported as frequency (percentage); *Positive smoking history was defined as former or current smoker with \geq 20 pack/year history of smoking

the upper lobes and was not a common finding of the lower lobes. In fact, lower-lobe GGO was seen in less than 5% of subjects with OP-like pattern. When comparing with the non-OP group, mixed pattern was more frequently observed in patients with OP-like pattern. A previous study investigating temporal CT findings of COVID-19 reported that mixed pattern becomes more frequent at later stages, usually during day 12–17 of the disease course. They also noted that mixed pattern probably suggests the presence of secondary OP [9].

A notable finding of our study was that in more than 90% of patients with OP-like pattern,

lesions were distributed peripherally, while in the non-OP group, less than half of cases demonstrated predominant peripheral lesions. This observation is consistent with that of previous studies, reporting peripheral or peribronchial infiltrations as a characteristic finding of OP [10]. Also, single-lobe involvement was seen in about 10% of patients with OP-like pattern, which is relatively similar to the results of a similar study (6.9%) [11].

In general, OP is associated with a relatively good prognosis. In most cases, the damage is mild and the lung undergoes repair without any permanent sequela; however, relapse rates

	OP group ($n = 103$)
Involvement pattern	
Ground-glass opacification	64 (62.3)
Peripheral consolidation	41 (39.8)
Subpleural band-like consolidation	75 (72.8)
Honeycombing	1(0.9)
Crazy paving	1(0.9)
Interstitial fibrosing pneumonitis	15 (14.5)
Traction bronchiectasis	1 (0.9)
Bronchial dilatation	30 (29.1)
Air space nodule	24 (23.3)
Perilobular pattern	3 (2.9)
Halo sign	—
Reversedhalo sign	18 (17.5)
Reticulation	14 (13.6)
Peribronchovascular opacification	26 (25.2)
Number of involved lobes	
1	11 (10.6)
2	21 (20.3)
3	39 (37.9)
4	18 (17.5)
5	14 (13.6)
Findings on follow-up CT imaging (n $=$	
36)	
Lesion resolution	8 (22.2)
Progression of lung infiltration	22 (61.1)
No change	6 (16.6)
Data are represented as from any (non-output)	

Table 2. Imaging findings in patients with organizing pneumonia-like pattern

Data are represented as frequency (percentage)

can be seen in 13% to 58% of patients [10, 12, 13]. In a recent study on 77 patients with mild COVID-19, OP-pattern was found to be predictive of short-term evolution to severe disease [14]. In our study, after a mean duration of eight days from presentation, progression of lung infiltrations was seen in 61.1% of patients and in less than one-fourth. lesions resolution had occurred. A recent study showed that 60% of cases with COVID-19 displayed improvement on follow-up CT while 40% presented with exacerbation of lesions [11]. Another study reported complete radiological resolution to be 53% at three-week post-discharge [15]. Reports from previous viral pandemics indicate that few months to several years might be needed for pulmonary imaging abnormalities to resolve [16, 17].

Our study was associated with some limitations. First, we did not adjust the mortality rate for other parameters that could possibly affect survival such as the presence of comorbidities or disease severity; thus, the difference in mortality rate between the two groups should be interpreted with caution. Also, we included a small sample size that might bias the results.



Figure 1. A. Early imaging (at admission) of a 73-year-old man without a positive history for any comorbidity, presenting about 7 days after the onset of respiratory symptoms. Non-enhanced chest CT shows sub-pleural mixed pattern of infiltration. **B.** Follow-up CT scan performed after 8 days shows extensive consolidation and bronchial dilation. The patient recovered after 10 days from admission and was discharged in good clinical condition

Clinical implications and future directions

In the appropriate clinical setting, radiologists should be aware to consider COVID-19 as a differential diagnosis of OP. This is particularly important as we observed a higher mortality rate among patients presenting with OP-like pattern on their initial CT. Also, progression of infiltrations was observed in more than half of these patients on follow-up. Thus, we recommend interval imaging to monitor for progression of pulmonary involvement. Also, increasing recognition of OP diagnosis in patients with COVID-19 will



Figure 2. A. Subpleural band-like consolidation in the lung base of a 54-year-old man presenting with acute onset of respiratory symptoms. **B.** Follow-up CT scan performed 50 days later showed ground-glass opacification and innumerable small linear opacities that, by summation, resembled a net-like reticulation pattern appearance

lead to more appropriate and effective treatment approaches, subsequently reducing the need for ventilation support and improving survival.

Conflicts of interest

None declared.

References:

- Walsh SLF, Hansell DM. Diffuse interstitial lung disease: overlaps and uncertainties. Eur Radiol. 2010; 20(8): 1859–1867, doi: 10.1007/s00330-010-1737-3, indexed in Pubmed: 20204644.
- Lai Rq, Feng Xd, Gu Yy, et al. Pathological changes of lungs in patients with severity acute respiratory syndrome. Zhonghua Bing Li Xue Za Zhi. 2004; 33(4): 354–357, indexed in Pubmed: 15363323.

- Ajlan AM, Ahyad RA, Jamjoom LG, et al. Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) infection: chest CT findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2014; 203(4): 782–787, doi: 10.2214/AJR.14.13021, indexed in Pubmed: 24918624.
- Gómez-Gómez A, Martínez-Martínez R, Gotway MB. Organizing pneumonia associated with swine-origin influenza A H1N1 2009 viral infection. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2011; 196(1): W103–W104, doi: <u>10.2214/AJR.10.4689</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>21178022</u>.
- Travis WD, Costabel U, Hansell DM, et al. ATS/ERS Committee on Idiopathic Interstitial Pneumonias. An official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society statement: Update of the international multidisciplinary classification of the idiopathic interstitial pneumonias. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013; 188(6): 733–748, doi: <u>10.1164/rccm.201308-1483ST</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24032382</u>.
- Torrealba JR, Fisher S, Kanne JP, et al. Pathology-radiology correlation of common and uncommon computed tomographic patterns of organizing pneumonia. Hum Pathol. 2018; 71: 30– 40, doi: <u>10.1016/j.humpath.2017.10.028</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29122655</u>.
- Hansell DM, Bankier AA, MacMahon H, et al. Fleischner Society: glossary of terms for thoracic imaging. Radiology. 2008; 246(3): 697–722, doi: <u>10.1148/radiol.2462070712</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>18195376</u>.
- Jalali A, Karimialavijeh E, Babaniamansour P, et al. Predicting the 30-day adverse outcomes of non-critical new-onset COVID-19 patients in emergency departments based on their lung CT scan findings; A pilot study for derivation an emergency scoring tool. Frontiers in Emergency Medicine. 2021; 5(4), doi: 10.18502/fem.v5i4.6691.
- Wang Y, Dong C, Hu Y, et al. Temporal changes of CT findings in 90 patients with COVID-19 pneumonia: A longitudinal study. Radiology. 2020; 296(2): E55–E64, doi: <u>10.1148/radiol.2020200843</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32191587</u>.
- Drakopanagiotakis F, Paschalaki K, Abu-Hijleh M, et al. Cryptogenic and secondary organizing pneumonia: clinical presentation, radiographic findings, treatment response, and prognosis. Chest. 2011; 139(4): 893–900, doi: <u>10.1378/chest.10-0883</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>20724743</u>.
- 11. Wu J, Feng LC, Xian XY, et al. Novel coronavirus pneumonia (COVID-19) CT distribution and sign features. Zhonghua Jie He He Hu Xi Za Zhi. 2020; 43(4): 321–326, doi: <u>10.3760/</u> <u>cma.j.cn112147-20200217-00106</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32125131</u>.
- Vasu TS, Cavallazzi R, Hirani A, et al. Clinical and radiologic distinctions between secondary bronchiolitis obliterans organizing pneumonia and cryptogenic organizing pneumonia. Respir Care. 2009; 54(8): 1028–1032, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19650943</u>.
- Lohr RH, Boland BJ, Douglas WW, et al. Organizing pneumonia. Features and prognosis of cryptogenic, secondary, and focal variants. Arch Intern Med. 1997; 157(12): 1323–1329, doi: <u>10.1001/archinte.157.12.1323</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>9201006</u>.
- Cereser L, Girometti R, Da Re J, et al. Inter-reader agreement of high-resolution computed tomography findings in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia: A multi-reader study. Radiol Med. 2021; 126(4): 577–584, doi: <u>10.1007/s11547-020-01320-w</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33389557</u>.
- Liu D, Zhang W, Pan F, et al. The pulmonary sequalae in discharged patients with COVID-19: a short-term observational study. Respir Res. 2020; 21(1): 125, doi: <u>10.1186/s12931-020-01385-1</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32448391</u>.
- 16. Zhang P, Li J, Liu H, et al. Long-term bone and lung consequences associated with hospital-acquired severe acute respiratory syndrome: a 15-year follow-up from a prospective cohort study. Bone Res. 2020; 8: 8, doi: 10.1038/s41413-020-0084-5, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32128276</u>.
- Wu X, Dong D, Ma D. Thin-section computed tomography manifestations during convalescence and long-term follow-up of patients with Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS). Med Sci Monit. 2016; 22: 2793–2799, doi: <u>10.12659/</u> <u>msm.896985</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27501327</u>.

Katarzyna Walicka-Serzysko^{1,2}, Teresa Orlik³, Dorota Sands^{1,2}, Natalia Jeneralska², Anna Popiel⁴, Wojciech Skorupa⁵, Andrzej Pogorzelski⁶, Szczepan Cofta⁷

¹Cystic Fibrosis Department, Institute of Mother and Child, Warsaw, Poland;

²Cystic Fibrosis Centre, Pediatric Hospital in Dziekanów Leśny, Łomianki, Poland

³Rehabilitation Department, Institute of Mother and Child, Warsaw, Poland

⁴Department of Pneumology, Pediatric Allergology and Clinical Immunology of the K. Marcinkowski Medical University, Poznań, Poland ⁵Institute of Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases, Warsaw, Poland

⁶Department of Pneumonology and Cystic Fibrosis, Institute of Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases, Regional Department, Rabka-Zdrój, Poland ⁷University Hospital of Lord's Transfiguration, Partner of Poznań University of Medical Science, Poznań, Poland

Nebulisation therapy in patients with cystic fibrosis — consensus of the Polish Cystic Fibrosis Society

Abstract

Introduction: Nebulisation therapy plays a key role in the treatment of cystic fibrosis (CF). Its effectiveness depends on obtaining a high concentration of drugs in the respiratory tract. Particle deposition is determined by many factors resulting, inter alia, from the essence of the lung disease (mucus, structural changes such as bronchiectasis, fibrous changes, cirrhosis) and the quality of the aerosol and breathing techniques during the procedure.

Aims: A large variety of available drugs that can be used in the form of aerosols (bronchodilators, mucolytics, antibiotics), a wide range of devices for their delivery, and a different approach to the practical aspect related to the use of inhalation, makes it necessary to systematize knowledge in order to optimize nebulisation therapy. The paper presents an overview of inhaled drugs used in cystic fibrosis and their administration devices.

Results: The principles of inhalation antibiotic therapy, which constitute the basis for the treatment of primary and chronic respiratory tract infections of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* etiology, are discussed in detail. A very important issue was raised related to the proper selection of devices and their proper operation. In the context of the key role of nebulisation therapy in cystic fibrosis, a huge problem is the limited availability of inhaled antibiotics in Poland.

Conclusions: The possibility of choosing an antibiotic and using alternating therapy increases the effectiveness of inhalation treatment, which results in slowing down the progress of bronchopulmonary disease and extending the life of patients.

Key words: cystic fibrosis, chest physiotherapy, nebulisers system, drug deposition, aerosol

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 570-580

Introduction

Progress in medicine at the turn of the last four decades has led to a significant improvement in the treatment and care of patients with cystic fibrosis [1, 2]. The quality and length of life is determined by the course of bronchopulmonary disease, and respiratory failure is the most common cause of death. The basic genetic defect underlying the pathogenesis of cystic fibrosis leads to impaired mucociliary clearance of the airways, formation of mucus plugs, and secondary infections with pathogens such as *Staphylococcus* aureus and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and others. Chronic infection accompanied by neutrophilic inflammation, recurrent exacerbations of bronchopulmonary disease, cause gradual impairment of lung function and progression of permanent changes such as bronchiectasis, cirrhoidal and fibrous lesions. Chronic treatment of lung disease and treatment of exacerbations are the basic measures to slow

Address for correspondence: Katarzyna Walicka-Serzysko, Cystic Fibrosis Department, Institute of Mother and Child, Kasprzaka 17A, 01-211 Warsaw, Poland; Cystic Fibrosis Centre, Pediatric Hospital in Dziekanów Leśny, M. Konopnickiej 65, 05-092 Łomianki, Poland, e-mail: katarzyna.walicka@imid.med.pl

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0107 | Received: 2021.11.08 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

Type of deposition	Mass median diameter	Mechanism description	Respiratory tract	Remarks
Inertia	> 5 <i>µ</i> m	Depends on the inspiratory flow velocity through the airways. Settlement of particles occurs as a result of their collision with the airway wall	Main deposition mechanism in the upper respiratory tract	With a high inspiratory flow, the likelihood of particles smaller than 5 μ m being deposited in the upper respiratory tract increases
Sedimentation	1–5 <i>µ</i> m	Under the influence of gravity, the particles settle, the number of which is directly proportional to the time the air is held at the top of the inhalation	Lobar and segment bronchi	A few seconds' breath hold at the apex of inspiration allows more particles to be deposited in segmental bronchi
Diffusion	< 1 <i>µ</i> m	Particle deposition due to Brownian motion	Peripheral airway	Increase in inspiratory volume with reduced inspiratory flow significantly increases drug deposition in peripheral bronchi

Table	1.	Mechanisms	of	drug	deposition	in	the	respiratory	ract
-------	----	------------	----	------	------------	----	-----	-------------	------

down the progression of the disease. In this context, bronchial tree physiotherapy including inhalation therapy, bronchial drainage and education of the patient and family are the main elements of both European [2, 3] and American [4] guidelines. Comprehensive physiotherapy should be implemented in the treatment of every patient with cystic fibrosis from the moment of diagnosis and modified at every stage of life, taking into account age, clinical condition and the possibility of cooperation.

Drug deposition in the lungs and the effectiveness of nebulisation therapy

The effectiveness of nebulisation therapy, both in the central and peripheral airways, is influenced by many factors. The most important of them are:

- related to the laws of physics,
- related to the quality of the aerosol,
- patient-dependent [5, 6].

Factors influencing drug deposition related to the laws of physics

Drug deposition depends on 3 main mechanisms:

- **inertia** this is the body's ability to maintain its state of motion due to the force of inertia; a mechanism typical of particles with a diameter greater than 5 μ m and their deposition in the upper respiratory tract;
- sedimentation this is the falling of particles due to gravity; concerns particles 1–5 μ m in diameter and their settlement in the bronchial tree;

• **diffusion**, typical for particles $< 1 \ \mu m$ in diameter, deposited under the influence of Brownian motion (Table 1, Figure 1).

Factors influencing drug deposition related to aerosol quality

The most important factors in determining the quality of an aerosol are drug particle shape, size, density, as well as electric charge and hygroscopicity. Usually, the following parameters are taken into account:

- mass median diameter MMD;
- median aerodynamic diameter of particles MAD;
- mass median aerodynamic diameter MMAD, describing the particle size distribution in the aerosol; its value means that 50% of the aerosol particles will have a smaller or equal diameter than the specified value. It is a more accurate indicator of aerosol quality than MAD;
- fine particle fraction of the aerosol FPF, describing the particle size distribution; it determines the percentage of particles $\leq 5 \,\mu$ m in diameter in the aerosol as a measure of the spread of the drug in the lower respiratory tract.

Patient-dependent determinants of drug deposition and distribution include

• the diameter of the central airways (small children have a narrower airways and higher inspiratory flow compared to adults, resulting in deposition mainly in the central and lobar bronchi). In this context, it is extremely important to correctly select a nebuliser for the



Figure 1. Mechanisms of the deposition of aerosol particles in individual parts of the respiratory tract

MMAD — (mass median aerodynamic diameter) median of the mass distribution of aerosol particles in relation to the aerodynamic diameter [5]

youngest children, which will produce the highest-class aerosol with the lowest MMD/ MMAD values;

• breathing pattern, which depends on age and physical fitness and the severity of the disease. The ability to perform specific breathing techniques dependent on cooperation with the patient plays an important role; high inspiratory flow creates more turbulence in the central airways, which leads to more drug depositing in the central bronchi; in turn, reducing the inspiratory flow while increasing the inspiratory volume will result in less turbulence and increase the likelihood of molecules reaching the peripheral airways. Guidelines for breathing maneuvers are different depending on the device.

During nebulisation, it is recommended that the patient takes slow, deep breaths during inhalation with a pause of 3 seconds at the peak of the inspiration, so that a large number of the smallest particles have a chance of reaching the peripheral airways.

- the presence of structural abnormalities of the airways and/or mucus, disturbing the airflow, reduces drug deposition at sites of airway obstruction;
- homogeneity of lung ventilation, that is, the ability of the lungs to expand evenly. Good

drug deposition depends on proper lung ventilation. Structural abnormalities of the lungs disturbing ventilation, e.g. fibrous changes in patients with cystic fibrosis have a negative effect on drug distribution. As a result, there is a preferential airflow to healthier regions of the lung and deposition of drug particles mainly there (Figure 2).

Devices for inhalation

Inhalation devices used by patients with cystic fibrosis can be divided into 3 categories:

- 1. Nebuliser Systems:
 - a. pneumatic, compatible with Jet nebulisers,
 - b. ultrasonic,
 - c. mesh (MESH type) vibrating membrane;
- 2. pressurized meter-dose inhalers (pMDI), including breath-activated pMDI (BA-pMDI) or in combination with a valved holding chamber (VHC);
- 3. dry powder inhalers (DPI).

Nebuliser Systems

Pneumatic nebulisers

The force that breaks down a liquid medicine into very fine particles is compressed air. The



Figure 2. Scheme of deposition of aerosol particles of different sizes (1, 3 and 5 μ m) in the bronchial tree of a healthy person (A, B) and a patient with lung disease (C). A. Homogeneous distribution of the drug in the lung segments of a healthy person while breathing calmly. Deposition is greater in the central airways compared to the peripheral airways and lung parenchyma; B. The same person takes a deep breath, more of the drug reaches the peripheral airways and the flesh, the drug is evenly distributed in both lobes; C. Lung of a patient with lung disease and single-lobe lesions: during a quick and deep inhalation in the affected lobe, there is increased airway resistance and decreased compliance compared to the healthy part of the lung. As a result, there is a preferential airflow to a healthier airfoil; ultimately, the healthier lobe receives more drug than the diseased lobe [6]

quality of the aerosol is determined by the air pressure expanding at the outlet of the nebuliser nozzle (0.7–2 bar), called the operating pressure. Higher pressure will break the drug into large, irregular particles, less pressure than 0.7 bar will not break the drug down. The operating pressure depends on the pressure created by the compressor and the diameter of the nozzle outlet passage in the nebuliser.

Ultrasonic nebulisers

Ultrasound is the force that breaks down liquid medicine into particles. The oscillator's vibration frequency is 1–2 MHz. The particles produced in ultrasonic devices vary in size and shape.

MESH or vibrating membrane nebulisers

The best drug deposition in the peripheral bronchus is achieved with particles with an ideal sphere shape. MESH nebuliser systems have a perforated membrane (mesh) through which drug particles pass, obtaining a perfect ball shape. The force breaking down the drug is ultrasound with a vibration frequency of approximately 117 kHz. MESH nebuliser systems allow you to shorten the inhalation time while obtaining the appropriate drug concentration in the lungs.

Characteristics of a proper nebuliser system

- good quality of the aerosol,
- low residual capacity,

- high efficiency (volume/time),
- allows the use of a variable inspiratory volume,
- good quality and shape of the mouthpiece,
- can be used in positions other than sitting. It applies to patients with inadequate ventilation of the lungs, for which the so-called positioning to use gravity should be applied to obtain better drug deposition in diseased areas,
- comfortable to hold in the hand,
- noise volume < 60 dB.

Nebuliser efficiency and aerosol quality

The efficiency of a nebuliser is determined by the amount of drug sprayed per unit time, most often given in mL/min or mg/min. The high efficiency of the nebuliser often means a shorter inhalation time but a poorer aerosol quality (MMD/MMAD > 5 μ m). This dependence raises a lot of controversy due to the apparent contradiction in assessing the quality of the nebuliser system. There are different priorities, different for clinicians and patients. Clinicians want a very good quality aerosol (MMD/MMAD < 3 μ m), which is a condition for obtaining a high concentration of the drug in the lungs. In turn, patients and their caregivers care about the shortest possible inhalation time. Work has been underway for many years to reconcile these two factors. MESH nebuliser systems, thanks to the dense aerosol

Nebuliser	Total output rate	Aerosol parameters MMD ¹ /MMAD ²	Percentage share of particles smaller than 5 μ m
PARI LC SPRINT BABY* (red insert)	150 mg/min	$2.5\mu\mathrm{m}^{1}$	82%
PARI LC SPRINT STAR** (red insert)	296 mg/min	2.2 μm ¹	86%
PARI LC SPRINT Junior** (yellow insert)	370 mg/min	2.9 μm ¹	76%
PARI LC SPRINT*** (blue insert)	600 mg/min	$3.5\mu\mathrm{m}^{1}$	67%
PARI LC SPRINT STAR*** (red insert)	450 mg/min	2.2 µm ¹	89%
PARI LC PLUS***	440 mg/min	3.6 µm¹	67%
AeroEclipse XL BAN	no data	4.3 μ m at 3.5 L/min	58% at 3.5 L/min

Table 2. Characteristics of nebulisers used in patients with cystic fibrosis — based on [7–11]. Aerosol parameters were determined based on: ¹the mass median diameter (MMD) or ²the mass median aerodynamic diameter (MMAD)

PARI LC SPRINT/LC PLUS: Measured with 0.9% NaCl in Malvern Master Sizer, 23 °C, 50% rel. humidity, inspiratory flow 6 L/min for babies*, 12 L/min for children** and 20 L/min for adults***; compressor pressure 1,6 bar with LC SPRINTs, 1.2 bar with LC PLUS

 $3.7 \,\mu m$ at 5.0 L/min²

3.17 µm²

 $4.1 \,\mu m^{1}$

3.99 µm²

due to high amount of particles produced, allow to reconcile good aerosol quality with a shorter inhalation time. In the case of Jet nebuliser systems, an important role is played by educating patients and their families, making them aware that a short inhalation time is important, but for the health of their child it is more important to obtain the appropriate concentration of the drug in the lungs.

300 ma/min

610 mg/min

0.26 mL/min

When choosing the right inhalation device for a cystic fibrosis patient, the following should be considered:

- the form of the drug,
- characteristics of the nebuliser and the aerosol,
- the patient's age,

SideStream

eFlow Rapid

InnoSpire Go

- the possibility for the patient to inhale synchronized with the device,
- the severity of your lung disease, including the occurrence of complications (e.g. haemoptysis, pneumothorax),
- device availability,
- patient's acceptance [7].

Mostly Jet and MESH nebuliser systems find application in cystic fibrosis. They vary in efficiency, aerosol quality and drug delivery to the lungs. In both cases, liquid solutions of the drug are used. The characteristics and techniques of using nebulisers are presented in Tables 2 and 3.

Selection of individual pressure and powder inhalers

Most inhaled medications for people with cystic fibrosis are administered through nebulisers. However, due to the ease and convenience in everyday use of pMDI and DPI inhalers, it is recommended to use them instead of nebulisers whenever possible and in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The choice of pMDI or DPI should depend on the patient's age and ability to perform a specific respiratory maneuver (Table 4). pMDI should be used with an valved holding chamber (VHC), and for children under 3 years of age VHC with mask should be attached. Patients from the age of 5 can use DPI.

67% at 5.0 L/min

77%

69%

52.3%

Principles of inhalation medication administration

It is very important to select the nebuliser and compressor correctly, in accordance with the recommendations of the attending physician and the manufacturer. Any inhalation medication should only be administered with an appropriate device. Most cystic fibrosis inhaled medications are licensed for use with pneumatic nebulisers. However, recently new antibiotics have been introduced for use with vibrating membrane nebulisers or DPI (Table 5). Their use

Type of nebuliser	Advantages	Disadvantages
Jet nebulisers with a corrugated tubing (choice depending on MMD/MMAD and FPF)	Easy to use Low drug waste The nebuliser insert can be replaced depending on the size of the drug particles* Effective in delivering drugs, which cannot be delivered by pMDI and DPI	Drug losses due to ineffective nebulisation
Breath-actuated and Breath- -enhanced jet nebulisers	Drug is delivered by inhalation only Easy to use Low drug waste More efficient than a continuous nebulizer Effective at delivering drugs that cannot be delivered by pMDI and DPI	Requires that sufficient inspiratory flow is achieved to initiate drug delivery The drug delivery takes longer
Ultrasonic nebulisers	Easy to use	More expensive than pneumatic nebulisers. Large residual volume Inability to spray viscous solutions in the form of an aerosol Damage to the structure of heat-sensitive drugs
Mesh (type MESH) nebulisers	Fast, quiet, portable. It has an independent power source Optimization of particles' sizefor specific drugs More efficient than other nebulisers Easy to use	More expensive Cleaning more difficult. The dose of the drug should be adjusted when changing from the Jet nebuliser Not compatible with viscous liquids or those that crystallize during drying (do not give salt with hyaluronic acid)**

Table 3. Advantages and disadvantages of different types of nebulisers [12]

**antibiotics are highly viscous formulation, nevertheless very efficient to be nebulised with eFlow rapid

Table 4	4. Selection	of inhaler an	d interface o	lependina	on the i	patient's a	ae based on	[13]
		••••••••						

Age	0–3 years	3–5 years	6–12 years	\geq 13 years
Inhaler type	Nebuliser* or pMDI with VHC	Nebuliser, pMDI with VHC	Nebuliser, pMDI with VHC, DPI, breath activated pMDI or breath-activated nebuliser	All types
Interface	Mask	Mask or mouthpiece with nose clip	Mouthpiece with nose clip	Mouthpiece with nose clip

*breath-activated nebulisers are not recommended

significantly shortens the inhalation time, with comparable effectiveness, and improves compliance with recommendations [8, 9]. However, it should be remembered that new inhaled medications are registered with the device intended for their administration. By administering older drugs with the use of modern nebulisers, e.g. mesh instead of pneumatic, the pharmacokinetics of the drug changes. The dose may need to be adjusted to avoid side effects, especially for younger children. In some cases that is not necessary when switching from PARI jet nebs to eFlow rapid. A general overview of inhaled drugs and devices dedicated to their administration is presented in Table 6.

Inhaled antibiotics

Inhaled antibiotic therapy is the basic procedure for the eradication and treatment Pseudo*monas aeruginosa* chronic respiratory infections, which are the main cause of bronchopulmonary disease progression and death in patients with cystic fibrosis. Its use has an advantage over systemic therapy, as a relatively high concentration of the drug is delivered directly to the lungs, thus improving the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties, while reducing the risk of toxicity. Correct administration of antibiotics such as colistin, tobramycin, aztreonam or levofloxacin is essential, both in terms of device selection and administration schedule (Table 7). The alternating

Drug	Nebuliser	DPI*	pMDI**
Hipertonic saline	+	-	-
Mannitol	-	+	-
Dornase alfa	+	-	-
Bronchodilators	+	+	+
Inhaled corticosteroids	+	+	+
Tobramycin	+	+	-
Colistin	+	+	-
Aztreonam	+	-	-
Liposomal amphotericin	+	-	-
Liposomal amikacin	+	-	-
Ciprofloxacin	-	+	-
Vankomycin	-	+	-
Levofloxacin	+	-	-

 Table 5. Devices for the inhalation of drugs in patients with cystic fibrosis [14]

*DPI — dry powder inhaler; **pMDI — pressurized, metered-dose inhaler

cycles of antibiotics from different groups are increasingly recommended as a strategy to improve treatment outcomes, especially in patients with advanced lung disease [20]. In Poland, the limited access to inhaled antibiotics is a huge problem: only the preparation of colistin (Colistin TZF) is reimbursed, while tobramycin is available as part of a drug program, that excludes colistin interchangeability. The restrictive eligibility criteria for the drug program significantly limit the availability of highly concentrated tobramycin preparations for inhalation.

Practical aspect of inhalation treatments

To optimize the effectiveness of treatment, it is very important to follow the principles and procedures of physiotherapy, which include:

- compliance with the procedures for combining inhalation and drainage treatments,
- use of appropriate breathing and positioning techniques,
- use in inhalations of increased expiratory pressure (PEP positive expiratory pressure),
- correct operation of the inhaler,
- continuous education of patients and their families.
- cleaning and disinfection of inhalers.

Procedures for combining inhalation and drainage treatments

• **Bronchodilators** — usually 10–15 minutes before physiotherapy; it is recommended to use them before inhalation with hypertonic saline or an antibiotic to prevent bronchospasm.

- Hypertonic saline solutions immediately before physiotherapy, but after administration of a bronchodilator. It can also be administered during airway clearance in combination with PEP or with oscillating positive expiratory pressure OPEP (OPEP). This saves the patient's time, but while it improves the deposition in the peripheral airways, the total lung deposition is reduced, so an increase in volume of the drug is often suggested, e.g. up to 5–6 mL. It should also be kept in mind that the drainage performed in this way is much less effective, and therefore it may be recommended for daily physiotherapy only in patients with a very bad motivation.
- **Dornase alfa (rhDNase)** usually nebulisation is performed after drainage and after at least 1.5–2 hours another drainage is performed. In some cases, however, the drainage time may be set individually. Based on a Cochrane review, it was found that dornase alfa can be administered before or after bronchial drainage, individually, depending on the patient [15]. It can be administered exceptionally in the evening, before going to bed. This decision should be made by the attending physician. At night, the patient's parents or guardians should monitor for excessive coughing. It should be emphasized that administering rhDNase in the evening is an exceptional situation and should not be a routine practice.
- Inhaled glucocorticosteroids usually used after physiotherapy.
- Inhaled antibiotics both dry powder inhalers and nebuliser solutions should be used after physiotherapy. Appropriate nebuliser systems should be used for antibiotics, depending on the manufacturer's recommendations (Table 8).

It should be remembered that the patient should rinse the oral cavity after both the use of steroids and after inhalation of dornase alfa, hypertonic saline solution and an antibiotic.

Breathing and positioning techniques

The use of breathing techniques that increase the deposition of the drug in the lungs depends on the age, severity of the disease and the patient's motivation. They can be used in cooperating patients with a very good motivation. Patients who are weakly motivated or who cannot cooperate yet, such as preschool children, are better advised

Drug	Trade name	Dosage	Nebuliser	Expiratory filter	Time from ACT	Comments
Inhaled antibiotic	s					
Liposomal amikacin	Arikayce	590mg/8.4 mL QD	Lamira Nebuliser System	yes	after ACT	alternating cycles of 28 days
Aztreonam Iysine	Cayston	75 mg TID	Altera nebuliser with eFlow controller unit	yes	after ACT	alternating cycles of 28 days
Colistimethate sodium	Colistin TZF	1–2 mln IU BID/TID max 6 mln IU/day	PARI LC STAR, eFlow rapid, PARI LC SPRINT, PARI LC PLUS*	yes	after ACT	chronic therapy
Colistin nebuli- ser solution	Promixin	1–2 mln IU BID/TID max 6 mln IU/day	PARI LC SPRINT, I-neb AAD-System; eFlow rapid	n/a	after ACT	chronic therapy
Lewofloxacin	Quinsair	240 mg BID	Zirela nebuliser with eFlow controller unit	yes	after ACT	alternating cycles of 28 days
Tobramycin	Bramitob	300 mg/4mL BID	PARI LC PLUS or PARI LC SPRINT/ /PARI BOY Pro	yes	after ACT	alternating cycles of 28 days
	Tobi	300 mg/5 mL BID	PARI LC PLUS	yes	after ACT	alternating cycles of 28 days
	Vantobra	170 mg/1.7 mL BID	Tolero nebuliser with eFlow controller unit	yes	after ACT	alternating cycles of 28 days
	Tobramycin Via Pharma	300 mg/5 mL BID	PARI LC PLUS, Pari LC Sprint Star	yes	after ACT	alternating cycles of 28 days
	Tobramycyna SUN	300 mg/5 mL BID	PARI LC PLUS, Pari LC Sprint Star	yes	after ACT	alternating cycles of 28 days
	Tobi Podhaler	112 mg (4 kaps) BID	podhaler DPI	n/a**	after ACT	alternating cycles of 28 days
Anti-fungal drugs	1					
Amphotericina B liposomal	Ambisome	50 mg/week	I-neb, PARI LC SPRINT STAR	n/a**	after ACT	
Mucolytics						
Dornase alfa	Pulmozyme	2.5 mg QD	Pari LC PLUS, eFlow rapid	no	usually after ACT and not earlier than > 1.5–2 hours before the next ACT	
Hypertonic saline		3–7%	Nebuliser Jet, eFlow rapid, I-neb	no	immediately before or during the ACT	
Mannitol***	Bronchitol	400 mg (10 kaps) BID	DPI	no	after ACT	High risk of bronchospasm

Table 6. Inhaled drugs used in patients with cystic fibrosis and nebulisers recommended by manufacturers

ACT — airway clearance technique (based on [8–11, 16–19]); QD — once a day; BID — twice a day; TID — three times a day

* no manufacturer indications regarding the type of nebulisers, the recommendations are based on the experience of Polish experts ** n/a (not applicable) *** third line drug in patients not responding to treatment with dornase alfa and hypertonic saline

Table 7. Antibiotics used in nebulisation solution in Pseudomonas aeruginosa respiratory tract infection in patients with cystic fibrosis — based on [20]

Antibiotics	Antibiotic group	Mechanism of action	Trade name	Nebulisation time	Dose	Frequency
Tobramycin	Aminoglycosides	Inhibition of protein synthesis	Tobramycin	15 min	300 mg/5 mL	BID
			Tobi	15 min	300 mg/5 mL	BID
			Bramitob	15 min	300 mg/4 mL	BID
			Vantobra	4 min	170 mg/1.7 mL	BID
			Tobramycin Via Pharma	15 min	300 mg/5 mL	BID
			Tobramycyna SUN	15min	300 mg/5 mL	BID
Aztreonam Iysine	Monobactams	Inhibition of bacterial wall protein synthesis	Cayston	2–3 min	75 mg/1 mL	TID
Levofloxacin	Fluoroquinolones	Effect on DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV	Quinsair	5 min	240 mg/2.4 mL	BID
Sodium	Polimyxin	Disturbance in the structure	Promixin	3 min	80 mg/3 mL	BID/TID
colistimethate		of bacterial cell membrane	Colistin TZF	15–30 min	1 mln IU (80 mg)*	BID/TID

BID — twice a day; TID — three times a day

* 1 vial contains 1 million IU (80 mg) of lyophilisate for solution for injection, infusion and inhalation

Table 8. Recommendations for cleaning and disinfection of nebulisers used by patients with cystic fibrosis at home and during hospital stay [21]

Recommendations for t	he hygiene of nebulisers				
At home	In the hospital				
1. Wash your hands thoroughly with soap and water and use a hand disinfectant gel before cleaning the nebuliser					
	Medical personnel should wear gloves and, after taking them off, follow recommendation 1				
2. Disconnect the nebuliser from the cor	npressor or controller and disassemble it				
3. Washing: wash the nebuliser parts in a solution to the manufacturer	n of warm water and dishwashing liquid according 's recommendations				
 Location: do not wash the nebuliser parts directly in the kitchen or bathroom sink or in the dishwasher. The nebuliser parts should be washed in a dedicated plastic, glass or metal bowl in the patient's kitchen 	4. Location: nebuliser parts should be washed in a dispose bowl, metal bowl or wash basin (but not directly in the si in the patient room				
5. Rinsing: use distilled water for the fin	al rinse, if any disinfection is not possible				
6. Wastewater treatment: dirty water should be poured down the toilet, its lid should be closed before flushing	6. Disposal of sewage: the metal bowl with dirty water should be taken to the departmental lock and poured out there, the metal bowl should be sterilized in an autoclave				
7. Wash your hands thoroughly with soa	p and water and use hand disinfectant gel				
8. Disinfection: the washed and rinsed nebulisers should then be disinfected after each use in an electric steam steriliser or scaled in boiling water	8. Disinfection: washed and rinsed nebulisers should be disinfected immediately after each use in an electric steam steriliser or reusable nebulisers can be autoclaved as recommended by the manufacturer				
9. Drying: nebulisers sh	ould be thoroughly dried				
10. Storage: leave the disinfected populiser part	s in a closed box until next use (within 24 hours)				

10. Storage: leave the disinfected nebuliser parts in a closed box until next use (within 24 hours)

to breathe calmly, in a natural breathing rhythm appropriate for each patient. A sitting position should be used during inhalation. However, in some patients, drug deposition may improve positioning in positions other than sitting. By using gravity, a better effect of sedimentation and deposition of drug particles in areas with a significant degree of disturbance of ventilation can be obtained. The physiotherapist decides whether to use certain positions.

Use of elevated expiratory pressure (PEP) during inhalation

Some devices operating in the PEP system can be connected to Jet nebulisers. However, there are no clear recommendations regarding the use of PEP for inhalation. Study results concerning differences of aerosol deposition in the lungs when inhaled with or without PEP are inconclusive. Studies show that when PEP is used, significantly less aerosol is deposited in the lungs than when inhaled without PEP [23]. At the same time, better aerosol deposition and more proportional aerosol distribution in the peripheral bronchi during inhalation with PEP than without PEP was observed [23, 24]. The condition for the use of PEP is good cooperation with the patient and knowledge of breathing techniques that reduce drug losses during exhalation with resistance.

Correct use of the inhalation device

Proper handling of the inhalation device allows for its trouble-free operation for many years and the production of good-quality aerosols. Attention should be paid to the correct cleaning of the jet-nebuliser or the perforated membrane in the MESH nebuliser system, replacement of the air filter in the compressor and the systematic replacement of used nebulisers and compressors with new ones.

Continuous education of patients and their families

The effectiveness of inhalation therapy depends on the inhalation technique and adherence to recommendations. Patients and their parents / guardians should receive repeated training in physiotherapy. In case of lack of the expected results of treatment, the method of performing inhalation and drainage procedures should always be checked and re-education should be performed.

Cleaning and disinfection of nebulisers

Proper daily use of inhalation devices is aimed at ensuring optimal drug delivery and the

prevention and control of infections [21, 22, 25]. Currently, there is a great need for education in this area, especially adults. The following are guidelines for cleaning and disinfecting nebulisers in both home and hospital settings (Table 8).

- 1. Always wash and disinfect new parts of the nebuliser before first use.
- 2. During a hospital stay as well as at home, wash and steam the parts of the nebuliser after each use.
- 3. The nebuliser should be washed and disinfected again immediately before use if it has not been used for more than 24 hours.
- 4. After boiling or steaming in a steam disinfector, the parts of the nebuliser should be immediately removed from the water or the steamer, and dried quickly and thoroughly. A sterilizer with a drying function can be used. Do not leave the nebuliser parts to dry on the dryer or on the edge of the wash basin or sink.
- 5. After cleaning the nebuliser, hands should be washed thoroughly with soap and water and hand disinfectant gel should be used.

This consensus was developed by a group of Polish experts experienced in the treatment of cystic fibrosis.

This publication was prepared without any external sources of funding.

Conflicts of interest

None declared.

References:

- Bell SC, Mall MA, Gutierrez H, et al. The future of cystic fibrosis care: a global perspective. Lancet Respir Med. 2020; 8(1): 65–124, doi: <u>10.1016/S2213-2600(19)30337-6</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31570318</u>.
- Castellani C, Duff AJA, Bell SC, et al. ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision. J Cyst Fibros. 2018; 17(2): 153–178, doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2018.02.006, indexed in Pubmed: 29506920.
- Bradley J. Standards of Care and Good Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cystic Fibrosis: CF Trust Physiotherapy Guidelines 2011. Cystic Fibrosis Trust : 2011.
- Flume PA, Robinson KA, O'Sullivan BP, et al. Clinical Practice Guidelines for Pulmonary Therapies Committee. Cystic fibrosis pulmonary guidelines: airway clearance therapies. Respir Care. 2009; 54(4): 522–537, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19327189</u>.
- Kaur R, Kaur R, Singh C, et al. Inhalational drug delivery in pulmonary aspergillosis. Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst. 2019; 36(3): 183–217, doi: <u>10.1615/CritRevTherDrugCarrier-Syst.2018025781</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31679246</u>.
- Bos AC, van Holsbeke C, de Backer JW, et al. Patient-specific modeling of regional antibiotic concentration levels in airways of patients with cystic fibrosis: are we dosing high enough? PLoS One. 2015; 10(3): e0118454, doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0118454</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>25734630</u>.
- Daniels T, Mills N, Whitaker P, et al. Nebuliser systems for drug delivery in cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2013; 14(2):

98–99, doi: <u>10.1016/j.prrv.2013.03.004</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>23583049</u>.

- Hubert D, Leroy S, Nove-Josserand R, et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of tobramycin administered by the PARI eFlow rapid nebulizer in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2009; 8(5): 332–337, doi: <u>10.1016/j.jcf.2009.07.001</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19651542</u>.
- Lenney W, Edenborough F, Kho P, et al. Lung deposition of inhaled tobramycin with eFlow rapid/LC Plus jet nebuliser in healthy and cystic fibrosis subjects. J Cyst Fibros. 2011; 10(1): 9–14, doi: <u>10.1016/j.jcf.2010.08.019</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>20884302</u>.
- Govoni M, Poli G, Acerbi D, et al. Pharmacokinetic and tolerability profiles of tobramycin nebuliser solution 300 mg/4 ml administered by PARI eFlow(®) rapid and PARI LC Plus(®) nebulisers in cystic fibrosis patients. Pulm Pharmacol Ther. 2013; 26(2): 249–255, doi: <u>10.1016/j.pupt.2012.12.002</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>23232039</u>.
- Schwarz C, Schulte-Hubbert B, Bend J, et al. CF Lung Disease a German S3 Guideline: Module 2: Diagnostics and Treatment in Chronic Infection with Pseudomonas aeruginosa]. Pneumology. 2018; 72(5): 347–92.
- Ari A. Jet, Ultrasonic, and Mesh Nebulizers: An evaluation of nebulizers for better clinical outcomes. Eurasian Journal of Pulmonology. 2014; 16(1): 1–7, doi: <u>10.5152/eip.2014.00087</u>.
- Ari A, Fink JB. Guidelines for aerosol devices in infants, children and adults: which to choose, why and how to achieve effective aerosol therapy. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2011; 5(4): 561–572, doi: <u>10.1586/ers.11.49</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>21859275</u>.
- Tiddens HA, Bos AC, Mouton JW, et al. Inhaled antibiotics: dry or wet? Eur Respir J. 2014; 44(5): 1308–1318, doi: <u>10.1183/09031936.00090314</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>25323242</u>.
- Yang C, Montgomery M, Yang C, et al. Dornase alfa for cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016; 4: CD001127–67, doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD001127.pub3</u>, indexed in Pubmed: 27043279.
- Kirkby S, Novak K, McCoy K. Aztreonam (for inhalation solution) for the treatment of chronic lung infections in patients with cystic fibrosis: an evidence-based review. Core Evid.

2011; 6: 59–66, doi: <u>10.2147/CE.S11181</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22022288</u>.

- Bilton D, Fajac I, Pressler T, et al. CLEAR-110 Study Group, CLEAR-108 Study Group. Amikacin liposome inhalation suspension for chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2020; 19(2): 284–291, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> jcf.2019.08.001, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31451351</u>.
- Elborn JS, Flume PA, Cohen F, et al. Safety and efficacy of prolonged levofloxacin inhalation solution (APT-1026) treatment for cystic fibrosis and chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa airway infection. J Cyst Fibros. 2016; 15(5): 634–640, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> jcf.2016.01.005, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26935334</u>.
- Wark P, McDonald VM, Wark P, et al. Nebulised hypertonic saline for cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009; 9(2): CD001506, doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD001506.pub3</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19370568</u>.
- Taccetti G, Francalanci M, Pizzamiglio G, et al. Cystic Fibrosis: Recent insights into inhaled antibiotic treatment and future perspectives. Antibiotics (Basel). 2021; 10(3), doi: <u>10.3390/</u> <u>antibiotics10030338</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33810116</u>.
- Bell J, Alexander L, Carson J, et al. Nebuliser hygiene in cystic fibrosis: evidence-based recommendations. Breathe (Sheff). 2020; 16(2): 190328, doi: <u>10.1183/20734735.0328-2019</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32684992</u>.
- 22. MacFarlane M, Carson L, Crossan A, et al. Nebuliser cleaning and disinfection practice in the home among patients with cystic fibrosis. J Infect Prev. 2020; 21(1): 14–22, doi: 10.1177/1757177419855603, indexed in Pubmed: 32030099.
- Laube BL, Geller DE, Lin TC, et al. Positive expiratory pressure changes aerosol distribution in patients with cystic fibrosis. Respir Care. 2005; 50(11): 1438–1444, indexed in Pubmed: <u>16253150</u>.
- Orlik T, Sands D. The use of increased expiratory pressure (PEP) in inhalations in patients with cystic fibrosis. Med Age of Roz. 2015; XIX(1): 50–59.
- Heijerman H, Westerman E, Conway S, et al. consensus working group. Inhaled medication and inhalation devices for lung disease in patients with cystic fibrosis: A European consensus. J Cyst Fibros. 2009; 8(5): 295–315, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> jcf.2009.04.005, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19559658</u>.

Johnny F Jaber¹, Ayoub Innabi², Divya C Patel²

¹Division of Internal Medicine, University of Florida Health, Gainesville, United States ²Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care, and Sleep Medicine, University of Florida Health, Gainesville, United States

Rasmussen's aneurysm: a rare and potentially fatal cause of hemoptysis

Abstract

Rasmussen's aneurysm is a rare and fatal cause of hemoptysis secondary to infection with pulmonary tuberculosis. The most commonly involved vessels include the bronchial arteries, but rarely can involve the pulmonary artery.

We report the case of a 62-year-old female from the Philippines with undiagnosed pulmonary tuberculosis who presented with massive hemoptysis. After hemodynamic stabilization, Rasmussen's aneurysm was diagnosed by computed tomography of the chest with angiography, confirmed with invasive angiography. She was treated definitively with glue embolization of the affected artery.

Key words: hemoptysis, tuberculosis, critical care, angiography

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 581-584

Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB), caused by the bacterium Mycoplasma tuberculosis, is an infectious disease with significant global burden, with approximately 25% of the world's population estimated to be infected [1]. Multidrug resistant strains have become an increasing problem complicating treatment. In the United States, however, the incidence rate of TB has been consistently declining for at least the past fifty years. In 2019, the United States' TB rate declined to its lowest rate vet, at 2.7 cases per 100,000 persons [2]. A large portion of these cases are attributed to reactivation of latent TB infection. Because of its low incidence overall in the United States, and effective screening programs in high-risk populations, significant complications are rarely seen. We present a case of a patient with a previously undiagnosed TB infection who suffered massive hemoptysis due to invasive cavitation of the pulmonary parenchyma with involvement of an adjacent branch of the pulmonary artery, a phenomenon known as the Rasmussen's aneurysm.

Case presentation

A 62-year-old woman from the Philippines presented to the hospital with a complaint of dyspnea and hemoptysis. The patient initially began to have dyspnea at rest for several months. One month prior to presentation, she developed a productive cough. The patient was diagnosed by her primary care provider with "acute bronchitis" and was first given a course of levofloxacin, then three courses of amoxicillin. Despite this, she continued to have worsening cough with blood noted in the sputum, prompting her to come to the emergency department. Her prior medical history included hypertension and a history of breast cancer on tamoxifen therapy. She also had a history of multiple positive purified protein derivative (PPD) tests for TB in the past, but with no formal diagnosis or treatment of latent TB.

On initial physical examination, the patient was dyspneic but able to speak full sentences. Her oxygen saturation was 95% on room air. Pulmonary exam was remarkable for bilateral rhonchi to lung auscultation. The rest of physical exam was

Address for correspondence: Johnny Jaber, Division of Internal Medicine, University of Florida Health, Gainesville, United States; e-mail: johnny.jaber@medicine.ufl.edu D0I: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0018 | Received: 01.12.2020 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

unremarkable. While the patient was waiting in the emergency department, she experienced an episode of massive hemoptysis, became hypoxic, and then bradycardic without pulse. Advanced cardiac life support was initiated, and she received four rounds of cardiopulmonary resuscitation with return of spontaneous circulation. Subsequently she was intubated, resuscitated with fluids, and then started on a norepinephrine drip for shock. Initial laboratory workup revealed a hemoglobin level of 8.8 g/dL (baseline was 14 g/dL), white blood cell count of 19,600/mm³, and lactate of 8.8 mmol/L. The patient was taken emergently for computed tomographic pulmonary angiography (CTPA) which showed an active pulmonary arterial bleed in the left lower lobe, with an associated 4.5 cm blood filled mass-like cavitary lesion in the left upper lobe in proximity with mentioned bleeding artery (Figures 1, 2). Invasive pulmonary angiography was performed confirming a large pseudoaneurysm arising from the proximal left lower lobe pulmonary artery with active bleeding into a cavitary lesion (Figure 3).

The patient underwent emergent glue embolization with coils placed in the remnant proximal left lower lobar pulmonary artery (Figure 4). Sputum and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) specimens were sent for acid-fast bacilli (AFB) direct and concentrated smears. These were positive for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex without any drug resistance genes. The patient was started on a liver sparing anti-tuberculosis regimen as she showed evidence of acute hepatic injury, likely due to shock. The regimen included rifampin, ethambutol, and levofloxacin. She remained sedated and intubated for five days following the embolization. There were no further episodes of hemoptysis and her hemoglobin remained stable.

Unfortunately, the patient was diagnosed with a severe anoxic brain injury as a result of her initial cardiac arrest. Her family requested a change in her goals of care to comfort care. Her anti-tuberculosis regimen was maintained until her passing for infection control purposes.

Discussion

The differential diagnosis of life-threatening hemoptysis such as in this patient includes bronchiectasis (particularly in cystic fibrosis), fungal infections, tuberculosis, malignancy, and vascular disorders including the vasculitides [3, 4]. Based on our patient's previously positive PPD tests, imaging studies, and the fact that the patient lived in an endemic country for most of her life,



Figure 1. Coronal CT of the chest showing the mediastinal window of a left upper lobe cavitation in direct contact with the left lower branch of the pulmonary artery



Figure 2. Transverse CT of the chest showing the lung window of a left upper lobe cavitation in direct contact with the left lower branch of the pulmonary artery

there was a high suspicion that the hemoptysis was secondary to TB infection. Pulmonary TB presents with a variety of symptoms, which are usually insidious in onset and progression. Symptoms include low-grade fever, night sweats, cough, weight loss and mild hemoptysis that usually persist for weeks before patients seek healthcare. Rarely, patients can present with massive hemoptysis, which has a mortality rate up to



Figure 3. Angiography of the left upper lobe of the lung demonstrating active bleeding into the cavitary lesion

50%. Massive hemoptysis in tuberculosis can be caused by a phenomenon known as the Rasmussen's aneurysm, as was the case with our patient. Rasmussen's aneurysm is a potential complication of chronic cavitary pulmonary disease, due to the invasion into the pulmonary vasculature. In a post-mortem analysis of patients with chronic cavitary tuberculosis, it has been estimated that up to 4% of patients had pathology consistent with Rasmussen's aneurysm [4]. Of those with massive hemoptysis secondary to a Rasmussen's aneurysm, the most commonly involved vessels are the bronchial arteries. In less than 10% of cases, the main pulmonary artery may be involved.

Rasmussen's aneurysm is a pseudo-aneurysmal dilatation of a branch of pulmonary artery adjacent to a tuberculous cavity that can rupture and cause massive hemoptysis. As a tuberculous cavity begins to extend into the pulmonary artery, granulation tissue begins to invade and replace the adjacent pulmonary arterial wall (specifically the tunica adventitia and tunica media). Fibrin replacement of the vessel wall leads to thinning, and eventually herniates into the lumen of the vessel creating a pseudoaneurysm [5]. This pathology is reported to be associated with 5% of all tuberculous cavitary lesions [6]. The advent of contrast-enhanced CT has enabled a noninvasive, first-line method of localizing the site of arterial bleeding in the setting of massive hemoptysis, as seen in our case [7]. In our patient, both fiberoptic bronchoscopy and CTPA helped to identify the



Figure 4. Post-embolization angiography of the left upper lobe of the lung demonstrating resolution of the bleeding pulmonary artery

site of bleeding from a pulmonary artery pseudoaneurysm, leading to prompt intervention.

After resuscitation and stabilization of the patient, endovascular management techniques like trans-arterial catheter embolization are the preferred management strategy. Embolization techniques can include glue embolization, coil packaging, gel foam, detachable balloons, or stent grafts [6]. In Rasmussen's aneurysm, glue embolization is the preferred technique due to the fragility of the artery [8].

Conclusions

Rasmussen's aneurysm is a rare complication of pulmonary TB that can cause life-threatening hemoptysis, particularly in non-endemic countries. In patients presenting with massive hemoptysis, it is important to include in the differential diagnosis, and treat rapidly with embolization. Glue embolization is the preferred trans-catheter technique due to the fragility of the involved vasculature.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

- Houben RM, Dodd PJ. The global burden of latent tuberculosis infection: a re-estimation using mathematical modelling. PLoS Med. 2016; 13(10): e1002152, doi: <u>10.1371/journal.</u> <u>pmed.1002152</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27780211</u>.
- Schwartz NG, Price SF, Pratt RH, et al. Tuberculosis United States, 2019. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020; 69(11): 286–289, doi: <u>10.15585/mmwr.mm6911a3</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32191684</u>.
- Kim HY, Song KS, Goo JM, et al. Thoracic sequelae and complications of tuberculosis. Radiographics. 2001; 21(4): 839– 858, doi: <u>10.1148/radiographics.21.4.g01jl06839</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>11452057</u>.
- Rajamannar KV, Kilaru H, Aravelly S, et al. Massive hemoptysis from Rasmussen's aneurysm in active pulmonary tuberculosis; A case report of successful treatment with bronchial artery

embolization. Respir Med Case Rep. 2017; 22: 277–279, doi: 10.1016/j.rmcr.2017.10.003, indexed in Pubmed: 29124005.

- Sapra R, Sharma G, Minz AK. Rasmussen's aneurysm: A rare and forgotten cause of hemoptysis. Indian Heart J. 2015; 67 Suppl 3: S53–S56, doi: <u>10.1016/j.ihj.2015.07.009</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26995433</u>.
- Chatterjee A, Jackson AE, Acharya D, et al. Transcatheter closure of pulmonary arteriovenous malformation to facilitate treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2018; 11(6): e45–e46, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> jcin.2017.12.014, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29501545</u>.
- Keeling AN, Costello R, Lee MJ. Rasmussen's aneurysm: a forgotten entity? Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2008; 31(1): 196–200, doi: 10.1007/s00270-007-9122-6, indexed in Pubmed: 17659424.
- Garcia-Reina S, Martinez-Barenys C, Fernandez E. Giant Rasmussen's Aneurysm. Ann Thorac Surg. 2018; 106(4): e205, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2018.03.032, indexed in Pubmed: 29673635.

Ourania Papaioannou, Theodoros Karampitsakos, Matthaios Katsaras, Fotios Sampsonas, Argyrios Tzouvelekis

Department of Respiratory Medicine, University Hospital of Patras, University of Patras, Greece

Clinical improvement in Job syndrome following administration of co-trimoxazole, omalizumab and inhaled tobramycin

Abstract

Established treatment regimens for the autosomal dominant hyperimmunoglobulin E syndrome, denominated Job syndrome, are lacking. Thus, Job syndrome still exerts a dramatic impact on patients' quality of life. Our aim was to present safety and effectiveness of a regimen including co-trimoxazole, omalizumab and inhaled tobramycin in Job syndrome. A 26-year-old woman diagnosed with Job syndrome since infancy through sequencing revealing G342D mutation in STAT3 gene was initiated in the above mentioned treatment regimen; she was followed for 6 months, and to date, none recurrent pulmonary or skin infection was noticed. Furthermore, a considerable improvement in skin lesions was observed. A combination of anti-IgE and longitudinal use of inhaled antibiotics seems well-founded in Job syndrome.

Key words: Job syndrome, recurrent infections, omalizumab, inhaled antibiotics

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 585-588

Introduction

A 26-year-old woman, never smoker, presented to our department with cough, yellow sputum and localized left chest pain. Chest radiograph revealed consolidation in the left lower lobe and a fluid-filled cavity in the middle lobe. She denied the presence of fever, night sweats or weight loss. She had a medical history of Job syndrome diagnosed during infancy based on compatible genetic (G342D mutation in STAT3 gene) and clinical (recurrent lower respiratory and skin infections in need of repeated hospitalizations with several courses of empirical antimicrobial agents) findings.

Material and methods

Physical examination findings

Physical examination revealed the following vital signs: blood pressure of 110/70 mm Hg; heart rate, 85 beats/min; temperature, 36,8°C and oxygen saturation, 97% on room air. Lung

auscultation revealed crackles mainly on left side while heart and abdomen examination results were unremarkable. There were no palpable lymph nodes. Clubbing was present, as well as extensive skin lesions on the upper limbs and hyperextensibility of finger joints.

Diagnostic studies

The complete blood and metabolic panel revealed elevated white blood cells (WBC) (16,1 K/ μ L) with neutrophilic predominance on admission (62%) and eosinophilic predominance on discharge (40%) and elevated c-reactive protein (22,33 mg/dL). Urinalysis and electrocardiogram were normal. Chest computed tomography (CT) showed cystic bronchiectatic lesions in the right upper lobe combined with a fluid-filled cavity within the middle lobe and consolidation in the left lower lobe (Figure 1). The patient underwent conventional bronchoscopy with the presence of purulent bronchial secretions bilaterally and hemorrhagic mucosa in the middle lobe. Culture of washing for common pathogens was

Address for correspondence: Argyrios Tzouvelekis, Associate Professor of Respiratory Medicine, Head Department of Respiratory Medicine, University of Patras, Greece; e-mail: atzouvelekis@upatras.gr

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0079 | Received: 24.07.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1. Chest computed tomography showed cystic bronchiectasis in the right upper lobe (A), a fluid-filled cavity in the middle lobe (B) and consolidation in the left lower lobe (C)

positive for Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) infection and negative for mycobacterium infection. Cytological examination of washing was negative for malignancy. Pulmonary function tests showed bronchodilator reversibility (PRE: forced expiratory volume in 1 second [FEV₁] / forced vital capacity [FVC]: 83%, FEV₁ of 1.65 L [59% of predicted] and FVC of 2 L [63% of predicted] — POST: FEV₁/FVC: 87%, FEV₁ of 1.8 L [68% of predicted] and FVC of 2.06 L [66% of predicted]). Skin prick test was positive for mixed fungus, Tilia tomentosa and Candida. Moxifloxacin and linezolid were administered for ten days based on antibiogram. An improvement on chest radiogram performed four weeks later was obvious. This was the sixth hospitalization for our patient within the previous year attributed to pneumonia following multiple hospitalizations since infancy due to recurrent lower respiratory or skin infections.

Clinical course

The patient was admitted with recurrent pneumonia in setting of diagnosed Job syndrome since infancy. Genetic confirmation of the disease had been conducted through sequencing revealing G342D mutation in STAT3 gene. Recent laboratory examination had revealed remarkably elevated serum IgE levels >30 000 IU/mL and eosinophilia (31% WBC count: 9.27 K/µL). During her last hospitalization, the patient was treated with antimicrobial therapy based on antibiogram, as part of symptomatic management of recurrent respiratory infections observed throughout the clinical course of syndrome. Considering multiple hospitalizations and extensive post-infectious structural abnormalities of lung parenchyma, multidisciplinary approach vielded a therapeutic regimen including biological anti-IgE agent and longitudinal antibiotics on a chemoprophylactic basis as the optimal strategy. In particular, the patient was commenced on co-trimoxazole, omalizumab and inhaled tobramycin. Established evidence has shown that co-trimoxazole is a safe and effective substitution to penicillins and has anti-MRSA coverage [1]. Furthermore, omalizumab, a monoclonal anti-IgE, has been shown closely related to a decline in serum IgE with symptomatic improvement especially in atopic conditions [2-4]. Eventually, inhaled antibiotics have emerged as a new option for specific groups of patients, including patients with bronchiectasis, combining high drug concentrations directly to the site of infection and concomitantly minimizing systemic absorption and potential side effects. Co-trimoxazole was administered orally in prophylactic dosage three times a week, omalizumab in dosage adjusted by the patient's weight and baseline IgE once a month subcutaneously and inhaled tobramycin 300 mg twice a day. The woman was followed for 6 months, with no recurrent respiratory or skin infections. Furthermore, a considerable improvement of skin lesions was observed (Figure 2). To the extent of our knowledge, this is the first time that combination of anti-IgE and longitudinal use of inhaled antibiotics is proposed in Job syndrome.

Discussion

Hyperimmunoglobulin E syndrome is a rare primary immunodeficiency disorder characterized by eczema, skin abscesses, recurrent staphylococcal infections of the skin and lungs, pneumatocele formation, candidiasis, eosinophilia, and elevated serum levels of IgE [5]. It was


Figure 2. Improvement of skin lesions following administration of omalizumab for 6 months

first described as "Job syndrome" by David et al. in 1966 in two patients with eczema, recurrent pulmonary infections and cold lung abscesses and was later associated by Buckley et al. in 1972 with increased serum immunoglobulin E levels [6]. Job syndrome is classified as the autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome, in which patients have abnormalities in different systems, including the immune system, connective tissue, skeletal and vascular structures [7]. It is attributed to a mutation in the STAT3 gene in more than two-thirds of cases (70%) with the etiology of the rest cases remaining unclear [8]. Clinical signs of immunological features include recurrent skin and pulmonary bacterial or candidiasis infections. Staphylococcus aureus is the predominant pathogen resulting in follicular skin lesions or recurrent lung abscesses, bronchiectasis and pneumatoceles. Streptococcus pneumoniae and Haemophilus are observable less frequently, while Aspergillus and Pseudomonas are usual cause of chronic colonization of bronchiectasis. The main laboratory diagnostic feature is an increase in serum IgE levels of more than 2000 IU/mL. Eosinophilia is observed in more than 90% of the patients while WBC count can be normal, elevated or reduced in number [9]. The established treatment is the long-term, sometimes consecutive, use of antibiotics by adapting the administration of antimicrobial agents to opportunistic infections occurring in affected patients, and in selected cases, applying surgical procedures during abscess development. In order to overcome purely symptomatic treatment applied for the moment, biological treatment with monoclonal antibodies or combination of biologics and antibiotics could be an optimal strategy. Further studies towards this direction are greatly anticipated.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

References:

 Hattori K, Hasui M, Masuda K, et al. Successful trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole therapy in a patient with hyperimmunoglobulin E syndrome. Acta Paediatr. 1993; 82(3): 324–326, doi: <u>10.1111/j.1651-2227.1993.tb12674.x</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>8495097</u>.

- Casale TB. Anti-immunoglobulin E (omalizumab) therapy in seasonal allergic rhinitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001; 164(8 Pt 2): S18–S21, doi: <u>10.1164/ajrccm.164.supplement_1.2103023</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>11704613</u>.
- Milgrom H, Berger W, Nayak A, et al. Treatment of childhood asthma with anti-immunoglobulin E antibody (omalizumab). Pediatrics. 2001; 108(2): E36, doi: <u>10.1542/peds.108.2.e36</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>11483846</u>.
- Alonso-Bello CD, Jiménez-Martínez MD, Vargas-Camaño ME, et al. Partial and transient clinical response to omalizumab in IL-21-induced low STAT3-phosphorylation on hyper-IgE syndrome. Case Reports Immunol. 2019; 2019: 6357256, doi: 10.1155/2019/6357256, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31355024</u>.
- Donabedian H, Alling DW, Gallin JI. Levamisole is inferior to placebo in the hyperimmunoglobulin E recurrent-infection (Job's) syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1982; 307(5): 290–292,

doi: <u>10.1056/NEJM198207293070506</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>6806658</u>.

- Grimbacher B, Holland SM, Gallin JI, et al. Hyper-IgE syndrome with recurrent infections--an autosomal dominant multisystem disorder. N Engl J Med. 1999; 340(9): 692–702, doi: <u>10.1056/</u> <u>NEJM199903043400904</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>10053178</u>.
- Gernez Y, Freeman AF, Holland SM, et al. Autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome in the USIDNET registry. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2018; 6(3): 996–1001, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> jaip.2017.06.041, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28939137</u>.
- Goel S, Sahu S, Minz RW, et al. STAT3-mediated transcriptional regulation of osteopontin in STAT3 loss-of-function related hyper IgE syndrome. Front Immunol. 2018; 9: 1080, doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01080, indexed in Pubmed: 29868029.
- Hashemi H, Mohebbi M, Mehravaran S, et al. Hyperimmunoglobulin E syndrome: Genetics, immunopathogenesis, clinical findings, and treatment modalities. J Res Med Sci. 2017; 22: 53, doi: <u>10.4103/jrms.JRMS_1050_16</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28567072</u>.

Vikas Marwah[®], Robin Choudhary[®], Virender Malik[®], Arpita Pemmaraju[®], Deepu Peter[®] Army Institute of Cardiothoracic Science, Armed Forces Medical College, Pune, India

Army Institute of Cardiothoracic Sciences, Department of pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep medicine, Pune, India

Early experience of nintedanib in COVID-19 ARDS-related pulmonary fibrosis: a case series

Abstract

The current COVID-19 pandemic has spread like wildfire worldwide and has affected millions of people. The novel corona virus mainly affects the lungs leading to life threatening disease like acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). The aftermath of the disease in form of pulmonary fibrosis is upcoming cause of further increase in morbidity and mortality. Nintedanib is an oral antifibrotics with proven role in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, however its use in COVID-19 related pulmonary fibrosis has not been studied. We report our early experience of use of nintedanib in COVID-19 related pulmonary fibrosis.

Key words: SARS-CoV-2, ARDS, pulmonary fibrosis, antifibrotics, nintedanib

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 589-596

Introduction

The current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic has affected millions of people worldwide. It mainly affects the lung progressing to respiratory failure. Post COVID-19 ARDS related pulmonary fibrosis is an important entity which is posing a management dilemma to the clinicians. The pulmonary fibrosis begins early in the course of ARDS and is more common in patients with longer duration of ICU stay [1, 2]. The risk factors constitutes advanced age, male gender, underlying co-morbidities like diabetes and patients with severe COVID-19 disease [3–5]. The pathophysiology of pulmonary fibrosis in COVID-19 patients includes dysregulated immune mechanisms which causes generalized epithelial and endothelial injury and finally an aberrant healing process leading to pulmonary fibrosis [1, 6, 7]. Nintedanib is currently used widely in management of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and prevents the decline in lung function [8–10]. Here we present our early experience of use of nintedanib in COVID-19 related pulmonary fibrosis.

Case series

This is a case series of four patients carried admitted at our tertiary care hospital in western Maharashtra from April 2020 to October 2020. All four patients were confirmed COVID-19 cases by nasopharyngeal swab RT-PCR test.

Case 1

A 62-years-old female with no known co-morbidities, reported to emergency with history of fever and cough of five days and insidious onset breathlessness of one day duration. She was diagnosed as COVID-19 infection on her nasopharyngeal RT PCR test. She reported to the hospital on seventh day of symptoms and on arrival, she was tachypnoeic and her saturation was 78% on room air which improved to 90% with oxygen through non- rebreather mask (NRBM) at 15 litres/min. On evaluation, she had mild anaemia (Hb-12 gm/dL) with lymphopenia and high neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio (N/L-8). Her liver enzymes and renal function tests were within normal limits. Her chest radiograph showed

Address for correspondence: Robin Choudhary, Army Institute of Cardiothoracic Sciences, Department of pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep medicine, 411040 Pune, India, e-mail: robinch19@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0113 | Received: 07.05.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1A. Chest skiagram showing bilateral airspace opacities in mid and lower zones; **B**, **C**. High resolution computed tomogram of chest showing pulmonary fibrosis in bilateral lower lobes; **D**. Chest skiagram showing improvement after 3 weeks of antifibrotics therapy

bibasal peripheral airspace opacities (Figure 1A). She was managed with injectable antibiotics, steroids (Inj dexamethasone 6 mg once daily for 10 days), therapeutic dose of low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) and oxygen therapy. However, she had progression of disease to acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and was not maintaining saturation on high flow oxygen, therefore was commenced on non-invasive ventilation (NIV) (settings: pressure support — 4 cm H_20 , PEEP — 10–12 cm H_20 , FiO₂ — on titration with target saturation 88-92%). Her arterial blood gas showed hypoxemia with low partial pressure of oxygen (pO_2) to fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) — (pO_2/FiO_2) less than 100. She also showed features of hyperinflammation in form of raised LDH, ferritin, CRP and IL-6 (Table 1) for which she was administered 2 doses of tocilizumab (8 mL/kg), 24 hours apart. She was also given two doses of COVID convalescent plasma (CCP) (200 mg/dose), 24 hours apart. The patient showed significant response and was gradually weaned off NIV but she continued to have high oxygen requirement. Her chest roentgenogram showed dense fibrotic opacities in bilateral lower zones. She underwent a high resolution computed tomography (HRCT) of chest which showed severe involvement of bilateral lung with fibrosis in bilateral lower zones which was more on the right side (Figure 1B, C). She was diagnosed as post COVID-19 ARDS pulmonary fibrosis and was commenced on oral tablet nintedanib (150 mg twice daily). She showed significant response and was gradually weaned off high flow nasal oxygen after 3 weeks and was discharged on minimal domiciliary oxygen supplementation. The follow-up chest roentgenogram showed significant clearing of fibrotic opacities (Figure 1D).

Case 2

A 36-years old male with no known co-morbidities, initially reported with history of fever and cough of three days duration and history of breathlessness of one day duration. On arrival, he was tachypnoeic (respiratory rate — 32/min) and hypoxic at room air (82% at room air and

		Patient 1		Patient 2		Patient 3		Patie	int 4
Date	Normal values	11/07	06/08	04/08	11/08	22/7	1/12	22/10/2020	04/12/2020
Hb [g/dL]	13.5–17.5 [Men] 12–15.5 [Women]	13.3	11.4	15.6	15.4	13.3	14.2	14.3	14.2
TLC[/cmm]	4000-11000	11700	4100	15800	9500	3100	5100	4400	0006
Neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio	0.78-3.53	90/05	64/20	92/04	86/09	78/19	85/13	72/21	63/27
Plt[/cmm]	150,000-400,000	265000	157000	216000	294000	127000	129000	95000	256000
CPK/CKMB	21-232/5-25	197/98	223/68	51/24	46	774/42	247/48	300/50	68/24
PT/INR/PTTK	11-12.5/0.8-1.1/ /30-45 seconds	14/1.0/42.5	22.1/1.82/40	27.7/2.05/41	30/2.0/44	14.7/1.05/46	17.2/1.34/29	18/2/5/28	14/1.08/24
UREA [mg/dL]	10–30	31	11	34	59	57	65	35	14
CREATININE [mg/dl]	0.7–1.3	0.8	0.2	1.1	0.7	1.4	1.1	0.7	0.7
alt/ast [IU/L]	15-37/16-63	72/31	58/53	29/59	67/42	109/35	42/37	<i>21/11</i>	91/85
LDH [IU/L]	85-227	993	636	237	345	724	927	245	314
Procalcitonin [µg/L]	< 0.05	3.93	< 0.05	< 0.05	< .022	0.90	0.03	< 0.05	< 0.05
D.DIMER [g/L]	< 0.50	1.96	5	8.0	.50	4.1	> 20	5.2	2
S. Ferritin [pg/mL]	24-336 [men] 11-307 [women]	710	650	006	804	597	984	727	450
CRP [mg/L]	< 10 mg/L	40	Neg	38	Positive	48	24	6.3	16
IL6 [pg/mL]	5-15	24	15	20	12	18	19	35.4	2.4
TG [mg/dL]	< 150	334	152	51	93	69	150	230	200
g/dL — grams per decilitre; TLC — to thromboplastin time activated with kar IL-6 — interleukin 6, TG — triglyceride	tal leukocyte count; /cmm — Nin [hemostasis]; mg/dL — n 35	 per cubic milimeter, miligrams per decilitre; 	Plt — platelets; CPK - ; ALT — alanine transa	— creatinine phosphoki iminase; AST — aspart	inase; MB — creatin ate transaminase; IU/	ine kinase; PT — prothr /L — international unit p	ombin time; INR — in er liter; LDH — lactate	ternational normalised 9 dehydrogenase; CRP	ratio; PTTK — partial — C-reactive protein;



Figure 2A. Chest skiagram showing bilateral airspace opacities involving all the lobes; B. Chest skiagram showing radiological improvement after 3 weeks of nintedanib

	Pati	ient 1	Pati	ent 2	Pati	ent 3	Pati	ent 4
	Day 1	Day 10	Day 1	Day 8	Day 1	Day 6	22/10/2020	04/12/2020
pH (7.35–7.45)	7.3	7.38	7.42	7.45	7.36	7.42	7.39	7.45
pCO2 (mmHg) (35–45)	38	38	32	38	40	38	36	38
p0₂ mmHg (80–100)	40	55	50	58	40	56	52	58
HCO ₃ (mEq/L) (22–26)	18	23	23	25	20	24	22	25

Table 2. Arterial blood gas details of COVID-19	patients pre and pos	t (4 weeks) nintedanib
---	----------------------	------------------------

94% with oxygen through NRBM). On evaluation, he had lymphopenia (total leukocyte count-3100/Cumm) with high neutrophil/leukocyteratio (> 3.8). He also had raised markers of hyperinflammation (LDH, ferritin, D-dimer and interleukin 6 levels) (Table 1). His chest roentgenogram showed severe COVID pneumonia with bilateral air space opacities and consolidation in mid and lower zones (Figure 2A). His arterial blood gas showed features of type-1 respiratory failure with ARDS (pH - 7.42, pO₂ - 45, pCO₂ - 28, $HCO_3 - 24$). He was managed as a case of severe COVID-19 pneumonia with injectable antibiotics, parenteral steroids (Inj dexamethasone 6 mg once daily for 10 days), therapeutic dose of LMWH and oxygen therapy through NRBM@ 15 litre/min. However, his respiratory parameters worsened requiring non-invasive ventilation (settings: Pressure support — 2-4 cm H₂0, PEEP — 10-12 cm H_20 , FiO_2 — on titration with target saturation 88-92%). He showed favourable response but continued to have high oxygen demand. He was diagnosed as having COVID-19 related pulmonary fibrosis and started on nintedanib (150 mg twice daily) and he showed significant response with improvement in oxygenation after four weeks (Figure 2B, Table 2).

Case 3

72-year-old male, non-smoker, known case of type-II diabetes mellitus and primary hypertension reported with history of fever, cough and generalised malaise of three days and history of increased breathlessness of one day duration. On arrival he was tachypnoeic (respiratory rate - 35/min) and hypoxic at room air (saturation at room air — 80%). On evaluation, he had normal complete blood count, liver and kidney function tests but had raised serum markers of hyperinflammation. He was managed with parenteral steroids (Inj dexamethasone 6 mg once daily for 10 days), IV antibiotics, subcutaneous LMWH and oxygen therapy through NRBM@ 15 litres/min. Hid ABG showed features of type-1 respiratory failure and ARDS ($pO_2/FiO_2 < 100$). He was also given two doses of injection tocilizumab for cyto-



Figure 3A, B. High resolution computed tomography of chest showing fibrotic opacities in bilateral upper lobes (left > right)

kine storm syndrome. However, even after three weeks of intensive management, he continued to have high oxygen requirement. His HRCT of chest showed moderate involvement of bilateral lung with post COVID-19 changes in form of dense fibrosis in bilateral upper lobe (Figure 3A, B). He was started on oral nintedanib and he showed significant improvement and was weaned off oxygen after four weeks.

Case 4

52-year-old male, known case of type-II diabetes mellitus on oral hypoglycaemic agents, presented with history of fever with chills and dry cough of four days duration. he reported to emergency department on sixth day of symptoms, with history of increased breathlessness. On arrival he was hypoxic (saturation at room air – 82% and 92% with oxygen through NRBM@ 15 litres/min). On examination, he was febrile and maintaining saturation at room air (94%). On evaluation, he had normal complete blood count, liver and renal parameters. However, he had raised parameters of hyperinflammation (Table 1). His arterial blood gas showed features of type-1 respiratory failure with ARDS (pH — 7.39, pO₂ — 36, pCO₂ — 52, HCO₃ — 22). His chest skiagram showed bilateral diffuse peripheral airspace opacities and HRCT of chest showed peripheral ground glass opacities with an apico-basal gradient. He was managed with inj dexamethasone (6 mg once daily for 14 days), antibiotics, intermediate dose of LMWH (Inj LMWH 40 mg Subcutaneous route twice daily) and NIV (settings: pressure support — 2–4 cm H₂0, PEEP — 10–12 cm H_20 , FiO₂ — on titration with target saturation 88-92%). He showed good response initially but later there were features of disease progression in form of dyspnoea and increased oxygen requirement for which he was started on NIV (settings: pressure support -2-4 cm H₂0, PEEP — 10–12 cm H_20 , FiO₂ — 100% initially later on titration with target saturation 88–92%). He was managed with increased dose of steroids (Inj dexamethasone 6 mg twice daily and therapeutic dose of LMWH. He showed improvement and his steroids were tapered off but he continued to have oxygen requirements. Computed tomography pulmonary angiography (CTPA) was done which did not reveal any evidence of pulmonary embolism but showed features of severe involvement of bilateral lung and interlobular and interseptal thickening with traction bronchiectasis (Figure 4A, B). He was started on antifibrotics (nintedanib tablet 150 mg twice daily). He has completed four weeks of antifibrotics and has shown significant response and is presently maintaining saturation at room air (Figure 4C, D).

DISCUSSION

The current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic has spread like wildfire and has affected millions of people around the world. COVID-19 primarily affects lungs and has a varied presentation including organising pneumonia to severe lung injury inform of acute respiratory distress syndrome [China, and has subsequently spread worldwide. Risk factors for the clinical outcomes of COVID-19 pneumonia have not yet been well delineated. Objective To describe the clinical characteristics and outcomes in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia who developed acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS]. Post COVID-19 pulmonary fibrosis is an upcoming important entity causing increased mortality and morbidity in these patients [2-4].

The risk factors for developing post COVID-19 fibrosis includes old age, severe illness, prolonged ICU stay, requiring mechanical ventilation and those who had significant history of smoking and alcohol consumption [5]. In our



Figure 4A, B. High resolution computed tomography of chest showing bilateral consolidation with traction bronchiectasis; C, D. High resolution computed tomography of chest showing clearing of fibrotic opacities after 4 weeks of nintedanib

study, two of the patients had diabetes while the others had no comorbidities and the development of pulmonary fibrosis was the cause of prolonged hospital stay and difficult weaning.

The pathophysiology of pulmonary fibrosis includes variable mechanism like direct endothelial injury, alveolar epithelial damage, cytokine mediated damage, dysregulated release of matrix metalloproteinases and uncontrolled fibroproliferation. The severe form of ARDS is marked by higher release of cytokines and inflammatory markers which predisposes to higher incidence of pulmonary fibrosis. These factors stimulate the hyperproliferation of type-II vesicular endothelial cells which causes release of fibroblasts and their maturation into myofibroblasts, leading to excessive extracellular matrix accumulation and ultimately fibrosis and alveolar dysfunction [6–8]. This correlates with the duration of disease and is generally seen more in patients with a disease duration more than 3 weeks [7].

All our patients presented with moderate to severe COVID pneumonia and were optimally managed with steroids, LMWH and oxygen therapy. The patients during the course of admission showed progression to ARDS and three

patients required non-invasive ventilator support. They showed good response but even after maximal therapy continued to have high oxygen requirement and were difficult to wean off the oxygen support leading to prolonged hospital stay. HRCT chest can confirm the presence of fibrosis in form of reticulations, interlobular and interseptal thickening, traction bronchiectasis, honeycombing and volume loss on the involved side [7, 8]. On functional evaluation, they usually have restriction on spirometry with decreased diffusion capacity of lungs for carbon monoxide (DLCO) and reduced total lung capacity (TLC) [7, 9]. These patients can also have reduced exercise tolerance which can be demonstrated on a 6 minute walk test (6MWT).

The patients of moderate to severe COVID-19 pneumonia with prolonged intensive care unit stay should be suspected of having pulmonary fibrosis. However other causes of increased oxygen requirements like pulmonary thromboembolism should be ruled out by doing a base line CTPA and these patients should preferably should have a negative or reduced C-reactive protein levels and other hyperinflammatory markers which otherwise will benefit more in combination with other modalities like prolonging the duration of steroids [2]. All our patients had shown good response with steroids and CTPA done in the patient did not show any features of pulmonary thromboembolism but they continued to have high oxygen requirement which indicated clinical diagnosis of post COVID fibrosis which was confirmed on radiology.

There is great uncertainty in management of COVID-19 pulmonary fibrosis mainly due to non-availability of treatment modalities [2, 6]. Antifibrotics agents like pirfenidone and nintedanib have an established role in fibrotic diseases like idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) and they can be used in post COVID-19 fibrosis by that analogy [10, 11]. They have been proven to reduce the rate of deterioration of forced vital capacity (FVC) in patients with IPF [12, 13]. These drugs do not ameliorate the SARS-CoV-2 immune dysregulation neither address the catastrophic pro-thrombotic state of this infection but can address the development of pulmonary fibrosis post COVID-19 pneumonia. Nintedanib is a tyrosine kinase inhibitor which has been extensively evaluated for its antifibrotics role in IPF [9, 11, 13]. It has displayed anti-angiogenesis properties through blockade of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) pathway. Nintedanib has shown significant antifibrotic role and has potential anti IL-1 and IL-6 activity which are one of the main culprits in cytokine storm and post COVID fibrosis [8–10]. The main side effect of nintedanib includes diarrhoea, nausea, reduced appetite and deranged liver function tests [9, 14]. We chose nintedanib for these patients as it has significant immunomodulatory, and anti- inflammatory and anti-thrombotic action in addition to it triple kinase inhibitor activity.

All our patients were started on oral tablet nintedanib and was well tolerated. The decision to start anti-fibrotic was taken as patients, after showing an initial response, failed to show significant clinical improvement, with negative inflammatory markers and continued to be oxygen dependant. HRCT showed evidence of pulmonary fibrosis and they were initiated on anti-fibrotics. All our patients had different extent of pulmonary involvement however they all had severe COVID pneumonia and post COVID pulmonary fibrosis which responded to nintedanib. The exclusion criteria for starting nintedanib includes deranged liver function tests, recent myocardial infarction or haemorrhagic stroke, active haemoptysis or gastrointestinal bleed and deranged coagulation profile. At present there is no biomarker to prompt the administration of anti-fibrotic and the presence of fibrosis on CT scan has been agreed as the best indicator to start therapy [15]. This is our initial experience of using nintedanib in post COVID-19 fibrotic lung disease; however it needs bigger randomized controlled trials to assess the safety and efficacy of this drug.

Conflict of interest

None.

- Wu C, Chen X, Cai Y, et al. Risk factors associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome and death in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA Intern Med. 2020; 180(7): 934–943, doi: <u>10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.0994</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32167524</u>.
- George PM, Wells AU, Jenkins RG. Pulmonary fibrosis and COVID-19: the potential role for antifibrotic therapy. Lancet Respir Med. 2020; 8(8): 807–815, doi: <u>10.1016/S2213-</u> <u>2600(20)30225-3</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32422178</u>.
- Lechowicz K, Drożdżal S, Machaj F, et al. COVID-19: the potential treatment of pulmonary fibrosis associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection. J Clin Med. 2020; 9(6), doi: <u>10.3390/</u> jcm9061917, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32575380</u>.
- Spagnolo P, Balestro E, Aliberti S, et al. Pulmonary fibrosis secondary to COVID-19: a call to arms? The Lancet Respiratory Medicine. 2020; 8(8): 750–752, doi: <u>10.1016/s2213-</u> <u>2600(20)30222-8</u>.
- Ojo AS, Balogun SA, Williams OT, et al. Pulmonary fibrosis in COVID-19 survivors: predictive factors and risk reduction strategies. Pulm Med. 2020; 2020: 6175964, doi: 10.1155/2020/6175964, indexed in Pubmed: 32850151.
- Seifirad S. Pirfenidone: A novel hypothetical treatment for COVID-19. Med Hypotheses. 2020; 144: 110005, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>mehy.2020.110005</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32575019</u>.
- Vasarmidi E, Tsitoura E, Spandidos DA, et al. Pulmonary fibrosis in the aftermath of the COVID-19 era (Review). Exp Ther Med. 2020; 20(3): 2557–2560, doi: <u>10.3892/etm.2020.8980</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32765748</u>.
- Wang J, Wang BJ, Yang JC, et al. [Research advances in the mechanism of pulmonary fibrosis induced by coronavirus disease 2019 and the corresponding therapeutic measures]. Zhonghua Shao Shang Za Zhi. 2020; 36(8): 691–697, doi: 10.3760/ cma.j.cn501120-20200307-00132, indexed in Pubmed: 32174095.
- Mo X, Jian W, Su Z, et al. Abnormal pulmonary function in COVID-19 patients at time of hospital discharge. Eur Respir J. 2020; 55(6), doi: <u>10.1183/13993003.01217-2020</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32381497</u>.
- Rivera-Ortega P, Hayton C, Blaikley J, et al. Nintedanib in the management of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: clinical trial evidence and real-world experience. Ther Adv Respir Dis. 2018; 12: 1753466618800618, doi: <u>10.1177/1753466618800618</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30249169</u>.
- Kolb M, Richeldi L, Behr J, et al. Nintedanib in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and preserved lung volume. Thorax. 2017; 72(4): 340–346, doi: <u>10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-208710</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27672117</u>.
- King TE, Bradford WZ, Castro-Bernardini S, et al. ASCEND Study Group. A phase 3 trial of pirfenidone in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2014; 370(22): 2083–2092, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1402582, indexed in Pubmed: 24836312.
- Richeldi L, Kolb M, Jouneau S, et al. Efficacy and safety of nintedanib in patients with advanced idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. BMC Pulm Med. 2020; 20(1): 3, doi: <u>10.1186/s12890-019-1030-4</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31914963</u>.
- 14. Bendstrup E, Wuyts W, Alfaro T, et al. Nintedanib in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: practical management recommendations

for potential adverse events. Respiration. 2019; 97(2): 173–184, doi: <u>10.1159/000495046</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>30544129</u>.
15. Udwadia ZF, Koul PA, Richeldi L. Post-COVID lung fibrosis: The tsunami that will follow the earthquake. Lung India. 2021; 38(Supplement): S41–S47, doi: <u>10.4103/lungindia.lungindia_818_20</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33686978</u>.

Anna Śniady¹, Piotr Boros², Barbara Burakowska³, Magdalena Martusewicz-Boros¹

¹3rd Lung Diseases and Oncology Department, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland ²Lung Pathophysiology Department, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland ³Radiology Department, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland

Sarcoidosis in coexistence with chronic granulomatous disease

Abstract

Granulomas formations are present in many lung diseases. Coexistence of one or more of these diseases is very rare. Diagnostics of such cases always poses a challenge. We present a case of coexistence of chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) and sarcoidosis.

Key words: chronic granulomatous disease, sarcoidosis, granulomas

Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89: 597-599

Introduction

Chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) is a rare inherited primary immunodeficiency disorder. There are two inheritance patterns of CGD: an autosomal recessive manner and the X-linked manner. Mutations in the CYBB, CYBA, NCF1, NCF2 and NCF4 genes are responsible for inappropriate function of structural or regulatory subunits of phagocyte nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase [1]. These genetic defects are presented with an impaired respiratory burst in phagocytes (neutrophils, mononuclear cells, macrophages, and eosinophils). Absence or minimal (low) respiratory burst activity, that is crucial for generating superoxide, the precursor of hydrogen peroxide and other reactive oxygen intermediates (ROI), leads to recurrent bacterial and fungal infections [1, 2]. Every organ or tissue may be affected, but the skin, lungs, lymph nodes, liver and bones are the most frequent sites of infection. Granulomas formations in multiple organs are the second characteristic feature of CGD [1, 3].

Granulomas are areas of macrophages which are transformed into epithelial-like cells called histiocytes or epithelioid cells, admixed with other inflammatory cells such as lymphocytes and plasma cells [4–6]. Etiology of granulomas divides them into two histologic subtypes: foreign-body giant cell granulomas and immune granulomas [6]. The last group further splits into necrotizing and non-necrotizing granulomas.

Granulomatous disorders are numerous and include infections, vasculitis, immunological upsets, leukocyte oxidase defects, hypersensitivity, exposure to chemicals, and neoplasia [5]. The most common noninfectious condition where granulomas are found is sarcoidosis [5, 7, 8]

The following report describes a rare case of coexistence of both CGD and sarcoidosis.

Case report

A 28-year-old non-smoking man known to be suffering from CGD was admitted to our hospital in order to investigate persistent, unproductive cough and shortness of breath. In childhood he had been hospitalized multiple times in pediatric departments, presenting recurrent fever, lymphadenopathy, infections of the lower respiratory tract and liver abscesses. Initial laboratory tests had revealed microcytic anemia, anisocytosis, leukocytosis, very high marker of inflammation, hypergammaglobulinemia. CGD had been properly diagnosed at the age of 13 in immunology

Address for correspondence: Anna Śniady, 3rd Lung Diseases and Oncology Department, National Research Institute of Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases, Płocka 26, 01–138 Warsaw, Poland, e-mail: anna.sniady22@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0101 | Received: 08.05.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1A. Contrast enhanced computed tomography (CT) scan, mediastinal window, at the level of hila, depicts hilar and subcarinal lymph nodes enlargement; B. High-resolution CT (HRCT) scan at the level of trachea demonstrates multiple small nodules in upper lobes in peribronchiolar location, mainly subpleural and perifissural



Figure 2A. Contrast non-enhanced CT scan, mediastinal window, depicts regression of mediastinal and hilar adenopathy; B. HRCT scan shows partial regression of nodules

department and received prescribed antibacterial (trimethoprim/sufamethoxazole 5 mg/kg/day) and antifungal prophylaxis (firstly itraconazole 5 mg/kg/day then posaconazole 600 mg daily) longitudinally. At the time of admission the patient complained about left shoulder joint pain accompanied with erythema nodosum in the past. On physical examination, there were no abnormalities. Chest X-ray showed bilateral hilar lymphadenopathy with nodular opacities distributed especially in middle zone, that was absent in his previous radiograms (Figures 1A, B). Chest computed tomography (CT) showed bilateral hilar and mediastinal lymphadenopathy as well as widespread nodules present especially along interlobular septa and subpleurally. Fiberoptic bronchoscopy showed normal bronchial tree. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided lymph node biopsy and bronchoscopic lung cryobiopsy were performed. Histological examination revealed non-necrotising granulomata consistent with sarcoidosis. The culture of endobronchial samples was negative for M. tuberculosis, other bacteria and fungi. Pulmonary function tests revealed a restrictive pattern (TLC 76% pred, FVC 59% pred, FEV₁ 62% pred.) with no significant post-bronchodilator improvement and reduced transfer factor for carbon monoxide (TL_{CO}) to 48% pred. The 6 min. walk distance (6MWD) was 590 m, with oxygen desaturation from 97% to 84%.

In February 2016, due to lung functional impairment caused by sarcoidosis, prednisone treatment at 0.5 mg/kg/day was started. This treatment



Figure 3. Lung function indices expressed as % of predicted before and during the treatment TLC — total lung capacity; FEV_1 — forced expiratory volume at first second; FVC — forced vital capacity; TL_{co} — single breath carbon monoxide transfer factor of the lung

was effective and already after 2 months, clinical, radiographic (Figures 2A, B) and functional improvement (Figure 3) were observed.

Based on clinical, radiological and histopathological findings with exclusion of the other reasons of such test results and very good response to corticosteroids treatment, the diagnosis of sarcoidosis was confirmed.

Discussion

There have only been few cases reported where sarcoidosis and CGD coexisted [8]. The incidence of CGD is about 1 per 200 000 live births whereas sarcoidosis affects 1 to 50 per 100 000 individuals and is the most common cause of lung granulomas unrelated to infection [8]. The real number of cases with coexistence of both diseases is unknown. Due to lack of defined criteria of sarcoidosis it is very often a diagnosis of exclusion. Granulomas however accompany a wide variety of other diseases. These disorders are commonly divided into two groups with infectious and noninfectious background. The first group refers to mycobacterial tuberculosis and non - tuberculous mycobacterial infections as well as fungal or parasite infections [4, 8]. Noninfectious causes of lung granulomas include numerous conditions which comprise, aside from sarcoidosis, other interstitial lung diseases, antinuclear antibody associated diseases, immunodeficiency disorders, lymphoproliferative disorders, connective tissue diseases and granulomas related to foreign bodies [8]. Considering some of these conditions may coexist, as is often the case, the differential diagnosis can be challenging. Maintaining an acute clinical awareness of this coexistence minimizes the risk of misdiagnosis or delayed diagnosis and leads to early and appropriate treatment allowing a reduction of long term complications.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

- Leiding JW, Holland SM. Chronic Granulomatous Disease. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJH, Stephens K. ed. GeneReviews. University of Washington, Seattle University of Washington, Seattle 1993 [updated 2016 Feb 11].
- Goldblatt D, Thrasher AJ. Chronic granulomatous disease. Clin Exp Immunol. 2000; 122(1): 1–9, doi: <u>10.1046/j.1365-2249.2000.01314.x</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>11012609</u>.
- Song E, Jaishankar GB, Saleh H, et al. Chronic granulomatous disease: a review of the infectious and inflammatory complications. Clin Mol Allergy. 2011; 9(1): 10, doi: <u>10.1186/1476-7961-</u> <u>9-10</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>21624140</u>.
- James DG. A clinicopathological classification of granulomatous disorders. Postgrad Med J. 2000; 76(898): 457–465, doi: <u>10.1136/pmj.76.898.457</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>10908370</u>.
- Kumar SN, Prasad TS, Narayan PA, et al. Granuloma with langhans giant cells: An overview. J Oral Maxillofac Pathol. 2013; 17(3): 420–423, doi: <u>10.4103/0973-029X.125211</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24574664</u>.
- Shah KK, Pritt BS, Alexander MP. Histopathologic review of granulomatous inflammation. J Clin Tuberc Other Mycobact Dis. 2017; 7: 1–12, doi: <u>10.1016/j.jctube.2017.02.001</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31723695</u>.
- Timmermans WM, van Laar JA, van Hagen PM, et al. Immunopathogenesis of granulomas in chronic autoinflammatory diseases. Clin Transl Immunology. 2016; 5(12): e118, doi: 10.1038/cti.2016.75, indexed in Pubmed: <u>28090320</u>.
- Mukhopadhyay S, Gal AA. Granulomatous lung disease: an approach to the differential diagnosis. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010; 134(5): 667–690, doi: <u>10.5858/134.5.667</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>20441499</u>.

Hiding in plain sight — relapsing polychondritis disguised as uncontrolled asthma

Nico De Crem, Sofie Happaerts, Lieven J Dupont

Department of Respiratory Diseases, University Hospitals Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

A 55-year-old man was evaluated at the emergency department because of increasing shortness of breath and cough. His medical history included pulmonary embolism and asthma for 9 years which was uncontrolled despite montelukast, omalizumab and inhaled fluticasone, vilanterol and beclomethasone. Recent treatment with methylprednisolone and amoxicillin and clavulanic acid did not sufficiently alleviate his symptoms.

On presentation the patient appeared mildly ill. Blood pressure was 137/84 mm Hg, pulse 104/min, temperature 37.7°C and oxygen saturation 95% while breathing ambient air. On auscultation inspiratory wheezing was heard. Clinical examination was otherwise normal including external inspection of nose and ears. Blood analysis showed elevated inflammatory markers (C-reactive protein [CRP] 129.1 mg/L) with a normal white blood cell count. His last spirometry from one month prior showed severe obstruction (forced expiratory volume in one second to forced vital capacity [FEV₁/FVC] 43% and FEV₁ 1.57 L or 35% predicted) with no reversibility after inhalation of salbutamol.

Contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) of the chest demonstrated remarkable thickening and calcification of the tracheobronchial walls with sparing of the posterior tracheal wall (Figure 1A and 1B). Bronchoscopy revealed tracheobronchomalacia (TBM) and thickened tracheal mucosa with a cobblestone appearance (Figure 1C and 1D). Tracheal biopsies showed non-specific chronic inflammation without granulomas. Congo red staining was negative. On additional fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-positron emission tomography (PET) hypercaptation of the nasal and costal cartilage and the thickened tracheal and bronchial walls (Figure 1E and F) was seen. Further elaborate auto-immune screening was negative. A diagnosis of relapsing polychondritis was made.

Relapsing polychondritis is a rare auto-immune disorder characterized by recurrent episodes of cartilaginous inflammation throughout the body, especially in the ears, nose, eyes, respiratory tract and joints. Annual incidence ranges from 0.71 to 3,5 cases per million persons [1, 2]. Men and women are equally affected with symptom onset usually between the fifth and seventh decade.

The most common and striking feature is auricular chondritis, present in 43% of patients at disease onset and in 89% throughout disease course [2]. Typically, pain, tenderness and an erythematous appearance of the ear with sparing of the ear lobes is present. Involvement of the respiratory tract, however, is often underrecognized and underreported, although laryngotracheal disease occurs in 55% of patients [3]. The most common symptoms are dyspnea, cough, stridor and hoarsesness [4]. Often symptoms are mistaken for other conditions and diagnosis is delayed. CT shows TBM and/or tracheobronchial wall thickening, with sparing of the posterior wall and with or without calcifications, in more than 50% [4]. Other possible respiratory tract complications include subglottic and tracheal/tracheobronchial stenoses.

Diagnosis is based on a high level of suspicion and diagnostic criteria, such as the McAdam and Modified Damiana criteria [5, 6]. Need for biopsy of affected cartilage depends on these criteria and is not routinely recommended. Since laryngotracheal involvement is associated with a poor prognosis, prompt appropriate treatment with high dose corticosteroids and cyclophosphamide is recommended [7]. Our patient was started on corticosteroids and cyclophosphamide orally with a slow but steady improvement of symptoms and continues to do well. The most recent FEV_1 was 52% predicted.

Address for correspondence: Nico De Crem, Department of Respiratory Diseases, University Hospitals Leuven, Leuven, Belgium; e-mail: nico.decrem@uzleuven.be Conflict of interest: None declared.

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0064 | Received: 13.06.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1. Chest computed tomography showing thickening and calcification of tracheal (**A**) and bronchial cartilage (**B**). Positron emission tomographyshowing fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) captation of the nasal cartilage (**C**) and FDG captation of costal and tracheal cartilage (**D**). Bronchoscopy revealing tracheobronchomalacia (**E**) and thickened tracheal mucosa with cobblestone appearance (**F**)

- Hazra N, Dregan A, Charlton J, et al. Incidence and mortality of relapsing polychondritis in the UK: a population-based cohort study. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2015; 54(12): 2181–2187, doi: <u>10.1093/rheumatology/kev240</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>26187053</u>.
- Kent PD, Michet CJ, Luthra HS. Relapsing polychondritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2004; 16(1): 56–61, doi: <u>10.1097/00002281-200401000-00011</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>14673390</u>.
- Rafeq S, Trentham D, Ernst A. Pulmonary manifestations of relapsing polychondritis. Clin Chest Med. 2010; 31(3): 513–518, doi: 10.1016/j.ccm.2010.04.004, indexed in Pubmed: 20692543.
- Ernst A, Rafeq S, Boiselle P, et al. Relapsing polychondritis and airway involvement. Chest. 2009; 135(4): 1024–1030, doi: <u>10.1378/</u> <u>chest.08-1180</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19017885</u>.
- McAdam L, O Hanlan M, Bluestone R, et al. Relapsing polychondritis. Medicine. 1976; 55(3): 193–215, doi: <u>10.1097/00005792-197605000-00001</u>.
- Damiani JM, Levine HL. Relapsing polychondritis report of ten cases. Laryngoscope. 1979; 89(6 Pt 1): 929–946, indexed in Pubmed: <u>449538</u>.
- Ruhlen JL, Huston KA, Wood WG. Relapsing polychondritis with glomerulonephritis. Improvement with prednisone and cyclophosphamide. JAMA. 1981; 245(8): 847–848, indexed in Pubmed: <u>7463678</u>.

A challenging case of tuberculous peritonitis

Petru Emil Muntean¹, Andrada Mateutiu²

¹Emergency Hospital of Arges County, Pitesti, Romania ²Spitalul Clinic Municipal "Dr.Gavril Curteanu" Oradea, Romania

A 24-year-old female was admitted to the hospital for recurring irregularities of menstruation and a nine day history of abdominal tenderness. Physical exam revealed an abnormal build-up of fluid in the abdomen. Lab results within normal range. Normal chest X-ray. Abdominal ultrasound displayed ascites and nodular peritoneal thickening (Figure 1). Abdominal paracentesis exposed an exudative effusion, lymphocyte-rich inflammatory cells, no malignant cells and an adenosine deaminase level of 59 U/L. QuantiFERON-TB Gold test negative and also HIV-negative. Cancer antigen 125 level of 98.70, carcinoembryonic antigen level of 0.46, carcinoma antigen 15-3 level of 19.87, alpha-fetoprotein level of 1.99, cancer antigen 19-9 level of 0.99. Magnetic resonance imaging of the abdomen disclosed ascites and bilateral nodular opacities in the peritoneum. Ultrasound-guided tru-cut biopsy from nodular opacities expressed tuberculoid granulomas [1, 2]. According to our national guidelines, received a standard anti-TB regimen [3]. After six months, good clinical response. Tuberculous peritonitis is a rare condition which may simulate malignancy. TB ascites is an exudative pleural effusion as in the presence of a malignant tumour. Both illnesses have plenty correlations regarding lab results, imaging features and symptoms. Tuberculous peritonitis is accountable for approximately 1% of all tuberculosis cases [4]. In peritoneal carcinomatosis, CA125 level is elevated [5]. Early diagnosis of extrapulmonary tuberculosis responds well to the specific treatment and also prevents surgery.



Figure 1. Abdominal ultrasound reported ascites in pelvis

Address for correspondence: Petru Emil Muntean, Str.1 Decembrie 1918, Cod Postal 405100 Campia Turzii, Cluj, e-mail: muntean.petruemil@yahoo.com Conflict of interest: None declared.

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0111 | Received: 03.06.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

- Muntean P. Isolated intestinal tuberculosis associated with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Archives of the Balkan Medical Union. 2020; 55(1): 168–173, doi: <u>10.31688/abmu.2020.55.1.22</u>.
- Muntean PE. A rare case of a tuberculosis patient with sarcoidosis. Folia Med (Plovdiv). 2019; 61(2): 312–316, doi: <u>10.2478/fol-med-2018-0055</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>31301651</u>.
- Muntean PE. A 50-year-old male with fever, cough, dyspnoea, chest pain, weight loss and night sweats. Breathe (Sheff). 2018; 14(1): 43–48, doi: <u>10.1183/20734735.013317</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>29515667</u>.
- Peto HM, Pratt RH, Harrington TA, et al. Epidemiology of extrapulmonary tuberculosis in the United States, 1993-2006. Clin Infect Dis. 2009; 49(9): 1350–1357, doi: <u>10.1086/605559</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>19793000</u>.
- 5. O'Riordan DK, Deery A, Dorman A, et al. Increased CA 125 in a patient with tuberculous peritonitis: case report and review of published works. Gut. 1995; 36(2): 303–305, doi: <u>10.1136/gut.36.2.303</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>7883234</u>.

Massive pleural effusion: an uncommon but important cause to consider

Avneet Garg©, Khushdeep Singla, Mansimranjit Kaur, Vinita Jindal, Manjot Kaur

Adesh Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Bathinda, Punjab, India

A 44 years old female presented with complaints of diffuse right sided chest pain, progressively increasing shortness of breath (mMRC grade 3), fever, loss of weight and anorexia for last 2 months. She had history of dysphagia to solids, intermittent vomiting and regurgitation during feeding for which she was taking symptomatic treatment from local practitioner. Her vitals were heart rate 88/min, blood pressure 116/78 mmHg, respiratory rate 21/min and saturation of 95% on room air. Chest examination showed findings suggestive of pleural effusion which was confirmed on chest X-ray. CECT chest was planned in view of massive right sided pleural effusion with air loculations on chest X ray. Oral contrast on table was administered in view of esophageal wall thickening on NCCT chest. CT-scan with oral contrast showed fistulous track from right lateral aspect of thoracic esophagus extending to right pleural cavity suggesting esophageal-pleural fistula (Figure 1). Upper GI endoscopy showed ulcerative proliferative growth in the thoracic esophagus with suspicious fistulous opening showing pus drainage. Biopsy revealed squamous cell carcinoma of esophagus. Intercostal tube drainage was done for right sided massive effusion which drained about 2.5 liters of purulent material. Pleural fluid examination showed amylase — 3141 U/L, protein — 4.6gm/dL, sugar — 174 mg/dl, LDH-120U/L and gram negative bacilli on gram staining. Feeding jejunostomy was performed and empirical broad spectrum antibiotics were started. Follow-up chest X-ray showed significantly reduced pleural effusion with partial lung expansion. Patient was transferred to department of gastrointestinal surgery for further definitive surgical management.

Esophageal-pleural fistula presenting as massive pleural effusion is rarely encountered. The diagnosis of EPF is difficult as symptoms and signs related to EPF are non-specific and can mimic many other diseases. Hence a meticulous history taking and high degree of clinical suspicion is must to diagnose EPF. History of



Figure 1. Axial and coronal CECT images show right sided hydro-pneumothorax. Oral contrast filled fistulous track seen from mid esophagus to right pleural cavity (shown as white arrow in axial CT). Circumferential eccentric wall thickening of esophagus is seen (shown as black arrow in axial CT and white arrow in coronal CT)

Address for correspondence: Avneet Garg, Adesh Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Bathinda, Punjab, India, e-mail: dravneetgarg@gmail.com Conflict of interest: None declared.

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0109 | Received: 03.06.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

dysphagia, odynophagia, a known esophageal malignancy, esophageal ulcer or trauma and prior upper GI endoscopy or esophageal instrumentation can help to raise the clinical suspicion [1, 2]. Various imaging modalities that aid in diagnosis include chest radiograph, ultrasound, barium swallow, contrast-enhanced CT, and MRI with each modality having its own advantages; however CECT chest is very useful modality and should be performed early whenever there is clinical suspicion. CT chest can show focal esophageal wall thickening as in our case, thinning or ballooning of esophagus at the site of perforation, mediastinitis and can help to delineate the fistulous track after giving oral contrast which is the pathognomonic sign of esophageal —pleural fistula. CT chest can delineate pleural lesions from parenchymal and help to exclude other alternate differential diagnosis [3, 4]. Upper GI endoscopy helps to confirm the etiology of EPF and hence helps in the further definitive management for EPF. The management options include conservative therapy like empyema drainage, management of mediastinitis, tube feeding, feeding jejunostomy or gastrostomy; stenting or definitive surgical repair for EPF and endoscopic management like stenting, suturing, fibrin glue or clips. Early treatment helps to prevent further devastating complications [5]. EPF should be considered as one of differentials for unilateral massive pleural effusion.

- 1. Pache G, Thuerl C, Bley T, et al. Asymptomatic esophago-pleural fistula presenting 35 years after pneumonectomy for tuberculosis. J Thorac Imaging. 2005; 20(3): 223–225, doi: <u>10.1097/01.rti.0000155043.74533.79</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>16077339</u>.
- Vyas S, Prakash M, Kaman L, et al. Spontaneous esophageal-pleural fistula. Lung India. 2011; 28(4): 300–302, doi: <u>10.4103/0970-2113.85696</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22084548</u>.
- Dash M, Mohanty T, Patnaik J, et al. An unusual case of spontaneous esophagopleural fistula. Lung India. 2017; 34(3): 287–289, doi: 10.4103/0970-2113.205327, indexed in Pubmed: 28474659.
- Chuah BYS, Khoo KL, Khor CJL. Clinical challenges and images in GI. Esophagopleural fistula. Gastroenterology. 2008; 134(4): 919, 1275, doi: <u>10.1053/j.gastro.2008.02.040</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>18395073</u>.
- 5. Vandenplas Y, Helven R, Derop H, et al. Endoscopic obliteration of recurrent tracheoesophageal fistula. Dig Dis Sci. 1993; 38(2): 374–377, doi: 10.1007/BF01307559, indexed in Pubmed: 8425452.

COPD patient with a classical radiological sign

Avneet Garg^D, Manjot Kaur, Vinita Jindal

V M

VIA MEDICA

Adesh Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Bathinda, Punjab, India

A 55 years old smoker was admitted with chief complaints of progressive dyspnea, dry cough, fever, loss of appetite and loss of weight. On examination, patient was febrile and his physical examination showed reduced breath sounds and crepts in left axillary and mammary area in association with bilateral diffuse polyphonic rhonchi. Laboratory investigations showed hemoglobin 12.4g/dL, white blood cell count (\geq 13200/mm), increased proportion of neutrophils on differential analysis (77% neutrophils), blood urea 86 mg/dL and serum creatinine 1.8 mg/dL. Conventional chest radiograph was done and patient also underwent computed tomography (CT) chest. Flexible bronchoscopy guided bronchoalveolar lavage revealed growth of streptococcus pneumoniae.

Questions: Can u name the radiological sign demonstrated in CT chest? Can u explain its occurrence?

Answer: Swiss cheese sign COPD with superadded infection, pulmonary edema or hemorrhage Pulmonary lacerations with pneumatocele

Here we present an interesting case of a patient who presented in our outpatient department with acute exacerbation of COPD. Patient was initially suspected on lines of pulmonary tuberculosis as cause of exacerbation of COPD but later found to be case of bacterial infection giving typical appearance of 'Swiss Cheese Sign' in background of emphysema.

The COPD patients are prone for infective exacerbation and these infections can present as lung consolidation. The consolidation in background of emphysematous changes of COPD may look inhomogeneous and mimic multiple cavities because of underlying low attenuation areas. Hence in this situation, lung may appear



Figure 1. Chest X-ray posteroanterior view showing air space consolidation with central tiny air lucencies

Address for correspondence: Avneet Garg, Adesh Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Bathinda, Punjab, India, e-mail: dravneetgarg@gmail.com Conflict of interest: None declared.

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0110 | Received: 04.04.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 2. HRCT chest pulmonary and mediastinal window showing patch of consolidation in the background of emphysematous changes giving swiss cheese appearance

non-uniformly perforated forming 'Swiss Cheese appearance' (Swiss — style cheese that contain multiple holes) due to parenchymal consolidation [1, 2]. These cavity like holes within the pneumonic consolidation due to emphysema can mimic cavity forming consolidations like necrotising pneumonia, adenocarcinoma in situ and occasionally reticulo-nodular pattern giving appearance of interstitial lung diseases [1–3].

Other than pneumonia, pulmonary edema and hemorrhage in COPD patients have been described to have swiss cheese sign appearance. The sign has also been described for fluid containing pneumatoceles on CT chest secondary to pulmonary lacerations [4].

Hence it is crucial for a radiologist or pulmonologist to look for evidence of emphysema on radiology to correctly diagnose the unusual patterns of air space consolidation in the background of emphysema rather than cavitation or reticular-nodular pattern.

- Hruban RH, Meziane MA, Zerhouni EA, et al. High resolution computed tomography of inflation-fixed lungs. Pathologic-radiologic correlation of centrilobular emphysema. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1987; 136(4): 935–940, doi: <u>10.1164/ajrccm/136.4.935</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>3310774</u>.
- 2. Baik JH, Ko JM, Park HJ. Pitfalls in radiographic interpretation of emphysema patients. Can Assoc Radiol J. 2016; 67(3): 277–283, doi: 10.1016/j.carj.2015.09.015, indexed in Pubmed: 27147485.
- 3. Miwa M, Nakajima M, Goto H. Peripheral "Swiss Cheese" appearance in a COVID-19 patient with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2020; 103(2): 546, doi: <u>10.4269/ajtmh.20-0605</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32534599</u>.
- Oikonomou A, Prassopoulos P. CT imaging of blunt chest trauma. Insights Imaging. 2011; 2(3): 281–295, doi: <u>10.1007/s13244-011-</u> <u>0072-9</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22347953</u>.

A rare cause of ST segment elevation: avoiding critical errors in an emergency

Avneet Garg[®], Rakendra Singh, Mansimranjit Kaur, Vinita Jindal

Adesh Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Bathinda, Punjab, India

A 72-year-old female with a history of hypertension and chronic cough presented with worsening dyspnoea, left-sided chest pain, and vomiting that had been present for two days. In the emergency department, her vital signs were stable but room air oxygen saturation was 85%. An electrocardiogram (ECG) showed ST segment elevation in precordial leads (Figure 1A). A chest X-ray showed a left-sided opacity with an air-fluid level and a mediastinal shift to the opposite side (Figure 1B). Laboratory studies showed arterial blood gas (ABG) measurements of 7.47/27.5/52/19.9 on 4 litres/minute oxygen via nasal cannula, white blood cell count of $11.3 \text{ K/}\mu\text{L}$, a haemoglobin level of 15.3 g/dL, and a serum sodium level of 128 mmol/L. The serum troponin level was < 0.01 ng/mL.

- 1. What is your provisional diagnosis?
- 2. What is the probable cause of ST segment elevation?

Physical examination showed bowel sounds along the left lower chest with absent air entry. Contrast-enhanced computed tomography of the chest showed a large diaphragmatic hernia causing a mediastinal shift to the other side (Figure 1C, D). Misdiagnosis of diaphragmatic hernia as hydropneumothorax is not uncommon in both acute and chronic settings and can commonly lead to incorrect chest tube placement [1]. Various findings that may suggest a diagnosis of diaphragmatic hernia rather than hydropneumothorax include hearing bowel sounds on chest auscultation, curling up of the nasogastric tube in the stomach, history of preceding/ associated traumatic injuries, an elevated hemidiaphragm, irregular diaphragmatic contour, a gas bubble or air-fluid levels in the chest above the expected level of the diaphragm, compression atelectasis of the lower lobe, and intrathoracic intra-abdominal viscera with or without a focal constriction (collar sign) [2, 3]. An increase in intra-abdominal pressure can lead to protrusion of the abdominal content into the thoracic cavity. This is what we believe happened in our case as the history of chronic cough and vomiting may have caused increased intra-abdominal pressure in our patient.



Figure 1A. Electrocardiography showing sinus bradycardia and ST elevation in leads V3, V4, and V5; B. Chest X-ray posteroanterior view showing an air-fluid level in the left hemithorax

Address for correspondence: Avneet Garg, Adesh Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Bathinda, Punjab, India, e-mail: dravneetgarg@gmail.com Conflict of interest: None declared.

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0108 | Received: 03.06.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1C. Computed tomography (CT) pulmonary window axial section showing an air-fluid level in the left hemithorax; D. CT mediastinal window coronal section white arrow showing a defect in the left hemidiaphragm with herniation of the stomach and bowel loops into the left hemithorax, and a mediastinal shift towards the right side

ST segment elevation on the electrocardiogram in our case was attributed to a large diaphragmatic hernia causing a mediastinal shift. Serial troponin levels and a subsequent coronary angiogram were normal. Tension pneumothorax and hiatal hernias causing ST segment elevation have been reported in literature [4]. Possible mechanisms include cardiac rotation, pressure on the heart and coronary vessels leading to decreased coronary flow and ischemia, acute right ventricular strain, or dilation from hypoxia and decrease in preload due to increased intra-abdominal pressure [5]. One or more of the said mechanisms may be responsible for ST changes observed in our case.

Our experience in this case is particularly useful for emergency medicine physicians and cardiologists who must remember that diaphragmatic hernias can closely mimic hydropneumothorax and can cause ST segment changes on electrocardiograms. This case also emphasizes the utmost importance of physical examination in emergency medicine in order to avoid critical errors.

- 1. Shiyovich A, Vladimir Z, Nesher L. Left spontaneous pneumothorax presenting with ST-segment elevations: a case report and review of the literature. Heart Lung. 2011; 40(1): 88–91, doi: <u>10.1016/j.hrtlng.2010.09.007</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>21320674</u>.
- Feldman T, January CT. ECG changes in pneumothorax. A unique finding and proposed mechanism. Chest. 1984; 86(1): 143–145, doi: 10.1378/chest.86.1.143. indexed in Pubmed: 6734277.
- 3. Targhetta R, Bourgeois JM, Chavagneux R, et al. Ultrasonographic approach to diagnosing hydropneumothorax. Chest. 1992; 101(4): 931–934, doi: 10.1378/chest.101.4.931, indexed in Pubmed: 1555465.
- Harte S, Casey RG, Mannion D, et al. When is a pneumothorax not a pneumothorax? J Pediatr Surg. 2005; 40(3): 586–587, doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2004.11.019, indexed in Pubmed: 15793743.
- Shapiro MJ, Heiberg E, Durham RM, et al. The unreliability of CT scans and initial chest radiographs in evaluating blunt trauma induced diaphragmatic rupture. Clin Radiol. 1996; 51(1): 27–30, doi: <u>10.1016/s0009-9260(96)80214-5</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>8549043</u>.

A rare case of tuberculous pyopneumothorax

Petru Emil Muntean[®], Ioana Pascu

Pitesti County Hospital, Pitesti, Romania

V M

VIA MEDICA

A divorced 37-year-old male from an urban environment with a history of known childhood tuberculosis (TB) complained of having the following symptoms over the past 3 months: anorexia, fatigue, exertional dyspnea, left-sided chest pain, excess sweating during the night, a persistent mild elevation of body temperature above normal, productive cough, and a reduction of total body mass by 9 kilograms. Upon admission, physical examination revealed tachycardia and an oxygen saturation of 81% while breathing room air. Lung auscultation was abnormal. Routine tests conducted revealed the following: an oropharyngeal swab test for SARS-CoV-2 by RT-PCR assay was negative; hemoglobin — 10.6 g/dL; hematocrit — 38.9%; red blood cell count — 5.98 10¹²/L; white blood cell count — 18.78 10⁹/L; neutrophils — 5.12 10⁹/L; lymphocytes — 42%; HIV test — negative. Chest X-ray revealed an air fluid level in the left hemithorax and a minimum deviation of the mediastinum to the right side (Figure 1). Chest CT showed a left hydropneumothorax. Ultrasound-guided thoracentesis was implemented and 2 liters of pleural effusion were removed (Figure 2). Both sputum and pleural fluid samples were analyzed, and the results confirmed an exudative lymphocytic effusion with an ADA level of 58 U/L[1]. Ziehl-Neelsen staining revealed acid-fast bacilli, and culture of pleural pus on Lowenstein-Jensen medium displayed colonies that were non-pigmented, dry, rough, raised, and irregular with a wrinkled surface. The patient received a broad-spectrum antibiotic, an oral corticosteroid, and anti-TB treatment (regimen I) according to Romanian Guidelines. On 6-month follow-up evaluation, the patient had a good clinical response and no sequelae of pleural thickening. The combination of pneumothorax and pulmonary emphysema is a rather unusual occurrence [2], but certain underlying circumstances like TB may boost the risk of pleural diseases [3, 4]. If treatment fails, preoperative evaluation can be unavoidable [5].



Figure 1. A. Chest X-ray; B. Ultrasound-guided thoracentesis

Address for correspondence: Petru Emil Muntean, Pitesti County Hospital, Aleea Spitalului Nr. 36, 110084 Pitesti, Romania, e-mail: muntean.petruemil@yahoo.com Conflict of interest: None declared.

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0100 | Received: 11.04.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

- Porcel JM, Vives M. Etiology and pleural fluid characteristics of large and massive effusions. Chest. 2003; 124(3): 978–983, doi: 10.1378/chest.124.3.978, indexed in Pubmed: 12970026.
- 2. Light RW. Pleural Effusion. https://www.merckmanuals.com/professional/pulmonary-disorders/mediastinal-and-pleural-disorders/ pleural-effusion (10.04.2021).
- 3. Shaw JA, Irusen EM, Diacon AH, et al. Pleural tuberculosis: A concise clinical review. Clin Respir J. 2018; 12(5): 1779–1786, doi: 10.1111/crj.12900, indexed in Pubmed: 29660258.
- Muntean PE. A 50-year-old male with fever, cough, dyspnoea, chest pain, weight loss and night sweats. Breathe (Sheff). 2018; 14(1): 43–48, doi: 10.1183/20734735.013317, indexed in Pubmed: 29515667.
- 5. Duzhyi ID. Treatment of acute pyo-pneumothorax during the tuberculosis epidemic. Klin Khir. 2003; 9: 34–37, indexed in Pubmed: 14663909.

Arul J Mahendran[®], Neeraj Kumar Gupta, Nitesh Gupta[®], Rohit Kumar, Pranav Ish[®] Vardhman Mahavir Medical College & Safdarjung Hospital, New Delhi, India

COVID-19 — deliberating beyond steroids in 2021

To the Editor

COVID-19 has caused huge morbidity and mortality in the second peak in India in 2021. The healthcare system is stretched to its limits trying to manage the huge burden of patients in disproportionate limited health care facilities. Triaging [1] has helped manage mild cases at home, moderate at health care centres so that tertiary hospitals are able to treat the severe cases requiring oxygenation or ventilatory support. However, severe cases of COVID-19 pneumonia despite oxygenation, ventilatory support and steroids [2] have poor outcome, which triggered various trials evaluating immunosuppressive drugs to improve prognosis by controlling the hyperinflammatory state. The evidence of use of these drugs is limited and based on available literature till date, the use of these drugs has been summarised in Table 1 [3–9] Although tocilizumab is an off-label drug described in Indian national guidelines, there are no official guidelines for the use of the other drugs in India leading to variability in usage. It is imperative to use these drugs under a trial mode to generate further evidence and regularise the usage. The use of these drugs should be judicious and after carefully ruling out contraindications following the concept of primum non-nocere i.e., first do no harm.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

- Ish P, Sakthivel P, Gupta N, et al. ABC triage and Protect phase strategy in COVID-19 management: lessons from the past. Postgrad Med J. 2020 [Epub ahead of print], doi: <u>10.1136/</u> <u>postgradmedj-2020-139114</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33158938</u>.
- Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR, et al. RECOVERY Collaborative Group. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2021; 384(8): 693-704, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa2021436</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32678530</u>.
- Kalil AC, Patterson TF, Mehta AK, et al. ACTT-2 Study Group Members. Baricitinib plus remdesivir for hospitalized adults with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2021; 384(9): 795–807, doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa2031994</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33306283</u>.
- Hayek ME, Mansour M, Ndetan H, et al. Anti-inflammatory treatment of COVID-19 pneumonia with tofacitinib alone or in combination with dexamethasone is safe and possibly superior to dexamethasone as a single agent in a predominantly African American cohort. Mayo Clin Proc Innov Qual Outcomes. 2021; 5(3): 605–613, doi: <u>10.1016/j.mayocpiqo.2021.03.007</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33817559</u>.
- Pang J, Xu F, Aondio G, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of bevacizumab in patients with severe Covid-19. Nat Commun. 2021; 12(1): 814, doi: <u>10.1038/s41467-021-21085-8</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33547300</u>.
- Islam MdA, Mazumder MA, Akhter N, et al. Extraordinary survival benefits of severe and critical patients with COVID-19 by immune modulators: the outcome of a clinical trial in Bangladesh. Euroasian J Hepatogastroenterol. 2020; 10(2): 68–75, doi: <u>10.5005/jp-journals-10018-1327</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33511068</u>.
- Saavedra D, Añé-Kourí AL, Sánchez N, et al. An anti-CD6 monoclonal antibody (itolizumab) reduces circulating IL-6 in severe COVID-19 elderly patients. Immun Ageing. 2020; 17(1): 34, doi: <u>10.1186/s12979-020-00207-8</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33292350</u>.
- DSA Guidelines on the Treatment and Management of Patients with COVID-19. <u>https://www.idsociety.org/practice-guideline/</u> covid-19-guideline-treatment-and-management/ (10 May 2021).
- 9. https://www.mohfw.gov.in/pdf/COVID19ManagementAlgorithm22042021v1.pdf (10 May 2021).

Address for correspondence: Pranav Ish, Vardhman Mahavir Medical College & Safdarjung Hospital, New Delhi, India; e-mail: pranavish2512@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0114 | Received: 2021.08.18 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

ce for Immu Mechanism TKI- JAK 1/2	E	suppressants drugs beyond st When to give Illness of any duration with Sp0₂ ≤ 94% or	teroids for COVID-19 When not to give Pregnancy/lactation	Major Trial ACTT-2 [3]	Remarks Most efficacious in patient on	Dose 4 mg once a day (2 mg in deranged	Outcome Reduced day of recovery (10 days	ADR Infections— respiratory and H. Zoster,
Supplemental 0 ² or Mechanical ventilation TKI- JAK 1/3 No criteria specified	Supplemental 0 ² or Mechanical ventilation No criteria specified		Underlying malignancy, lymphoproliferative disor- ders and active tuberculosis	Hayek et al (retrospective observational	0 ² and above, receiving Remde- sivir for 10 days Any admitted patient- requiring dexamethasone	renal functions) for 14 days 5 mg twice a day	vs. 18 days) Mortality benefit	Transaminitis, Prothrombotic (FDA black box warning), Hypersensitivity Hyperglycaemia, risk of carcinoma and prothrom- botic state. However. trial
MAB- VEGF A Sp0 ₂ ≤ 93% or RR ≥ 30 or P/F ratio 100–300 AND median duration - 10 days	SpO₂ ≤ 93% or RR ≥ 30 or P/F ratio 100–300 AND median duration-10 days		are usual contraindications of the drug. None have been mentioned in the trial Severe hepatic failure (CPS- C) Severe renal failure (GFR < 30/RRT) Uncontrolled HTN,	study) [4] Pang et al. [5]		Single dose 500 mg	Rapid improvement in fever and PF ratio Vs.	found increased bleeding in tofacitinib group at- tributed to anticoagulation Hypertension, Haemorrhage, Cardiac failure, Posterior reversible en- cephalopathy syndrom,
rrom symptom onset (maximum benefit)	rrom symptom onset (maximum benefit)		near disease Coagulopathy/ active bleed Procoagulant state Major surger/trauma in 28 days Active HIV/hepatitis Pregnancy/lactation	Islam et al. [6]	Severe Covid- observational study- no control	Three groups (Tocilizumab, Bev- actumab,	Standard care (± steroids ± anticoagulants) Survival benefit was found in patients receiving	Infusion reaction
MA-CD6 on T Sp0 ₂ < 94% or PF ratio < 20 cell-Co-stim- With ulation inhi- Ferritin > 400 bition or IL-6 > 4times ULN	Sp $0_2 < 94\%$ or PF ratio < 20 With Ferritin > 400 or IL-6 > 4 times ULN	0	Active/latent/inadequately treated TB Hep B/Hep C/HIV ANC < 1000 ALC < 500 Plt count < 50000	Saavedra et al. [7]	$SpO_2 < 94\%$ or PF ratio < 200 With Ferritin > 400 or IL6 > 4 times ULN	1.6 mg/kg infu- sion after 1 week- 0.8 mg/kg	Mortality benefit	Diarrhoe, infusion related reactions

↑

Table 1. cont. Evidence for Immunosuppressants drugs beyond steroids for COVID-19

Sangam Yadav®, Abhishek Singh®, Puneet Khanna®

All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India

ROX index in COVID-19 patients — is it the answer?

To the Editor

As the world stands witness to the havoc caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the shortage of mechanical ventilators a common peril in the already stressed healthcare system around the globe. HFNC (high flow nasal cannula) is being used now in most ICU settings to prevent ventilator requirements in patients with type 1 respiratory failure. It allows high flows and fractions of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) at a more physiological level of temperature and humidity. The mechanism of HFNC includes small pliable nasal prongs which increase the comfort of the patient, humidification facilitates expectoration of secretions, washout of nasopharyngeal dead space that improves the efficiency of ventilation, high flow rates that help in reliable delivery of FiO₂, and a small continuous positive airway pressure effect. The prediction of the success of HFNC is recently been done by using the ROX index.

ROX index is defined as the ratio of pulse oximetry/fraction of inspired oxygen (SpO_2/FiO_2) to respiratory rate (RR). This index has been used in emergency [1] to predict intubation as well in patients with pneumonia who are having acute respiratory failure [2]. The studies on the ROX index have measured different time intervals post-initiation of HFNC and suggested either 6 hours or 12 hours value as the most sensitive predictor for the probability of intubation [2, 3]. Recently a new index modified ROX has been devised in a study. Modified ROX is defined as (respiratory rate oxygenation-heart rate) the ratio of ROX index over HR (beats/min) and multiplying by a factor of 100 [4]. This study showed that that modified ROX helped in the early identification of HFNC failure, as early as 1-2 hours.

WHY? — a scoring system such as ROX is required in an emergency or critical care setting to make it easier for the physician to decide on the institution of mechanical ventilation. It has been seen in multiple studies [5, 6] that late failure of NIV has lead to adverse outcomes and increased mortality, the reason being increased disease progression with increased respiratory rate. During NIV trial in severe respiratory disease, if high driving pressures are used for ventilation; lung injury occurs due to over-distension of the healthy lung. This phenomenon is known as self-inflicted lung injury. Patient-ventilator dyssynchrony also plays a major role in lung injury. There are not many studies comparing late HFNC failure (> 48 hours) with mortality. The study done by B. J. Kang et al. [7] showed late HFNC failure was associated with higher mortality when compared to early HFNC failure. The reason for the same being that delayed intubation can lead to further disease progression causing respiratory muscle fatigue and cardiac dysfunction which cumulatively lead to increased mortality in ICU. Hence from these findings, we can analyze the importance of an objective prediction score which will help in the early identification of HFNC failure so that mortality can be reduced.

Role of ROX in COVID-19

ROX index was being used earlier in acute respiratory failure in pneumonia. Since the arrival of COVID-19, it has gained newfound interest. L.A. Suliman et al. [8] in their study validated the diagnostic accuracy of ROX in COVID-19 pneumonia. ROX index has been used in the emergency department which is generally the first point of contact in tertiary care hospi-

Address for correspondence: Abhishek Singh, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, (AIIMS), New Delhi, India, e-mail: bikunrs77@gmail.com

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0105 | Received: 2021.08.18 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

Study	Type of study	Number of patients (n)	Interventions & remarks
Goh, K.J et al. (2020)	Prospective observational	145	Introduced a new index ROX-HR. Helped in early prediction of HFNC failure, as early as 1–2 hours
Panadero C et al. (2020)	Retrospective observational	196	After initiating HFNC, a ROX index below 4.94 predicts the need for intubation in COVID-19 patients
Lee CU et al. (2020)	Retrospective observational	2862	ROX index < 10 is an independent prognostic factor for 28-day mortality in patients with sepsis or septic shock.
María Laura Vega et al. (2021)	Multi-centre retrospective observational analysis of prospectively collected data.	120	The ROX index at 12 hours of < 5.99 was associated with HFNC failure. This value was higher than the non-covid patients, possibly due to different pathophysiology of the disease per se.
Gianstefani A et al. (2021)	Prospective observational	554	They measured the ROX index in emergency setting. A ROX index value < 25.7 was associated with hospitalization whereas ROX index < 22.3 was associated with higher 30-day mortality

Table 1. ROX index and HFNC based trials	S
--	---

tals. It has been observed that a lower ROX score was associated with increased hospitalization and increased mortality. A ROX index value < 25.7 was associated with hospitalization whereas a ROX index < 22.3 was associated with higher 30-day mortality [1]. Hence ROX index makes the decision-making easier and also helps the clinician to prognosticate early regarding the probable course of illness.

The next question which remains unanswered is what is the earliest and most sensitive time point to predict the effectiveness of the HFNC therapy. Minh hu et al. [3] in a retrospective cohort study compared the ROX index in patients admitted with acute respiratory distress due to COVID-19. They studied the ROX index at 3-time points namely 6 hours, 12 hours, and 24 hours post-initiation of HFNC therapy. They inferred that the ROX index assessed at 6 hours post-HF-NC initiation had higher predictability for HFNC failure as compared to other time points. The cut-off for determining success or failure was 5.55 in their study. In another study done by O. Rocca et al. on non-covid patients, the cut-off point was determined to be 4.88 whereas the best predictability regarding the success of HFNC was achieved at 12 hours post initiation which was different from the cut-off of the previous study. Carolina Panadero et al. [9] had retrospectively studied ARDS in COVID-19 patients requiring HFNC. They found that a ROX index < 4.94 measured between 2 to 6 hours after initiation of HFNC was associated with an increased rate of intubation and hence HFNC failure. This cut-off value was slightly higher than that recorded by Rocca et al. Maria Laura Vega et al. [10] as a further continuation of the study conducted by Carolina Panadero did a multi-center trial in COVID-19 patients not admitted to ICU. The patients generally had a moderate degree of respiratory failure. They set their cut-off of ROX index higher than O.Rocca et al at 5.99 which was much higher than the cut-off for non-covid patients (4.88). The different cut-offs for COVID-19 pneumonia as compared to other causes of acute respiratory failure are explained by the different pathophysiology of COVID-19 particularly the varied phenotypes. The most commonly associated phenotypes are the classical ARDS, lung injury plus high dead-space related to emboli/diffuse microthrombi, or normal lung with embolism [11]. Maria Laura Vega also found the ROX index measured at 12 hours co-related well with determining the success or failure of HFNC. They argued that 12 hours intervals didn't delay the institution of mechanical ventilation as this is the usual duration in patients having moderate ARDS, as was the case in their study. Table 1 represents various studies using the ROX index and their outcome.

Hence we can see from the above discussion that the cut-off is relatively higher for COVID-19 pneumonia for the ROX index. It is also clearly evident that an early time point for the assessment of ROX is needed in ICU patients compared to patients not admitted to ICU.

Other application of ROX index

Other than the application of ROX in hypoxaemic respiratory failure, recently it has found its role in sepsis. A study done by Che Uk Lee et al. [12] found that the ROX index is the simple index for the prediction of mortality. They found that a ROX index of \leq 10 in an emergency can be an independent predictor of mortality in patients with signs of sepsis. They also found that the prognostic performance of ROX was better than qSOFA in sepsis.

Future research

A well-designed RCT is needed to predict the optimal point of measuring the ROX index to improve outcome in COVID-19 patients. The actual cut-off for determining failure of HFNC by ROX index has not been determined. A well-planned RCT catering to this objective is also desirable.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

- Gianstefani A, Farina G, Salvatore V, et al. Role of ROX index in the first assessment of COVID-19 patients in the emergency department. Intern Emerg Med. 2021; 16(7): 1959–1965, doi: 10.1007/s11739-021-02675-2, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33646507</u>.
- Roca O, Messika J, Caralt B, et al. Predicting success of highflow nasal cannula in pneumonia patients with hypoxemic respiratory failure: The utility of the ROX index. J Crit Care. 2016; 35: 200–205, doi: <u>10.1016/j.jcrc.2016.05.022</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>27481760</u>.
- 3. Hu M, Zhou Q, Zheng R, et al. Application of high-flow nasal cannula in hypoxemic patients with COVID-19: a retrospective

cohort study. BMC Pulm Med. 2020; 20(1): 324, doi: <u>10.1186/</u><u>s12890-020-01354-w</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33357219</u>.

- Goh KJ, Chai HZ, Ong TH, et al. Early prediction of high flow nasal cannula therapy outcomes using a modified ROX index incorporating heart rate. J Intensive Care. 2020; 8: 41, doi: <u>10.1186/s40560-020-00458-z</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32587703</u>.
- Moretti M, Cilione C, Tampieri A, et al. Incidence and causes of non-invasive mechanical ventilation failure after initial success. Thorax. 2000; 55(10): 819–825, doi: <u>10.1136/thorax.55.10.819</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>10992532</u>.
- Ozyilmaz E, Ugurlu AO, Nava S. Timing of noninvasive ventilation failure: causes, risk factors, and potential remedies. BMC Pulm Med. 2014; 14: 19, doi: <u>10.1186/1471-2466-14-19</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24520952</u>.
- Kang BJu, Koh Y, Lim CM, et al. Failure of high-flow nasal cannula therapy may delay intubation and increase mortality. Intensive Care Med. 2015; 41(4): 623–632, doi: <u>10.1007/</u> <u>s00134-015-3693-5</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>25691263</u>.
- Suliman LA, Abdelgawad TT, Farrag NS, et al. Validity of ROX index in prediction of risk of intubation in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Adv Respir Med. 2021; 89(1): 1–7, doi: 10.5603/ARM.a2020.0176, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33471350</u>.
- Panadero C, Abad-Fernández A, Rio-Ramirez M^aT, et al. Highflow nasal cannula for Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) due to COVID-19. Multidiscip Respir Med. 2020; 15(1): 693, doi: <u>10.4081/mrm.2020.693</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32983456</u>.
- Vega ML, Dongilli R, Olaizola G, et al. COVID-19 Pneumonia and ROX index: Time to set a new threshold for patients admitted outside the ICU. Pulmonology. 2021 [Epub ahead of print], doi: <u>10.1016/j.pulmoe.2021.04.003</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>34049831</u>.
- Grasselli G, Tonetti T, Protti A, et al. collaborators. Pathophysiology of COVID-19-associated acute respiratory distress syndrome: a multicentre prospective observational study. Lancet Respir Med. 2020; 8(12): 1201–1208, doi: <u>10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30370-2</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>32861276</u>.
- Lee CUk, Jo YH, Lee JH, et al. The index of oxygenation to respiratory rate as a prognostic factor for mortality in Sepsis. Am J Emerg Med. 2021; 45: 426–432, doi: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>ajem.2020.09.052</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33039213</u>.

Vikas Marwah[®], Robin Choudhary[®], Tentu Ajai Kumar[®], Deepu Peter[®] Army Institute of Cardiothoracic Science, Armed Forces Medical College, Pune, India

Early experience of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) inhibitor in COVID-19 ARDS

To the Editor

The current severe acute respiratory syndrome-corona-virus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) has spread like wildfire and engulfed the entire world in its wake. It has caused immense morbidity and mortality in our country. It causes severe inflammatory response which causes profound pulmonary vasculature endothelial damage and edema leading to generalised hypoxia [1]. This generalised hypoxia causes release of various cytokines including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) through activation of the Prolyl hydroxylases (PHD)-hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 pathway, which upregulates VEGF expression through transcription activation. VEGF further aggravates the pulmonary edema by increasing the vascular permeability which increases the plasma extravasation [2, 3]. VEGF also has a role in increasing pulmonary inflammation. Though there have been commendable efforts worldwide but there are still no defined treatment modalities for treatment of COVID-19 patients. VEGF inhibitor is being used to treat severe Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) patients with ARDS with an aim to improve oxygenation, reduce inflammation and improve clinical outcome [1, 4]. Herein we report our experience of using VEGF inhibitor - Bevacizumab in three patients at a tertiary care hospital.

All the three patients had confirmed COVID-19 on throat swab reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction. One of the patients had hypertension and diabetes mellitus as co-morbidities while the other two did not have

any other risk factors. Two of the patients were received on Non rebreathing mask (12-15 L/min) and one was maintaining saturation with oxygen supplementation with face mask (6-8 L/min). All the three patients later progressed to severe COVID-19 infection with ARDS requiring non-invasive/invasive ventilation. One of the patients had reported after two weeks of onset of symptom while the rest two presented during the second week. All these patients had raised markers of hyperinflammation such as raised neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio, serum D-dimer, ferritin, LDH and CRP levels (Table 1). These patients received standard institutional care as per the existing guidelines in the form of antipyretics, steroids, therapeutic dose of anticoagulation (enoxaparin 1 mg/kg subcutaneous twice daily), and awake proning protocol. These patients were diagnosed to have cytokine storm syndrome based on their clinical deterioration and laboratory parameters. One of the patients was also administered Inj Tocilizumab (8 mg/kg) infusion over 1 hour. However, there was no improvement in clinical or oxygenation status. These patients were then administered Inj Bevacizumab (7.5 mg/kg) infusion over 1 hour. Despite that these patients showed worsening of their clinical condition reguiring invasive ventilation and later succumbed to their illness. The pre and post arterial blood gas after 24 and 48 hours did not show much improvement and these patients continued to have high oxygen requirement (Table 2). One of the patients also developed spontaneous haemoptysis as a complication to the anti VEGF therapy. The chest radiograph after 7 days showed sub optimal clearing of opacities (Figure 1A–D).

Address for correspondence: Robin Choudhary, Army Institute of Cardiothoracic Science, Armed Forces Medical College, Pune, India, e-mail: robinch19@gmail.com DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0104 | Received: 2021.08.20 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451–4934 | e-ISSN 2543–6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

	5 1						
	Age	Sex	Comorbidities	Day of onset on presentation	Day of receiving Bevacizumab	Arterial blood gas before administering (p0₂/Fi0₂)	ABG after 48 hours (p02/Fi02)
Patient 1	73	Μ	Type II diabetes, hypertension	17	19	150	148
Patient 2	49	Μ	Nil	12	14	43	52
Patient 3	47	М	Nil	13	14	120	100

Table 1. Demographic profile of patients

fable 2. Lab	parameters	of the	patients	
--------------	------------	--------	----------	--

	Pat	ient 1	Patie	nt 2	Patie	ent 3
	09/04	19/04	19/04	27/04	22/04	28/7
Hb [g/dL]	12.7	15.9	11.8	12.4	10.2	15.4
TLC [cmm]	10200	26700	4500	14600	14000	25100
N/L	87/10	93/03	93/02	92/05	84/06	85/13/01/01
PLT [cmm]	166000	121000	195000	183000	127000	129000
PT/INR/PTTK	14/1.0/59.1	14.8/1.06/35.5	15.9/1.08/39.7	15.1/2.29	15.6/1.05/30	17.2/1.34/29
UREA [mg/dl]	34	11	34	59	73	89
CREAT [mg/dL]	0.8	0.2	1.1	0.7	1.3	1.5
OT/PT [IU/L]	88/	58/53	39/67	40/97	28/30	28/42
LDH [IU/L]	548	897	424	499	645	686
PROCAL	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.03
D.DIMER [mg/dL]	4.3	5	2.61	8	3.34	7
S. Ferretin [pg/mL]	710	650	900	804	597	984
CRP	106	98	138	100	48	24

The current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic has caused unprecedented mortality and morbidity worldwide and lack of confirmed effective therapy poses a therapeutic dilemma for the treating physician. It primarily affects the lung and has serious manifestation of ARDS which manifests as severe hypoxia in these patients. VEGF inhibitor (Bevacizumab) is a recombinant, humanized monoclonal antibody which binds to, and neutralizes, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and prevents its association with endothelial receptors. VEGF binding initiates angiogenesis (endothelial proliferation and the formation of new blood vessels) and its inhibition of microvascular growth is believed to retard the growth of tissues due to which it has been used in various malignancies. has been shown to improve oxygenation, clinical and laboratory features especially C-reactive protein in Severe COVID-19 patients [1, 4]. However, this was not seen in our patients and the one of the reasons could have been delay in administration of this therapy and it was given as last resort for salvaging these patients. Based on our initial experience, we did not find any added benefit of anti VEGF therapy in severe COVID-19 patients and a larger study is needed to confirm its efficacy.

Conflict of interest

None declared.



Figure 1. Chest radiograph showing bilateral air space opacities with increased opacities in radiograph B as compared to A, and D as compared to C

- Pang J, Xu F, Aondio G, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of bevacizumab in patients with severe Covid -19. Nat Commun. 2021; 12, doi: <u>10.1038/s41467-021-21085-8</u>.
- Kaner RJ, Ladetto JV, Singh R, et al. Lung overexpression of the vascular endothelial growth factor gene induces pulmonary edema. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2000; 22(6): 657–664, doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.22.6.3779, indexed in Pubmed: 10837361.
- Liu Y, Cox SR, Morita T, et al. Hypoxia regulates vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression in endothelial cells. Identification of a 5' enhancer. Circ Res. 1995; 77(3): 638–643, doi: <u>10.1161/01.res.77.3.638</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>7641334</u>.
- Islam MdA, Mazumder MA, Akhter N, et al. Extraordinary survival benefits of severe and critical patients with COVID-19 by immune modulators: the outcome of a clinical trial in Bangladesh. Euroasian J Hepatogastroenterol. 2020; 10(2): 68–75, doi: 10.5005/jp-journals-10018-1327, indexed in Pubmed: 33511068.

Vikas Marwah[®], Robin Choudhary[®], Tentu Ajai Kumar[®], Deepu Peter[®], Akhil K Ravi[®] Army Institute of Cardiothoracic Science, Armed Forces Medical College, Pune, India

Interventional closure of an unusual broncho-pleural fistula with superglue

To the Editor

Rheumatoid arthritis is a multisystemic disorder which has multiple extraarticular manifestations. One of the most common pulmonary manifestations is in the form of pulmonary nodules [1]. These patients are at higher risk of recurrent pneumothorax which can get complicated in form of broncho/alveolo- pleural fistula [2]. This can cause significant increase in morbidity. Here we report a case of recurrent pneumothorax who was diagnosed to have rheumatoid arthritis with multiple pulmonary nodules and the broncho--pleural fistula. She was successfully managed with bronchoscopic intrabronchial cyanoacrylate glue instillation.

A 42-year-old female presented to another hospital with history of progressive dyspnoea and right sided pleuritic chest pain of 4 days duration. On evaluation her chest radiograph revealed right sided pneumothorax. She was managed with intercostal drain (ICD) insertion and conservative management. ICD was removed after 7 days as her pneumothorax resolved and there was no evidence of air-leak and she was discharged. Unfortunately, patient reported again after 10 days with similar complaints and further evaluation revealed a recurrent pneumothorax (Figure 1A). ICD reinsertion was done and a persistent air-leak (Cerfolio grade-2) was also identified. During her hospital stay, she complained of pain and progressive swelling of joints of her hands and legs, especially the small joints. On evaluation, she was found to have raised rheumatoid factor levels and anti- cyclic citrullinated protein (anti-CCP) antibody and was diagnosed to have rheumatoid arthritis and was commenced on disease modifying anti rheumatic drugs. Her contrast enhanced computed tomography of chest showed numerous calcified nodules in bilateral lungs with patchy bronchiectasis and coarse reticulations (Figure 1C). There were features of mosaic attenuation with patchy areas of air-trapping seen in bilateral lungs. She underwent bronchoscopy with 6.0 mm diameter flexible video- bronchoscope (2.8 mm channel, Olympus BF-1T150, Olympus Corporation, Japan) which showed unhealthy mucosa in right lower lobe (RLL) bronchus which bled on touch. Broncho-pleural fistula (BPF) was localised by sequential occlusion with balloon occlusion catheter (Fogarty; Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA, USA) to lateral basal segment of RLL. We decided to close the BPF with cyano acrylate glue. N-butyl cyano acrylate glue was filled in 2 mL syringe under strict dry condition. We used transbronchial needle aspiration needle (21G, 15mm in length, Olympus Corporation, Japan) for delivery of the glue which is otherwise used for diagnostic aspiration from mediastinal lymph nodes. It was inserted through the working channel of the bronchoscope and the glue was instilled under direct observation to the site of leak. We kept the bronchoscope about two centimetres away from the catheter tip to prevent damage to the bronchoscope and we also used additional precaution in form of Fogarty balloon which was inflated between the tip of catheter and the distal tip of scope to prevent any spill of the glue on the scope (Figure 1D). The procedure was successful and her right lung showed radiologic expansion with resolution of the leak and chest tube was

Address for correspondence: Robin Choudhary, Army Institute of Cardiothoracic Science, Armed Forces Medical College, Pune, India, e-mail: robinch19@gmail.com DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0106 | Received: 2021.06.08 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451–4934 | e-ISSN 2543–6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.



Figure 1A. Chest Skiagram showing right sided pneumothorax; B. Chest skiagram showing resolved pneumothorax post intrabronchial instillation of cyano-acrylate glue; C. Computed tomography of chest showing bilateral rheumatoid nodules; D. Fibreoptic bronchoscopic picture showing intrabronchial glue installation

removed 3 days after the procedure (Figure 1B). She is presently asymptomatic.

Rheumatoid arthritis is a systemic disease which causes progressive and symmetrical inflammatory destruction of joints due to antibodies [1]. It also has extra-articular manifestations in form subcutaneous nodules, vasculitis, eye involvement and pulmonary disease [2]. The pulmonary involvement of RA constitutes of pleural effusion, pneumothorax, pulmonary nodules, pulmonary artery hypertension, bronchiolitis, organising pneumonia and Caplans syndrome [2, 3] The pulmonary necrobiotic nodules can cause haemoptysis, pneumothorax and bronchopleural fistula. These patients are prone for recurrent pneumothorax and bronchopleural fistula which can cause significant morbidity and prolong hospital stay with increased chances of infection [4, 5] The management of bronchopleural fistula is a challenging task and includes surgical and endobronchial interventions. The surgical options include chronic open drainage, direct stump closure with intercostal muscle reinforcement, omental flap, trans-sternal bronchial closure, and thoracoplasty with or without extrathoracic chest wall muscle transposition [6-8]. Video assisted bronchoscopy can be both diagnostic and therapeutic in these patients as it can be used to localize the leak and allows introduction of sealants. The advantages of bronchoscopic procedure are cost effectiveness, quick action, lesser hospital stay and can also be done on out-patient basis [6–8]. The important factor which determines
success of this method is the location and size of air-leak. The success rate is higher in peripheral and alveolo-pleural fistulas less than 4 mm [7]. The leak should be directly visualised and there should be reduction or stoppage of leak on occlusion with endobronchial catheter tip [6, 8]. Video bronchoscopic guided endobronchial glue installation is effective non- operative method of closure of alveolo-pleural fistula.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

References:

- Shaw M, Collins BF, Ho LA, et al. Rheumatoid arthritis-associated lung disease. Eur Respir Rev. 2015; 24(135): 1–16, doi: 10.1183/09059180.00008014, indexed in Pubmed: 25726549.
- Crisp AJ, Armstrong RD, Grahame R, et al. Rheumatoid lung disease, pneumothorax, and eosinophilia. Ann Rheum Dis. 1982; 41(2): 137–140, doi: <u>10.1136/ard.41.2.137</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>7073341</u>.

- Corcoran JP, Ahmad M, Mukherjee R, et al. Pleuro-pulmonary complications of rheumatoid arthritis. Respir Care. 2014; 59(4): e55–e59, doi: <u>10.4187/respcare.02597</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>23962501</u>.
- Alfara JJF, Sebastián GG, González CL. Recurrent pneumothorax due to rheumatoid arthritis. Archivos de Bronconeumología (English Edition). 2004; 40(10): 476, doi: <u>10.1016/</u> <u>s1579-2129(06)60359-5</u>.
- Saravana S, Gillott T, Abourawi F, et al. Spontaneous pneumothorax: an unusual presentation of rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2003; 42(11): 1415–1416, doi: <u>10.1093/</u> <u>rheumatology/keg344</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>14578435</u>.
- Katoch CDS, Chandran VM, Bhattacharyya D, et al. Closure of bronchopleural fistula by interventional bronchoscopy using sealants and endobronchial devices. Med J Armed Forces India. 2013; 69(4): 326–329, doi: <u>10.1016/j.mjafi.2013.04.009</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>24600137</u>.
- Chawla RK, Madan A, Bhardwaj PK, et al. Bronchoscopic management of bronchopleural fistula with intrabronchial instillation of glue (N-butyl cyanoacrylate). Lung India. 2012; 29(1): 11–14, doi: <u>10.4103/0970-2113.92350</u>, indexed in Pubmed: <u>22345907</u>.
- Marwah V, Katoch CDS, Kumar K, et al. Bronchoscopic device closure of postoperative bronchopleural fistulae: Novel devices and innovative techniques. Lung India. 2020; 37(2): 107–113, doi: 10.4103/lungindia.lungindia_179_19, indexed in Pubmed: 32108593.

Early corticosteroid initiation delays viral RNA clearance in respiratory secretions of COVID-19 patients

Ioannis Pantazopoulos¹, Georgios Mavrovounis¹, Athanasios Kyritsis², Garifallia Perlepe², Angeliki Miziou², Konstantinos Gourgoulianis²

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Thessaly, Faculty of Medicine, Biopolis, Greece

²Department of Respiratory Medicine, University of Thessaly, Medical School, University General Hospital of Larisa, Biopolis, Greece

To the Editor

Previous studies have demonstrated that a cumulative dose of methylprednisolone more than 200 mg could suppress the immune cells resulting in prolonged severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 shedding in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pneumonia [1, 2]. In our study, we further confirm an association between early corticosteroid use and delayed viral shedding in COVID-19 patients.

In Greece, in contrast to current guidelines, many doctors in fear of the "cytokine storm" and in the absence of other drugs for the treatment of COVID-19, prescribed corticosteroids for "out-of-hospital" use (early initiation) in febrile patients with normal saturation of oxygen (SpO₂) and no evidence of pneumonia [3].

We reviewed the records of patients with early corticosteroid initiation that were later admitted to a tertiary, University hospital, the largest public reference unit in Thessaly, Greece with COVID-19 pneumonia and those of patients with late corticosteroid initiation (in-hospital initiation of corticosteroids if hypoxemia was present, according to current guidelines) [3]. Early versus late corticosteroid treated patients were propensity score matched to adjust for baseline differences.

We measured the time from COVID-19 onset to two consecutive reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) negative tests with Kaplan-Meier graphs and compared the duration of viral shedding between early and late corticosteroids treatment group with log-rank tests. The virus clearance time was calculated from the onset of symptoms to the date of the first negative RT-PCR test. Furthermore, we compared ICU admission rates and hospital length of stay in both groups. A total of 64 COVID-19 patients were included in the study and the mean age was 57.83 ± 12.66 years. Among them, 32 patients were given early home corticosteroid treatment and 32 were given corticosteroids during hospitalization due to hypoxemia (SpO₂ < 94%). All patients received dexamethasone in a dose of 6 mg per day for a 10-day period (total 60 mg). Patients' characteristics are shown in Table 1. All patients had a PaO_2/FiO_2 ratio > 200 at admission. A difference of 5.5 days in viral shedding was observed between the early and late corticosteroid initiation group as shown in Figure 1. No difference was observed in ICU admissions and hospital length of stay.

Our data demonstrates that apart from a high cumulative dose, early corticosteroid use delays viral clearance in COVID-19 patients. Further larger studies are needed to identify if this delay is associated with worse outcomes.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

DOI: 10.5603/ARM.a2021.0112 | Received: 24.07.2021 | Copyright © 2021 PTChP | ISSN 2451-4934 | e-ISSN 2543-6031

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

Address for correspondence: Ioannis Pantazopoulos, Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Thessaly, Faculty of Medicine, Biopolis, 41500 Larissa, Greece, e-mail: pantazopoulosioannis@yahoo.com

	Early dexamethasone group (n= 32)	Late dexamethasone group ($n = 32$)	P-value
Mean age ± SD	55.7 ± 11.7	60 ± 13.4	0.17
Symptoms on admission			
Dyspnea (%)	37.50	37.50	> 0.99
Cough (%)	75	65.63	0.59
Anosmia/ageusia (%)	18.75	18.75	> 0.99
Myalgias/weakness (%)	81.25	46.88	0.009
Admission vital signs			
Mean temperature \pm SD	37.6 ± 0.56	37.5 ± 0.76	0.63
Mean P/ \dot{F} ratio \pm SD	291.6 ± 69	277.5 ± 33.4	0.30
Median respiratory rate (IQR)	22 (20–25)	20 (19.25–22)	0.06
Median systolic blood pressure (IQR)	129.5 (120–136)	119 (110.3–125)	< 0.001
Median heart rate (IQR)	82 (77.25–91)	86 (76–93.5)	0.54
Treatment in hospital			
Dexamethasone (%)	100	100	> 0.99
Median duration of viral shedding	27.50	22	Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test:
[days]			chi square = 13.44 , p-value < 0.001
Outcomes			
ICU admission (%)	0	9.38	0.24
In-hospital mortality (%)	0	6.25	0.49

Table 1. The basic characteristics of the patients in both groups

ICU — intensive care unit; IQR — interquartile range; SD — standard deviation



Figure 1. Kaplan-Meier presenting the comparison of days to test negative

References:

- Cao HR, Zhu XY, Zhou L, et al. Factors associated with delayed viral shedding in COVID-19 infected patients: A retrospective small-scale study. Respir Med. 2021; 178: 106328, doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2021.106328, indexed in Pubmed: 33588209.
- Tang X, Feng YM, Ni JX, et al. Early use of corticosteroid may prolong SARS-CoV-2 shedding in non-intensive care unit patients with COVID-19 pneumonia: a multicenter, single-blind, randomized control trial. Respiration. 2021; 100(2): 116–126, doi: 10.1159/000512063, indexed in Pubmed: <u>33486496</u>.
- National Institute of Health, COVID-19 Treatment guidelines. https://www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov/overview/ clinical-spectrum/ (July 4, 2021).









dla studentów

Ogromna oferta wydawnicza obejmująca pozycje skierowane do lekarzy i pacjentów, książki autorów polskich i zagranicznych z dziedziny medycyny jest dostępna w jednym miejscu — księgarni internetowej IKAMED!



rabaty dla stałych klientów sprzęt medyczny

książki sprowadzane na zamówienie

Zapraszamy do zapoznania się z ofertą IKAMED już teraz!

www.ikamed.pl